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DEDICATION

This Baitle Report is dedicated to those 31 men of Bravo Company and its attachments
who made the ultimate sacrifice that fateful day of 12 July 1967, and to those seven men
who were taken as Prisoners of War (POWS) by the North V'etnamese Army. Two of the
seven would die in captivity. The other five would endure five years and eight months of
pain, fear, hunger, degradation and despair during the time they were held as POWs by
the North Vietnamese Government.

In one form or another, 36 of the 38 men were eventually recovered. lt wasn't until after
the war that it was learned that two of the seven POWS had died in captivity (James F.
Schiele and James L. Van Bendegom). Their remains have never been recovered, and
they are now listed as two of our battalion's three Missing in Action (MlA).

Thefive POWswho came home are lvlartin S. Frank, Nathan B. Henry, Cordine McMurray,
StanleyA. Newell, and Richard R. Perricone. These men were invited to be the battalion's
Guests of Honor at the Red WarriorVietnam Reunion in St. Louis, Missouri in September
2008.
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EDITOR'S NOTE

To the members of the battalion, please think of this document as a "draft" version of the
report of the battle fought on '121h of July, 1967, involving primarily Bravo and Charlie
Companies. The material contained in it represents ihe "tip ofthe iceberg." As you read
through it, l 'm sure you will see some things in a slighily difierent perspective ihan what I
have presented from the sources I have been able to locate. l\,4any events and details
have yet to surface, thus they await discovery and recording.

The purpose of this document is to create a chronological sequence of evenis from the 8h
through the 14rh of July 1967, covering the period during which the battle took place. The
need to have this type of document is the result of detefmining that many of the former
mernbers of the units involved have memories of this parlicular battle, bui have no idea
when, where, or with whom they occurred. lt is hoped that with time and additional input,
a clear, concise, moment-by-moment picture will be reconstructed, which will help readers
fil lthese gaps and put iheir memories in order.

This document represents a compilation of information from many sources. lt is a'besf
effod" to reconstruct the seq uence ofevents ofthe battle. Because of gaps in the available
information, some incidents are not as thoroughly depicted or represented as others.

Contributors include: Hal Birch, battalion commander; Robert Boudreaux, lvy Leaves
reporter; Melvin Deutsch, battalion surgeon; Harry Dilkes, member of Alpha Company;
Lewis Eastedy, Charlie Company Executive Office; Roger Hill, platoon sergeant, Recon
Platoon; Roger Howse, Bravo Company platoon leader; Paul Judge, brother of Charles
Judge; Charles Laing, member of Charlie Company; Edward lvloody, member of Bravo
Companyi Robert Parks, member of Bravo Company; Gary Rasser, Bravo Company
platoon leader;Tom Seales, Charlie Company platoon leader; Glenn StanJey, member of
Bravo Company, Alan Thiel, member of Bravo Company; Kevin Watson, member of Bravo
Company; Edward Williams, 4'h Med Surgeon; and Corey Wright, battalion commander.
A special thanks needs to go to Jim Daniels (Red Warrior '68) for his excellent color maps.

I'm specifically looking for the names of the wounded and their stories. Your help in
correcting, editing, and adding to this document would be greatly appreciated. Any and a I
contributions are welcome. Thank you.



"Heroes Carved in Stone"
bv Sabrina Stidham

I stood staring in awe as my gaze settled upon a black granite wall of memories. As lstood
there nota muscle in my body twitched, except for the rhythmic beating ofmy weary heari.

Before me, a great wall, with the names of Fathers, Sons, Mothers, Daughte.s; Soldiers;
Heroes...carved in stone. As I looked at the granite, I saw behind it a scene of tangled
jungles, mud-covered boots, people crying, as their lives came to an unwritten end. On the
ground I saw the bodies of fallen soldiers, bloody and cold from death. ln my heart I felt
their pain and fear, which lingered in their unforgotten souls.

In my mind I could see them standing around me, in what was left of their tiger-striped
taitered camouflage. Blood covered, dirty calluses had formed on their hands, and
memories of home were lost in the emptiness of their stares.

I saw beside me the American flag, still and unmoving in the bustling air. I shivered at the
eerie sight. Suddenly, lfelt that lwasn't alone, as though lwere in the presence of a
soldier; I paused, not believing in my feelings. A chill went down my spine as I felt a touch
on my shoulder. lturned to see a woman; a moiher, with tears in her eyes, reading the
name of her son. At that moment I realized that the soldiers have not been forgotten. They
live on in our hearts; then, now, and forever.

As I tumed to leave, I hesitated; looked back at the wall and said aloud, ''Thank You," and
I swear I heard a voice carried on the wind whisper..."Never Forget."
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RED WARRIOR TASK FORCE
July 1966 through November 1970

1d Battalion. 12b Infantrv Reoiment

Headquarters and Headquarters Company
Alpha Company
Bravo Company
Charlie Company
Delta Company (September 1967)
Echo Company (September 1967)

4t1 Battalion. 42'd Field Artillerv

Bravo Battery

.Z lb Fn^inaar R.t t . l i^^

'1s Platoon, Bravo Company



1"t BATTALION, 12.N INFANTRY
(Red Warriors)

Coat of Arms
Shield: Azure, in fess two crosses moline argent, in base a wigwam of the like

garnished wiih five poles ofthe last; on a chief embattled or a sea lion of the
third holding in dexter paw a sword of the field.

Crest: On a wreath ofthe colors an almored arm embowed proper, grasping in the
naked hand a broken flag staff gules, to which is attached a pennani or.

Motto: Ducti Amore Patriae (Having Been Led by Love of Country).

Symbolism: The fleld is blue tor infantry. This regiment took part in the Civil War; its
great achievement was its first engagement at Gaines' Mill, Virginia, on 27
and 28 June 1862, where its losses were almost 50 percent. This is shown
by the moline crosses which represent the iron fastenings of a millstone and
recall ihe crushing losses sustained. The wigwam stands for the Indian
campaigns in which the regiment took part. The chief is for the War with
Spain and the Philippine Insurreciion, yellow and red being the Spanish
colors, red and blue the Katipunan colorsl the embattled partition Iine is for
the capture of the blockhouse at El Caney, Cuba, and the sea lion is from
the arms of the Philippine lslands. The crest in the Spanish colors
commemorates the capture of a Spanish flag at El Caney.

Lineage
Constituted 3 May 1861 in the Regular Army as Company A, 1$ Battalion, 12th Infantry.
Organized 20 October 1861 at Fort Hamiiton, New York. Reorganized and redesignated
7 December 1866 as Company A, 12h Intantry. (12b Infantry assigned 17 December 1917
to the 86 Division; felieved 15 August 1927 from assignment to the 8s Division and
assigned to the 4h Division; relieved 1 October 1933 from assignment to the 4t Division
and assigned to the th Division; relieved 10 October 1941 from assignment to the 8'
Division and assigned to the 4s Division laier redesignated as the 4s Infantry Division].)
Inactivated 15 July 1947 at Fort Ord, California. Reorganized and redesignated 1 April
'1957 as Headquarters and Headquarters Company, 1e Battle Group, 12s Infantry and
remained assigned to the 4" Infantry Division (organic elements concurently constituted
and activated). Reorganized and redesignated 1 October 1963 as the 1$ Battalion, 12s
Infantry.



Campaign Participation Credit
Civil War Philippine lnsunection

*Peninsula *lvlalolos
*Manassas *Tarlac
*Antietam *Luzon 1899
*Fredericksburg
*Chancellorsville Worlct War ll
*Gettysburg *Normandy (with arrowhead)
*Wilderness *Northern France
*Spotsylvania *Rhineland

"Cold Harbor *Ardennes-Alsace
*Petersburg *Central Europe
Virginia 1862

Virginia 1863 Wetnam
*Counteroffensive, Phase ll

lndian Warc *Counteroffensive, Phase lll
Modocs *Tet Counteroffensive
Bannocks Counteroffensive IV

*Pine Ridge Counteroffensive V
Counteroffensive Vl

Warwith Spain Summer-Fall 1969
*Santiago Winter-Spring 1970

Sanctuary Counteroffensive
Counteroffensive Vll

Decorations
*Presidential Unit Citatjon (Army), Streamer embroidered LUXEMBOURG (12 lnfantry

cited: WD GO 54, 1945)
*Valorous Unit Award, Streamer embroidered PLEIKU PROVINCE (1d Battalion, 12b

Infantry ciied; DA GO 17, 1968)
.Valorous Unit Award, Streamer embroidered CENTML HIGHLANDS ('1"' Battalion,

12' Infantry cited; DA GO 43, 1970)
*Belgian Fourragere 1940 (2h lnfantry cited; DA GO 43, 1950)
"Cited in the Order of the Day of the Belgian Army for action in BELGIUM (121h lnfantry

ciied; DA GO 43, 1950)
"Cited in the Order of the Day of the Belgian Army for action in the ARDENNES (12th

Infantry cited; DA GO 43, 1950)
"Vjetnamese Cross of Gallantry with Palm, Streamer embroidered VIETNAM 1966-1969

(1$ Battalion, 12'h Infantry cited; DA GO 3. 1970)
'Vietnamese Civil Action Honor Medal, First Class, Streamer embroidered VIETNAM

'1966-'1969 (1" Battalion, 12' lnfantry cited; DA GO 53, 1970)
Company B and Company C each additionally entitled to: Valorous Unit Award,

Streamer embroidered KONTUM (Company B and Company C, 1n Battalion, 12th
lnfantry cited; DA GO 43, 1970)



1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT
. "RED WARRIORS'

VIETNAM MISSION STATEMENT

"To close with the enemY
by means of fire and maneuver in order to destroy or capture him,

or to repel his assault bY fire,
close combat and countefattack."



FOREWORD

Thls reconstructed report is a descrlpiion of the battle between Bravo and Charlie
Companies ofthe f i Battalion, 12'" lnfantry Regimeni, known as ihe "Red Warfiors," and
the 7t"  Battal ion of  the661h NVA Regimenionthe 12| 'of  July,  1967. n the la Drang Val ley
of the Centra Highlands, Ple ku Pfovince South Vieinam.

Operating at half strength, the fi/r 'o Red Warfior companies and the Recon Platoon were
jointly conducting their battalion's seafch-and-destroy mission 6,000 meters (3 % mies)
east of the Carnbodian bofder in what turned out to be the "front yard' of the 66th NVA
Regirnent. (Unbeknownst to ihe Red Warr ors, ihe 7 h Batta|on of the 66rh NVA Regimeni
was encamped just acfoss ihe border frorn them.)

The commander of the 7/66 NVA Batta ion couldn't resist such a tempiing target as two
under-strength Amerlcan companies opetating aone and the battle was ioined under
conditlons that were ideal for him

The outcome of the battle was devastating to the Red Warriors. Not only was a company
rendered cornbat- neffective, but the shock of ihe battle field repofts numbed the entire
battalion when they leafned that, after tal.rng seven men prisoner, the enemy bound and
then executed all ofthe remaining wounded they could fnd on the battlefield (during the
confusion of the fighting some soldiers managed to escape and evade the enemy).

The batta ior'r had never experienced anything I ke thjs before. At ihe end of the battalion's
flrst year ln Vietnam the ugliest aspects ofwar had been painfully infl icted upon the Red
Warrlors of Vietnam. The persona stories of the survivofs and the POWS tell of heroism
n iIS oJTesI foTr' l ' l
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PART I: INTRODUCTION

Priorto relaiing the story ofthe engagement between elements ofthe 66r" NVA Regiment
and the 1"t Battalion, 12" Infaniry (Red Warriors) on 12 July 1967, in the la Drang Valley
along the Cambodian border, it is appropriate to provide a synopsis of the conditions of
weather, terrain, and intelligence available to the battalion, and ceftain background data
concerning the overall scheme of operation and maneuver of the Red Warriors that led up
to the events of that fateful day.

TACTICAL TERRAIN

The corners of the battalion's general area of operations (AO) (30 square kilometers) were
defined by coordinates YA 8217, 8211,8717 , and 8711. The fuggedness of the northern
portion of this area was evidenced by its dense undergrowth, bamboo, ihick trees with high
canopy, and h il ls a nd steep ridges wh ich made for d ifficu li la nd navig at'on. There were n o
landing zones available other than occasional sing le ship strips in this alea. The norihern-
most half of this area was slightly more open, in that ground navigation was not as difficult
due to lesser undergroMh and rolling hi ls with a greatef dispersion of trees. The westefn
side of ihe AO was bordered by the La Cle and la Pron Rivers, the eastern side by the la
Kreng, and the southern side by the la Drang. The streams behveen these rivers were of
the intermitteni type throughout the area and were trafflcable by foot troops. Route 148
(which was nothing more than an overgrown trail) bisected the battalion's AO from north
to south alono its eastern flank.

WEATH E R

Typical for this region toward the end of its monsoon season, the weathef was a
comb ination of periodic scattered rain showers and early morn ing fog. Temperatures cou ld
dfop to the mid-60s during the night and rise into the midlo-high 80s during the day. This
particular weather pattern impeded ground operations due io a lack of air cover and air
opefations lhroughoui the morring hours ofthe 121" af J-y.

ENEMY SITUATION

Electronic intelligence monitoring of the 83 Front had fevealed that two NVA regiments,
ihe 661h (Hanoi) and the 881h, both elements of the 1"t PAVN Division, were operating
adjacent to the battalion's Ao out of a cambodian sanctuary known as Base Area 702.
Enemy sightings and contact from ihe 8tn through the 1 1r' of July revealed the enemy's
specific area of operation in the battalion's poriion of the la Drang Valley. Add itional verba I
information was provided to the battalion from 2^d Brigade on ihe nights of I and '10 July
that enemy forces apparently were on the flanks and possibly to the rear of Bravo and
Charlie Companies, and that their l ikely intent was to mortar and/or to fix our forces. (A
document found by Alpha Company on 13 July at grid YA 8312 confirmed the presence
of elements of the 66" NVA Regiment.)
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Operation Francis Marion
Pleiku Province

Republic of Vietnam
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Tactical information taken from l"tBattalion, 12b Infantry FRAG Order2-67, dtd g July 67.

\a

Y,riY

Page -2-



FRIENDLY SITUATION

The 4rh Infantry Division was based at and working out of Camp Enari. lts 2"" Brigade had
established a foMard headquarters and supply base ai a location known as "The Oasis,'
and initiated Operation Francis Marion on the 61'of April. The 1'1 ofthe 12ih lnfantry, an
element of the 2"0 Brigade, which was operating at about half-strength, was tasked to
particlpate in the conduct of a screening mission along the Cambodian border in an arc
beiween the Special Forces Camps at Plei l\,4e and Duc Co. To this end, the battalion was
to establish a series of succeeding fire support bases (FSBS) from which it would send its
companies on 7lo-10 day search-and-destroy missions. OntheTlhofJune,thebattal ion's
third FSB since the inceDtion of Ooeration Francis lvlarion was established at YA 889136
on a low ridge overlooking the small Montagnard village of Plei Koue. The battalion's AO
was approximately five kilometers to the west. The FSB was manned by the battalion's
command and operations personnel; one rifle company on perimeter security detail; B
Battery 4/42 Artil lery; 1"1 Platoon B Company 4rh Eng ineers; and a co nsolid ated 81 rn m and
4.2 inch mortar platoon.

CONCEPT OF OPERATIONS

ln response to a directive received frorn 2"d Brlgade, a battalion operation was developed
to search out an area west of the Brigade's reconnaissance and surveillance line for ihe
purpose of determining ihe enerny's activiiy and intent in this locale. Prior to the cond uct
of this operation, the posturing of two of the battalion's rifle companies into the northern
part of the AO developed minor sightings and small contacts. On the 8rh of July, the
battalion 53 issued FRAG Otder 2-67 (see Appendix B). The Ofder called for a three-
phase operation of two mutually-supporting companies (Bravo and Charlie) to conduct a
search-and-destroy mission along designated routes from 100700 through 140700 July in
the battalion's AO, and for the Recon Plaioon to establish a screen south on their southern
fJank. Both compan ies were to exploii any and all situations th roug h the use of aer-ial and
artil lery sirikes, and at the conclusion of the operation, reestablish a scteen in zone.

LT Lewis Easterly, the Charlie Company Executive Officer, recalls some of the events
leading up to the 12th ofJuly: "We spent the first week of July guarding the battalion FSB,
which was about q-to-14 kibmeters east of the Cambodian border. One day the Assistant
Division Commander, General Ryder, flew out to the FSB and gave us a briefing an an
upcoming operation. I recall that he used his hand as a pointer and swept it' araund in a
curve from na!'theast to the sauthwest caverinq an area abaut 10 kilometers wide on the
situation map.

"Our mission was going to be a search-and-destroy operatian in the westem-mast poftian
of the battalion's AO. The Air Force had scheduled a B-52 strike in that area, and we were
ta sweep the area after the strike and mop up anything that we ran into. Because Bravo
Campany was operating in the same area, this was going to be, more ar less, a joint
ape ralio n i nvalv i ng both comp a n ie s.
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PART l l :  MOVEMENT TO CONTACT

ErLuly (Saturday)

At 0945, about an houf after departing their previous night's location, Bravo Company's 2""
Platoon (82-60) discovered a recently-used trail at YA 854176 running in a southwesterly
direction, the same direciion Bravo Company was heading. Shortly after noon, the
battalion S3 issued FRAG Otder 2-67 to the companies. At 1340 hours, after moving
almost 1000 metefs since their last sighting four hours previously, the 3'" Platoon of Bfavo
Company (82-6'1) engaged two NVA at YA 840163, kill ing both. At 1605 the same plaioon
began a running engagement with an estimated platoon-sized group of NVA at YA 842163.
By 1830, through the use of air and artil lery strikes and demolitions, they had accounted
for five enemy KlAs, one of which was an officer, fecovered several weapons, and
destfoyed a small tunnel complex. There were no friendly casualties.

LT Easterly: " On the 8th, Bravo made contact with some NVA. From the FSB we cauldn't
see where the contact was taking place, but we could see the aircraft off to aur nofthwest
as they went in to drop their bombs. I listened ta the radio traffic very carefully because this
was the first time that I could really hear a fight.

"The squad in Bravo Company that was in contact couldn'ttalk to the foruard air controller
(FAC), but cauld talk to theircompany commander. The campany commandercauldn't talk
to the FAC either, but the radios at the tactical operations center (TOC) could. The squad
in contact would watch where a bomb dropped and tell the company commander. He in
turn would tell the TOC, and then the message wauld finally get to the FAC. The men on
the ground were trying to make corrections fhe same way we were taught ta carrect
arti ery, and the FAC kept trying to get them to understand that he didn't know which way
was left and right he kept saying 'Tell me nallh, sauth, east, or west and haw far you want
it noved.' I paid attention because I hadn't realized that in the air they don't know which
was left or right on the ground."

While Bravo Company (82) was busy in grid squafe YA 8416, the Recon Platoon was
patrolling in grid YA 8316; Charlie Company (83) was in the FSB preparing for the next
day's departure; and Alpha Company (81) was approximately four kilometers to the
southeast in g rid sq u are YA 8512 cond ucting their patrols. Beh^/een0917and 1515 hours,
Alpha Company covered over 4000 meters, discovered three different trails and some
abandoned enemy equipment. and spoited tlvo NVA. Compared to Bravo, Alpha had a
relatively easy day. Sho rtly after their last sig hting, Alph a Company established their nig ht
location in the vicinity of YA 8613 and awaited their 0600 start point (SP) the next morning.

9_]luly (Sunday)

At 0600 Alpha Company SP'd from their night location and began their return to the fire
support base at YA 889136 to assume their secufity mission. The Recon Platoon also
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continued its move to the southeastern flank ofthe maneuvef area, while Charlie Company
prepared io be relieved of its security detail in the FSB.

LT Easterfy; "We were scheduled to move out eatly in the marning. Tom Sea/es was /n
the base camp (Camp Enai) and I wound up leading 2"d Plataon that' morning. We left the
FSB rather late in the morning, as Alpha Company had some trouble getting out af their
night location. Because they were replacing us at the FSB, we had to wait for them to
arrive."

By '1000 hours Charlie Company had SP'd from the FSB and was en route to position
"Axe" for the start of their nexi search-and-destroy mission.

LT Easterfy: "Jrsf after we left the FSB, we crossed a smallriver called the la Kreng. This
was my first river crossing and I was really uplighf The terrain was raugh and the banks
were heavily covered with vegetation. lt looked like a good place for an amb6h to me;
most places did.

"Because of the raugh terrain, I was really very thankful that I had found a frameless
rucksack. lt was much easier to carry, but sti a ki er. We spent the final paft of the day
pulling ourselves up the side af a steep hill. We didn't get as far as we were scheduled to,
but neveftheless we found a very good night location. There was one minor problem; there
was a large hole in the side of the hill we were an that had an unexploded bomb at the
bottam."

The recon platoon (74) discovefed three NVA bodies at YA 833164, who had been killed
by artil lery during the previous day's action with Bravo Company.

SSG Roger Hill, recon platoon sergeant, recalls the discovery cleafly. "so many of aur
patrals were done in conjunction with the line companies conducting search-and-destroy
missions, that after a time they sort of all ran tagether. We were abaut one day behind
Bravo Company when we encountered their trail and a situatian they had walked inta the
day before.

"We were moving thraugh an area that was cavered with moderate ground cover and a
scatteing af banana trees when the point man noticed several small excavations on the
graund araund him. Motioning far allto stap and drop, the platoon went to the ground and
on the aleft. The platoon leader, LT wi ians, moved folward and examined what the poitlt
man had found. At the same time, the rest of us also began to notice the same small
excavations araund us. We all realized withaut being told that someone had been here
recently digging in the ground. Far what we weren't sure, but allthe safeties were clicked
off as we got as close as we could to the ground.

"LT Williams then mationed for the platoon to continue fatward. Getting up, we began to
move foMard slowly with great caution. Suddenly the point man dropped to the ground
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again and aimed hls rifle at something the rest of us couldn't see. Again the platoan leader
went farward to investigate. After a moment he motioned the rest of the platoan to follov'/
him. As we quietly stepped into a smallclearing, severalthings became apparent allat the
same momenL The first was that we were in a grove of banana trees that exhibited
nunerous shredded stalks and leaves from gunfire. The second was that there was a
snallcollapsed bunker in the middle ofthe clearing with two sets af legs sticking out ofthe
rubble.

"Looking around we quickly figured out that a couple NVA must have been cut off ar left
behind and had been living off the land (all the small excavations) when they were faund
by Bravo Company as they passed thraugh here the day before. lt was evident by the
amaunt af destruction that it was a one-sided firefight. We guessed that the NVA had been
surprised and ovetwhelmed by the company. I will always remember seeing the trail af
ants going up one of the legs and disappearing inside through a bullet hole in the ankle.
Making sure there was nathing else of impoftance to repoft, the Lieutenant moved the
platoon out."

By 1500 hours FRAG Order 2-67 had been implemented, and Bravo Company, by
remajning in the area of the previous day's contact conducting sweeps, was already ln
position "Speai'at YA 8416. Because the company had set up a patrol base, they were
able to request a resupply mission from battalion. In addition to rations and other items,
the company received two replacements: SFC Leman Hunterand PFC Robert Parks. SFC
Hunter became the Weapons Platoon platoon sergeant, and PFC Parks was assigned io
the Weapons Platoon's one mortar crew-

PFC Robert Parks recalls his firsi day in the field with his new unit: "On the last leg af oul
journey, SFC Hunter and I were flown out to Bravo Campany with a load of re-supplies.
Upan arrival, we were bath assigned to the Weapons Platoon, which was nothing more
than a reinforced gun section with one 81mm moftar. The other two moftars fram the
platoon were back in the fire suppaft base along with their crews. Some of the men
assigned to the patl af the Weapons Platoon in the field were SGT Robeft Chin (wha was
the squad leader), SP4 Jim McMilian, and SP4 Larry Halverson. There were others, but
l've since fargotten their names."

Charlie Company was in a position southeast of "Axe" on Hill 267 in grid squafe YA 8615.
LT Easterly vividly remembers a B-52 Atc Light mission that night west of their position
ioward the Cambodian border: "At about 0300, the ground began to shake, and liumped
out of my hooch to see what was happening Several ather members of the command
group were standing around tooking ta the west. The entire horizon was filled with
ixplosions, and as I looked on in amazement, someone turned to me and said that it was
an Arc Light. of all the things I saw in Vietnam, one of the most impressive was the first
time I saw the sky lit up from hoizon-to-horizon by exploding bombs. The ground
continued to shake for about 20 minutes. I crawled back into my hooch thinking itwas over,
but 30 minutes later it staLted all over again. The planes had turned around and were
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making a secand run to drop the rest of their bombs. At no time could we see ar hear the
planes because they v,/ere so high during the raid. The first you knew of the raid was when
the bonbs hit." Charlie Company would be tasked the next morning to investigate the
bomb damage.

Intelligence repods received by battalion from division and brigade indicated that enemy
forces were operating near Bravo and Charlie Companies.

10 Julv (l\,4onday)

Because ofthe Arc Light the night before, both companies were given a change of mission
for the day. The morning saw Bravo and Charlie Companies complete their daiTy
0reoarations to continue their sweeos to the southwest.

PFC Parks: "Shottly after stand-to, a medic came around and handed out aur malaia
pills. I received my first "big" pi that day (this was when I learned that we taak ane big
arange pill every Monday morning in addition to a little white pi every day)."

S hortly after departing their nig ht location, Bravo Compa ny (82) d iscovered a recently-used
trail and heard movement. Charlie Company (83) was ordered by battalion to change its
plans and to move in a southwestern direction from its night position toward position "l '
and investlgate the Arc Light strike they observed; at 1005 they found eighi-io-ten
Lrnoccupied bunkers at YA 854148.

LT Easterly: "Vle began moving to the west to check out the Arc Light. Tom Seales had
come in on the resupply helicopter the night befare, sa I was now the company executive
afficer again. Shoftly after depafting, we crossed Highway 148 that ran nafth-to-sauth, and
even though it was unpaved, it was for Vietnam a majar rcad. We were moving into the
nofthem area af the la Drang Valley and walked all day through rather difficult terrain. As
we moved into the la Drang Valley, we hit some swamps, and I rememberwading in knee-
deep water far most of the afternoon and thinking 'What will we do if we make cantact?'
There was no way ta get down on the ground as it was under 12-ta-18 inches of water.
Since I had already had ane encounter with a leech, I was also warried about them
whenever we crossed a slrearn or had to wade through a swamp."

At 1250 the recon platoon (74) encountered and fired on one NVA who was washing his
clothing on the bank of  the la Kreng at  YA 858118. The clothing andthreetubes ofr ice
he had been ca rrying were captu red; he escaped. At 1655 alY A821146, BravoCompany
received small arms fire from an unknown-sized enemy force and sustained one WA.

SSG Hill on "the capture ofthe boxer shotls":"The recan platoon was conducting a patrol
through relatively open area adjacent to the east'ern side of the Ia Kreng River. Because
of the openness, movement was easy and quiet. The platoon was in a column formation
with flank secuity out, and a squad on point. The left flank was using the river bank ta
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guide us, while the paint man was watching ahead. We had not seen any indication of
enemyfarces in the area allmorning; consequently most us were pretty relaxed as we had
no hills ta hump or jungle to break through.

"suclcJenly the quiet was shattered by a single rifte shot up front. Instantly the platoan was
on the ground looking for cover and waiting for all Hellto break loose. After a few moments
of nothing happening, I crcwled up toward the point man to find out what had happened.
Ariving at his position I found him loaking down over the river bank at the opposite side,
where a small sandbar had been deposited along the auter edge of a curve in the river.
Lying on the sand was a pair of baxer shofts and three rice tubes; whoever had been
carrying them was gone. Quickly checking that everyane was OK, I asked the point man
what had happened. lt seems that he had nat expected the iver bank to curve abruptly
back taward him, and that he had suddenly found himself standing on the bank looking
dawn at an NVA squatted down on the oppasite bank washing the shotls in the water.
lnstinctively he had swung his rifle downward at the NVA and pulled the trigger and held
it. When it only fired ane round, he thaught his rifle had iammed, so he dropped to the
ground. By the time he realized that his weapan was on single shot and nat on full auto
and that it had not jammed, the NVA was gane.

"The plataan leader, LT Williams, quickly deployed the platoon along the bank. As we
v,/ere on the high side, we were in a pretty good position. Underthe caver of the platoon,
the paint man went dowli over the bank, crossed fhe river (it was very shallow at this
point), recovered the shods and tubes of rice, and quickly returned to the safety of our
position.

"Looking over the trophies, we were amazed by two things: the boxer shorfs were
American, and they were a size 44! None of us could imagine what a skinny little NVA was
doing in the jungle washing a pair of size 44 boxer shotls; he cauld have fit in just ane of
the leg openings. I don't know who kept the shotTs, but the rice was dumped into the river.
As soon as LT Williams repafted aur cantact to battalian, he had the platoon change its
direction of movement and head off in a noftheasterly direction away from the river."

LT Roger Howse, a platoon leader in Bravo Company, only has one memory of this day.
'On the 1jth of July, two days before the battle, my platoon was on paint. We found a
pygmy deer that had been wounded by our aftillery. Calling the company comnander, I
got permission ta stop long enough far one af my troaps ta dress-out the animal.

"We carried the carcass to where we set up our night location in a wooded area. That
evening the company coaked and ate venison. I also rememberthe perimeterwas prabed
a couple times that night (l wonder if they smelled the venison cooking). ln retraspect I
think it was a preamble of what was to come

PFC Parks recalls the deer incident: "That evening in the company's night position we all
sharcd roasted deer meat alang with our C-rations. Sameone in the 1"' Platoon had killed
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a deer eaflier in the day that had been wounded by aftillery. I remember thinking that this
was the way to fight a v/ar - fresh roasted venisan for dinner. I also remember seeing two
C-123's flying neatuy that day that looked like they were spraying something."

LT Easterfy: "We wound up in anather swamp in the tate afternoon and became so
bogged down that the Battalion Commander, Lieutenant Colanel (LTC) Wright, had to fly
avet us in the battalian's command and control (C&C) aircraft and lead us to a nearby
abandaned FSB. In my opinion the old FSB was a very poor night location, as the area
was swampv anq very wet.

"Whenever the company arived at a night lacation, it was my job to caardinate the setting-
up af the defensive positions for that locatian. Generally it worked in the following manner:
lwould take the direction af march as 12 o'clockand the lead platoan wauld be responsible
fram 10-to-2, anather from 2-to-6 and the other from 6-to-10. While I was setting up the
perimeter, the campany commander would be conferring with the battalion commander,
the FOs would be arranging the defensive aftillery fires (Defjans), and the troops would
be digging in. Everyone, including me, carried at least six and sametimes 10 sandbags,
and every night enough bunkerc were constructed to insure that everyane in the company
cauld have averhead cover. The bunkerc each had at least a double layer of sandbags
over the layer of logs. An this night we faund that same af the bunkers were still usable
in the area where we were setting up the CP, so we decided to use them rather than
digging new ones, and since they were so large, we decided to sleep in them as well.

"About 2200 it began to rain quite heavily and the bunker I was sleeping in began to leak.
At the same time I noticed a sizeable calony of ants was roaming over my fatigues,
presumably in search of food. Since no lights were allowed, I got up and crawled outside
where I spent the remainder of the night huddled under my poncho against the side of the
bunkertrying to keep dry, since itwas impossible to build a hooch at that time of night. But
even being cold and weL atid not allowed to light a cigarctte weren't enough to keep me
from sleeping same during the night. I was able to stay somewhat dry by staying wrapped
in my poncho."

Because of the change of mission and the difficult terrain, the position to which the
battalion commander had led Charlie Company was near position "'1" in grid square YA
8414. fhe same problems that affected Charlie Company caused Bravo Company to
spend the night south of position "2" in the vicinity of grid square YA 82 14 insiead of at or
neaf position "Zulu" in grid square YA 8216, as was planned in the original FRAG order.
This would have placed the two companies about 1500 metefs apart, Bravo on the westefn
side and Charlie to the east.

11 Julv (Tuesday)

After a wet but uneventful night, battalion elements completed their normal stand-to
procedures and were given orders to continue their sweeps. At 0900 the recon platoon
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(74) discovered an east-to-west trail crossing the la Kreng River at YA 870130. A log
bridge had been in placed at the crossing point. Bravo and Charlie Companies were
directed to continue southward and eventually swing their movement in an arc to the east.
Soon after departing its previous night's location, Bravo Company came upon an
abandoned NVA platoon-sized base camp that contained one body with its equipment, and
fourskeletons, one of which was booby-trapped. The skeletal remalns were estint ated to
be four-to-five months old. Nearby was a 1y2-foot-wide trail running on a 100 degree
azimuth that exhibited recent use.

At noon Charlie Company found an abandoned battalion-sized NVA camp at YA 833137.
The camp contained many one-man fighting positions, upright bamboo sheTters, 22 two-
man bunkers, beer cans, tent posts, and femnants of food. The camp was estimated to
be five-to-six months old. A little ovef an hour later (at 1315 hours) Charlie Company
discoveredtur 'otrai lsatYA33l l3 l ,eachafootwideandaboutadayold,runningeastand
WCSI,

After reporting movement on their flanks, both companies swung east and established
separate perimeters about 1000 meters apari amid the wooded and rocky hills, Bfavo
Company at YA 845 1 19, and Chaflie Company further north and east at YA 8471 32. Work
continued throughout the laie afternoon as both companies constructed covered bunkers
and cleared helicopter landing sites by nightfall. Roger Howse only femembers that Bravo
Company's night location was situated on a more prominent hjll (H jlT 190), among the oiher
smal ler  h i l ls  around them.

PFC Parks' memories of Bravo's night location are very clear. 'When t'he campany
stopped for the day, we set up our night position on a lightly wooded hill. The area we
were in was surprisingly clear of the thick jungle vegetation I had expected. ln training we
had been told about the triple canapy, but here the trees were small and spread aut, and
the sparse ground cover was only abaut knee-high. The commandersetthe perimeterup
clock fashian using nofth as 12 o'clock. First Platoon took from 10 to two o'clack; 3rd
Platoon had from two to six o'clock: and 2nd Plataon had fram six to 1A o'clock. The
cammand group set up in the nofth-center of the perimeter behind the 1"t Plataan
headquafters, while the Weapans Plataan set up south of the comnand group between
2"d and 3d Platoons. The helicoptet tanding zone for re-suppty was established just south
of the 2"" Plataon area. lcutdown severaltrees for our averhead coverin this area.

"That night I had my first baut af chilb and fever with malaria. At the time I thought I was
having a reaction to the halazone tablets I had used to purify my water. lt was the first time
I had used t'hem and I wasn't sure if they were making me sick or not. This was also the
first time I encountered fermites. I awoke during the night to hear a strange sound coming
fram under my air mattress. Turning it over and shining my flashlight on t'he ground, I
discovered the saurce of the noise -- termites. After squifting nearly two bottles of insect
repellent on them, I lay back down figuring that had done the trick. The next time I woke
up, my airmattress was flat; the termites had eaten the rubberized coating off the bottom."



Whether or not you believe in fate, luck, or destiny, PFC John Beckman of Bravo
Company does: 'ljoined Bravo Company around the beginning of June 1967. On the 1 1th
af July, during the conduct of a company patrol, I fell backwards and caught ny foot
between tu/o logs, severely twisting and spraining my ankle. Since it was so late in the
day. my commander left me behind with h,!/o other men from my squad to help get me ta
our night lacation some distance ahead. lt was slow moving and we kept thinking we
heard movement behind us. After a period of time, we finally arrived at our campany's
night location, where I was medivaced a shoft time later. The rest is histary. Why I was
spared, I have no idea. I don't rememberwho the othertwo men were wha helDed me. nor
da I know what happened to them. After my ankle healed, I was transferred to Delta
Company."

LT Easterly: "During the day's march [Charlie Company] saw no sign of the Arc Light
strike. The terrain through which we had been moving was hily, lightly forested and
covered with ankle-high grass and a few shrubs; mavement was relatively easy.

"After trcveling sauthwest mast of the day, we gradually turned eastward and then nafth.
We approached aur night location from the sauth for the last few hundred meters. The
night location that CPT lDonaldl Moore picked wasn't the best. There was a low ridge line
to the east about 25-to-30 meters away that was higher than our location. The teffain to
the south was also generally higher, as we had walked downhill to get to this lacation. The
main feature that made this position so attractive was the fact that there was a naLura!
helicopter pad on the northwest side of our perimeter. The night passed quie y."
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PART l l l :  CONTACT

12 Julv 1967 (Wednesday)

The day began with stand-to under gray overcastskres, somegroundfog.and intermitteni
drizzle, the taking of the daily malaria pills, rotailon of the listening and observation posts,
breakfasi and cleanup, and the daily sitreps (Banjos)to battalion. Bravo Com pany's Banjo
of69 personnel included the FO from 4142 Atli lety and his two radio-telephone operators
(RTOS), four engineers f rom T" Platoon, Bravo Company,4'n Engineers,  and the fouf
medics attached florn Headquafters and Headquartefs Company (HHC).

PFC Parksi "Bravo Company was up at first light and going through its narmal morning
rautine. I had been issued a bunch of heat tablets when I drew rations before coming to
the field, and was using a couple to heat my breakfast meal and make coffee. Watching
Halversan prepat'e his breakfast, I v@s dumbfounded to see him use a piece of C-4 ta heat
water in a B-3 caokie can ta make cocaa. lt was the first time lhad everseen anyonedo
this. Then I understaod what I had been told about ttot using C-4 back at the brigade
ttalns.

"The sky was avercast with low clouds, giving the appearance of a light graund fog. We
were told that the company was gaing ta stay in place for the day and that the line platoons
would be conducting sweeps around the area. The 3'" Plataon was the first to ga out on
a sweep. As soon a s they departed their platoan area, 1'! atld 2"d Platoons realigned their
platoan sectors and filled in the gap in the perimeter defense. As the new guy in Weapans
Plataon, I was sent to help man a bunker an the perimeter. Another guy from Weapons
Plataon went aut with 3" Platootl ta seNe as their FO far our moftar sectian."

LT Easterly: "We called in lchadie C ompany'sl slret gth repoft (Ban ja) as six afficers and
75 enlisted men in C Campany, with ane afficer and two enlisted men attached fram other
units (FAs.) As we listened to the strength from B Company, lf was /ess than ours by
about six nen." Con,pany strength had been greatly din'rinished throughoutthe battalion
due io troop rotatlons, jl lness and injury, routine administrative reasons, and the battalion's
decision to keep a significant portion ofthe company's Weapons Platoon in the fire suppoft
base. lt is esi rnated that the company strength in the field that day was 69 out of the 130
desifed, or about ha f-strength.

As the n'rofning routines progressed throughorrt the dlfferent company and plaioon
locations, the battalion commander, LTC Corey Wright and the 53, MAJ Lawrence
Gardner, conferred and worked out the day's opefational plan at the fire support base
Because of the ground fog and Low clouds (no flight ceiling) orders wete transmitted to
both Bravo and Charlie Companies and the Recon Platoon to hold their 0700 SPs to the
east and to remain in their respectlve patrol bases. While waiiing fot more favorable
weather conditions, the t\r'r 'o line companies were to cond uct p aioon-sized sweeps atound
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their perif0eters, whi e the Recon Platoon was to maintajn its screening position on the high
gfound appfoximately 2,500 meters to the east.

The first platoon to conduct a sweep ihat morning came from Charlie Company. At 0749
ihe 2 '"  Platoon underthecommandofLTTornSeales,wassentouttothesouihtosweep
in an arc around to the west, then on to the northeast side ofthe company pefirneter. Ai
0900 approximately an hour into their sweep. 2i ' Platoon encountered and engaged 12
NVA at YA 838127, ki l ing three and driving the remainder off to the south toward Bravo
Company. At 0920 the 2"" Platoon of Charie Company reported that they had been
observed by an NVA force to the west of them that was moving north; morlar f ife was
brought against the moving force. Ai 0958 2- Platoon reported that enemy forces were
sti l around their position and that they had continued to place moftaf and arti l lery fifes
foMard, to the rear, and on both flanks of thelr position; 2"d Platoon was unao e ro move
from their oos tion.

LT Easterly: "Ihe m orning af 12 July was foggy and wet. The battalion commander called
CPT Donald Maare, our campany commander, to give him the orders far the day, which
were ta 'Renain in place with yaur company and send aut platoon-sized patrols to sweep
the area'; Bravo Company orders were lhe same. CPT Maare decided to use the 'claver
leaf'pattern which \, ' /as the standard method af sweeping atthetime. AtabautA7452"d
Plataan depaied an their sweep. heading first to the sautheast, then turning ta the west,
then back to the naftheast. The entire sweep would probably take about threelo-four
haurs. Things were relatively narmal; I was trying to get a parachute that had been
attached ta a flare dawn from a tree that vr'as located in the middle af our position, 1"1
Platoon had been alefted to prepare for a A93A depafture: some peaple were washing up
and bathing in a creek that ran just east af aur location 1SG Tampkins being one of them
(he was setting an example far the men), when suddenly at about 09A0 the radio crackled
with a message fratn 2''" Platoon:

"'6, this 2-6' (Tom Sea/es), 'Ihls is 6-echo, go' (campany RTO). '6-echa. get me 6 actual,
over' (Tom Seales). '2-6, this is 6, go' (CPT Moore) 'This is 2-6, I have 10 November Victor
Alphas crassing to my frant at about 100 yards, l'm gaing to apen fire.' 'This is 6, are yau
sure?' 'This is 2 6, affinnative.' 'This is 6, qo ahead.'

''Within seconds \ye heard the sounds of snallarms fire in the distance. CPT Maorethen
decided to hald up the 1" Platoo] until the situatian cleared up some."

At about 0830 Bfavo Company sent oui its 1"' Platoon under the command of 2LT Roger
Howse on a sweep similar to the one by Charlje Company. Departing from the company's
southeast cornef ofthe perimeter, l i would also swing south and then west in an arc. At
0855 hours the 1"'Plaioon of Bravo Company reported enemy rnovement to the south of
the company perimeter. Sh o rtly thereafter they retu rned to the patro I base a nd 3'' Platoon
departed on its sweep
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PFC Parks: "The 1'' Platoan hadn't been gone long when they repofted suspected NVA
movement south af their locatian. Shaftly after that we could hear the sounds of Charlie
Company's contact with the enemy. I looked aver at our maftar and watched as the gun
crew swung the tube around toward the direction af the battle.

"The next thing we were told was that 3'" Platoon was going ta attempt ta link up with the
Chadie Conpany element that was in contact I dan't renember exactly how much time
went by, but suddenly it seemed like things were begining to happen in rapid succession.
Third Platoon repafted that they had been engaged by a separate enemy farce. and that
they were in trauble and needed help."

Then at 0845 an observation post on the northeast side of Charlie Company observed
approx mately 30 NVA crossing its ffont. Securitywas heightened alongthe northeastern
sjde of the Charlie Company perimeter, and monar and artil lery fire were ca led in.

LT Easterly: 'Abaut 2A minutes later (4920), Ion Sea/es (2-6) was back on the radia
saying that he had NVA to his right as v,lell as his frant. A few minutes later he called
saying that he saw NVA ta his left, but so far he had taken rlo casualties. He was directing
aftillery fire with vr'hat he felt was good effect and his plataon was giving a good accaunt
af itself. He estimated that he had hit same af the NVA, but he wasn't sure how many.
About thifty minutes later (0958) his radio message was: 'This is 2-6, Ih surraunded."'

Regarding the fight in wh ich 2"" Platoon was involved, the following narrative was provided
to Lew Easterly by the 2"" Platoon eadef, LT Tom Seales: " 14le spatted the first group of
soldiers (NVA) to ourfrcnt eight ar 1 A. but they maved out of the area before we could
engage them. I don't think that they spotted us. We taok up a defensive poslure in a
naturalbowl between two of the law rolling hills. My leftflank squad spotted anathergroup
af six vQlking down a path that paralleled our route of march. The squad leader a sked far
and received permissian ta engage. Thesquadopened up, andthe NVAdropped. They
did not return fire effectively. When the engagement ceased I sent the squad an a sweep
to find badies, weapans ar blood trails. Theyfound nothing (buckfever, maybe?). Bythe
time the squad returned from the s\ueep, we had spotted mare NVA to our right flank and
stafted receiving sporadic smallarnsfire. At this point I spotted an enemy saldier maving
fram ane tree to anather. When he was in the open, lfired my M-16 and saw him fa . lt
was the anly confirmed hit that I personally made during the war. ln the meantime, the
NVA ta our frant had returned, as well as mare an our left flank and rear. We were in a
gaad defensive position, small arms fire v/as ineffective against us. Then we began
receiving incoming moftar fire and stafted taking casualties."

As soon as Char ie Company made contact, battalion notifled Bravo Company to be alert
for efemy forces to their north and to rnake radio contact with Charlie Company. A shoii
tlme later 3'" Platoon of Bravo Company was instructed by battalion to establish radio
comrnunications w th Charlje Company and to atternpt to link up with Char ie Company's
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thelr pefimeters, wh le the Recon P atoon was to mainiain its screening position on'ihe high
ground approximately 2.500 meters to the east.

The first platoon to conduct a sweep that morning came from Charlie company. At 0749
the 2"" Platoon, under the command of LT Torn Seales. was sent out to ihe south to sweep
in an arc around to the west, then on to the northeast slde of the company perirneter. At
0900, approxirnately an hour into their sweep, 2"' Platoon encouniered and engaged 12
NVA at YA 838127, ki l ing three and driving the remainder off to the south toward Bravo
Company. At 0920 the 2"d P atoon of Charlie Company reported that they had been
observed by an NVA force to the west of them that was moving north; mortaf fire was
brought against the movlng force. At 0958 2* P atoon reported that enemy forces were
sti I around theif position and that they had continued io place mortar and artil lery fjres
forwafd. to the rear, and on both flanks of their posltion: 2"" Platoon was unable to move
from the r position.

LT Easterly: 'The morning af 12 July was foggy and vlet. The battalian commandercalled
CPT Danald Moore, our campany commander, to give him the orders for the day, which
were ta'Renain in place with yourcompany and send aut platoon sized patrols to sweep
the area': Bravo Company orders were the same. CPT Moore decided to use the'claver
leaf' pattern, which was the standard method of sweeping at the time. At abaut 0745 2'"
Platoan depafted an their sweep, heading first to the sautheast, then turning ta the west,
then back to the naiheast. The entire sweep would probably take about three-to-four
hours. Things vrcre relatively nomal; I was trying to get a parachute that had been
attached to a flare down fram a tree that was located in the niddle of aur position, 1"
Platoon had beeD alefted to prepare far a 0930 depafture; same peaple were washitlg up
and bathing in a creek that ran just east af aur location, 1SG Tampkins being one of them
(he was setting an exanple far the men), when suddenly at abaut 09AA the radio crackled
with a message from 2'" Platoon:

"'6, tllis 2-6' (Tan Seales), 'Ihls ls 6-echa, go' (company RTO). '6-echo. get ne 6 actual,
over' (Tom Seales). '2-6. this is 6, ga' (CPT Maare) 'Thisis2-6, I have 10 Novenber Victar
Alphas crossing fo my frant at about 10A yards, l'm going ta open fire."This is 6, are you
sure?' 'This is 2-6, affirmative.' 'This is 6, ga ahead.'

"Within seconds we heard the sounds af small arms fire in t'he distance. CPT Moore then
decided to hold up the 1'' Platoon until the situatian cleared up some."

At about 0830 Bfavo Company sent oui its 1'' Platoon under the command of 2LT Roger
Howse on a sweep similar to the one by Charlie Company. Departing from the cornpany's
southeasi corner of the perimeter, it would also swing south and then west in an arc. At
0855 hours the 1'' P atoon of Bravo Company reported enemy movement to the south of
the corn pany perjmete r. S hoftly thereafte r they retu rned to the patrol base and 3'" Platoon
deDarted on its sweep.
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PFC Parks: "The 1"t Platoan hadn't been gane long when they repafted suspected NVA
mavement sauth oftheir lacation. Shoftly afterthatwe cauld hearthe saundsaf Cha e
Company's cantact with the enemy. I laaked aver at aur moftar ancl watched as the qun
crew swung t'he tube around toward the dircction af the bat e.

"The next thing we were told was that 3d platoon was going to attempt to link up with the
Charlie Canpany element that was in cantact. I don,t remember exac y how much time
went by. but suddenly it seened like Lhings were begning to happen n rapid succession.
Third Platoan repafted that they had been engaged by a separate enemy farce, and that
they were in trauble and needed help.'

Then at 0845 an observation post on the northeast side of Charlie Companv observed
approxinrately 30 NVA crosslng its front. Secu rity was heig htened a long the n;dheastern
side of the Charlie Company perlmetel, and mortar and artjlJery fire were cal]ed in.

LT Easterly: 'Abad 2A minutes later Pg2A), Iorn Sea/es (2-6) was back on the radia
saying that he had NVA to his right as well as his frant. A few minutes latet he callecl
saying that he saw NVA ta his left, but so far he had taken no casualties. Hevasdirectinq
aftillery fire with what he felt was gaad effect and his plataan was giving a good accouil
of itself. He estimated that he ha.l hit sone of the NVA, but he wasn,t sure haw many.
About thitty minut'es later (0958) his radio message v@s: 'This is 2-6, l,m surraunded.",

Regarding the fight in whlch 2"" Platoon was ifvolved, the following narfative was provided
to Lew Easterly by the 2"d Platoon ieader LTTomSeales: ,'14le spolfe d the first group of
saldiers (NVA) to aur frant, eight ot. 10, but they moved aut of the area before we could
engage them. I don't tllink that they spotted us. We taak up a defensive posture in a
naturalbawl between t\,,/o of t'h-.law rclling hills. My leftflank squad spotted anathergroup
af six walkiug dawn a path that paralleled our rcute of march. The squ ad teader asked far
and received pernissian ta engage. The squad opened up, and the NVA dropped. They
did nat return fire effective ly. When the engagement ceased, I sent the squ ac1 on a sweep
to find bodies, \,{eapons. or blood trails. Theyfaund nothing (buckfever, naybe?). By th;e
time the squad returned from the sweep, we had spatted more NVA to our riqht ftani and
stafted receiviug sporadic smallarmsfire. Atthis point lspottecl an enemy s6ldrcr moving
frcm ane tree to another When he was in the open, lfirecj my M_16 and saw hm fa . ft
was the anly confirmed hit that I personally made during the war. ln the meantime, the
NVA ta our front had returned, as well as more on aur left flank and rear. We were in a
good defensive positian: small arms fire was ineffective against us. Then we beqan
receiving incaming maftar fire and stafted taking casualties.'

As soon as Charlie Company made contact, battalion fotifled Bravo Company to be aled
for enemy forces to theif north and to make radio contact with Char ie Company. A short
time aier 3'" P atoon of Bravo Company was instructed by battalion io establish radio
communications with Charlie Company and to attempt to link up wjth Charlie Companv,s
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2"0 Platoon. The Recon Platoon closely monitored its radios, trying to get a clear
understanding of whai was happening ln the val ey below them.

At approximately 1015, the Cecision was made to pull Alpha Company oui of the fire
support base and inselr them into LZ Yankee west of Bravo Company's location, and to
bring in additjonalground forces to help man the fire suppod base perjmeter. The S3 sent
an urgent message to the base carrp to round up every man in the baitalion and get them
out to the field on the first available alrcraft. then contacted the Recon P atoon and ordered
thern back io the fire suppoft base ASAP.

SSG Hill; '/ remember that morning clearly after all these years. First light and morning
had came with a kind of quietness lhaf we would sometimes experience after a night af
light rain; just the saund af rain water still dripping off of the vegetatian and an occasional
animal making its early morning calls. Being up an the side af a hill looking dawn on the
lowlands ta aurwest, allthe Recon Platoan cauld see was ground fog. lt was so quiet that
the me] spake in soft vaices while they maved around, some eating their moming meal,
athers just h aving their marning cigarette and a cup af caffee Wewereall pleased when
the Lieutenant told us that we were uDder orderc fram battalion to hold in place until t'he
weather lifted. All we had ta da was swap our listening posts with obseNatiotl posts and
have a second cup af coffee. Nottao nuch time had gone by, when suddenly autofthe
fog aff ta aur west erupted the heaft-stapping and llead-snapping saund of gunfire.

"We had not heard any radio traffic on the cammand channel about anyone preparing to
fire their weapans, sa the dreaded word 'ambush' flashed through our ninds. lremember
thinking, 'Sonebady is in deep sltit davn there.' Everyone looked over at aur platoo!]
leader as he sat next ta t'he radio listening for the \ryard: Who is it and haw bad is it? The
platoon RTO relayed bits of information to us as he heard them. Withaut being told to da
so, everyane immediately became more aware oflhe sounds araund us wondering what
was gaing to happen next. Sone guys began talking quietly amongst themselves.
wondering what we were waiting for and why weren't vrc being tald to saddle up and get
dawn there and help. The firing seemed to taper off after a while, but then when the faur-
deuce maftars from hattalian picked up whete fhe small arms had left off, we knew this vns
serlous.

"When the order from battalion came in at 1 150 for us to break can'tp and return ta the fire
suppaft base, we were completely mystified. The TOC hadn't tald us why. only to get back
ta their lacation ASAP. We quickly saddled-up, organized paint and flank securify, and
headed aff in an easterly direction. We estimated that we were about two thousand meterc
out and had naybe an haur's walk ahead af us."

LT Easterly:"While all this was going on, lv@s checking on the perimeter, making sure
that we had abseyatian pasts aut and generally trying ta da my job, vhich was to let the
campany comnander run the fight and nat have ta wofty about the other details. The
batlalian comnander had also been busy trying ta figure out what the big ptcture v@s and
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la caordinate the activities of both Bravo and Charlie Campanies. This v@s the contact with
the enemy we had been looking for when we stafted the search-and-destray mission, and
everyane vtanted it to pay off.

"The battalian cammander was monitaring the radia traffic from both Bravo and Charlie
Companies, and ane af the platoons fram Bravo Company said that they felt that they
cauldlinkupwith lom Sea/es's p/aloo t1. The battalion commanderthen attached them ta
our campany and told them to come up on our push. LT Noatz the plataon leader of this
platoon, immediately began talking to CPT Maore. He said that he could hear the firinq
from our 2'd Platoon clase by and that he was maving taward them.

"As the 3'" Plataan fram Brava Company changed their direction of movement to the
noftheast in an effotl to link up with our 2'" Platoon, they began ta call in. Their radia
messages were basically as fallows: 'l'm making some progress.' 'l'm beginning ta get
same small arms fire.' 'l'm beginning to take same automatic weapons fire, but we are still
pushing an to\r',tard yaur 2"' Platoon. And then the /dsf message we received fram them
was. 'l'm taking heavy autamatic \,veapons fire and l'm beginning to take some indirectfire
(matlar fire).' LT Naotz then went back an Bravo Campany's push and we were out of
contact with him. lAt th s t me LT Nootz and his platoon were in the vicinity of YA 837126
on the western edge of a small rock-covered knoll.l

"By this time, LTC Wright had made some decisians based an what he could see fram the
airandwastrying to getthe two platoans that were in heavy contact extracted. He ordered
Bravo Campany to saddle-up and move out toward their platoan on a given azinuth. At
the same time he ardered us to litik up with our 2"" Plataan. As soon as we could get
'saddled-up,'the conpany lined up heading directly south. As they were the smallest
platoon (14men) J immy J ohnson's 1"' Platoon took the lead; andthe3d Platoon was split
in half, ane half on the left flank under the control af their plataan sergeant, SGT England,
and the ather half on the right flank under their platoon leader, Cltuck Harmon. The
Weapans Platoon braught up the rear with the cammand group between 1'! and Weapons
Platoons. The cammand group consisted ofthe twa campany RTO's, CPT Danald Moore,
myself a 4 2 inch nrcftat FO. aDd Lud Sells, the afiillery FO and his RTO.

"As we moved. CPT Maare was an the battalion net talking with LTC Wright. who was in
the air trying to direct aur movement aud keep us on the correct line of march toward 2nd
Platoan. The terrain v'/as just small rollhig hills. We would go up one hill, then dawl, then
up another and dawn again The grass was about shin-high with very little undergrowth.
The visibilify v'/as fairly gaad: you could see maybe 35 or 10 neters unless there were
bushes in the way.

"After having gane about 15A or 200 meters, we could hear firing ta our front, but then it
kind of slacked off a little bit. The aLtillety FO, Lud Se s, kept walking the 105mm right in
front af us. I loaked up and saw a smoke rcund, brilliant red smoke, hit right in the niddle
af 1"' Plataon. Since I was runoing the campany radio net, I tald everybady to hald in place
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until fhe FO cauld make another adjustment. As we halted, everyane began bunching up. l
Bath af the flank security columns were anly about 1A or 15 yards fram the command
group. When I saw this, I told them over the radia to move the flankers out a little bit. I had
no saoner tald them ta spread it out when the right flank began receiving moftar fire rather
c/ose. As soor as the left flank calumn went over a little knoll about 25 yards out, they
began receiving automatic weapans fire. I laaked to the west toward the right flank and
could see a lat of peaple moving back and fofth about 140 meters away

"Abaut this tine some moftars began falling in the front ofthe column. CPT Moore decided
thatwe had camefarenough and radioed battalian thathe was retuming tathe company's
night lacatian. This decisian saved mast af aur lives. ,4s we headed back in, we were
haping that the Nafth Vietnamese had nat re-occupied it while we were gone. As soot as
we arrived, we began receiving a little moftar fire and could hear small arms fire papping
aver aur heads. That's all it took ta get us back in aur hales.

"lt was about this time that Tam Seales radioed that he thaught he saw a chance to brtng
the 2"d Platootl in. As saon as Tom finished his radia communications, he instructed his
platoon sergeant ta 'Take the point and get us the fuck out of here. The medic and lwill
fallaw with the wounded as fast as we can.' With that, the 2"" Platoon began its mavement
back taward the campany. The platoon cane in from our south, bringing batll of their
waunded. I recall that they came up into aur pasition through a gully, and lust at the head
af the gu y was a large rack, probably the size of a small truck. One of aut machine
gunners named Willie Jordau junped up an top af this rack v,/ith abaut six hundred romds
of machine gun amma draped over his shoulders and, holding his M-60 an his hip, cavered
the Dlataon as thev came into our locatian.

'As soon as lhe /ast man closed, it seemed like the volume af fire, that is, the noise from
the south, just became terrific. Atlillery was falling all around and we had an Air Farce
for"\,ard air controller above us who was directing an air strike to our south. We gat the
word over the battalion radia net that Bravo Company had made cantact, which neans that
they were non' in a fight themselves. This was why the naise suddenly got so much
lo'tdcr

As the 2'" Platoon was passing ihrough the Charlie Company perimeter, Tom Seales
remernbefs thlnkirg it was about this t me that Bravo Company entered the kil l  zone. "Ihe
volume of fire that had been faifly heavy became a raar. lt was like the sound of aVulcan
mini gun. Yau cauldn't hear the sound of individual raunds, iust that horrible roar"

PFc Parks: 'The cammander then sent 1't Plataon out ta attempt ta link up with 3"
Platoan. The 1st Plataan departed the perimeter through the landing zane area and
headed off in a southvrcsterly direction. They hadn't been gane long when they also
repoftecl they were under attack by a farce separate from that with which 3d Platoon was
engaged. lt was at abaut this time we began hearing our artillery firing in suppaft of our
two plat'aans and Charlie Company."



LT Roger Howse, the platoon leader of Bravo Company's 1"' Platoon. recalls the
con]pany's initjal response to 3" Platoon's plighL "When 3" Plataan began radiaing their
situation - sightings here, sightings there. surrounded - my platoon, 1" Platoon, was sent
out to relieve them. lt wasn't very long before we atafted receiving incoming. At firct, we
thaught it \,l/as aur aftillery, but I believe naw it was enemy moftars."

PFC Parks: '/n resporse ta 1"' Platoon coming in contact with the enemy, the company
commander then toak 2''o Platoon, the campany's attached aftillery FO section, and a
Weapons Plataon FO, and depafted the perimeter. They were headed far 1" Platoon and
eventually 3'd Platoan. This left about eighl or nine af us with aur one Bl mm moftar under
the command af SFC Hunter in the perimeter."

LT Howse: Abaut that time the CO, and I believe the 2 d Platoon, left the night location
and headed in our directian. They advanced ahead of my platoan. The CO called for my
platoon to break contact and nove around ta his rightflank. lremembersaying something
to him abaut exposhig his left flank, but he said to move. As we maneuvered araund his
right ftank, we crested a hill, and that is where we stafted taking a beating fnm small arms
fire and moftars.

"lwaswounded early on in the leg and stomach as my platoon crested the hillafterwe had
moved fram the CO's left flank to his right flank, but adrenaline has a way af keeping you
gaing. The actian was pretty fluid and intense and it was difficult at times ta know allthe
players and where they were - both friendly and enemy. But at some point vrc were being
ovetwhelmed, sa we brake contact and headed back to the night location. My memory is
vague fram that point on; l did nat knaw how many men I had lost, but I do remember
several heading back v'/ith us. The enemy force was good sized, but v@ did not encounter
'vnves of them.'

"ane mernory has remained pafticularly clear - ane af the t'roaps said he had a big
headache. I checked him out and faund he had a large piece of shrapnel in his head - he
made it back ta the night lacation and was evacuated - | saw him later in Japan - PFC Roy
James.

"l was nat aware of LI Rasser ard hls p/atooti. I vaguely remember a fleeting glimpse of
the cammander sitting on a rack, waunded. I want to say I heard him audibly giving
cammands, but I do not know if that was reality or tricks with my memory. I have no
recallectian af the time f rame of the actian. We could have been at it for hours: I iust dan't
remember. lvalked aut with what was left of my platoon to the night locatian, by what
directian and when I dou't renember. The next thing l recall was somebady checking me
over, so I was not aware of the conditian af my plataan members. I was eventually
checked out and evacuated to the 4"' Med and on to thel Sth Sutgical Hospital.



"Ane thing I have never forgotten is the path of the bullet , - befare it entered my stomach,
it passed through a full M-16 magazine and creased a grenade on my pistal belt. lt vi/as
not my tine!

'' ln rethinking the situation now - we were up against a superiar force then; the canmand
group was down; L as the 1"' Platoon leader, was walking but wounded; we were taking
casualties - the obvious canclusion was to disengage and regroup ta fight another day.
I no langer question that course of actian. Ratianalizing or not, I believe it was the right
decision to make. No matter how new I was or how 'green,' my job was to lead my
platoan.

' lt makes a person wander - shauld we have stayed and fought to the death? Those days
and months follatuing 12 July 1967, I thought much about the withdrawal action. Ih nat
saying we turned tail and ran. I remember tltat in spite afthe circumstances, we hadan
arderly, yet hasty, withdrawal back to the night location."

PFC Al Thiel, also a member of 1"' Platoon remernbe'S. "My menaries of July 12'h are in
segme,?fs, and actual periods of time are not very clear. Many of the guys with whom I h ad
served had already ratated, and there \\/ere a lot' of new faces. I can't remenber if we
moved aut and then came under fire, ar if we moved aut in respanse to fire; I rea y think
it was the fanner. My squad was at the rear of the platoan column. The terrain was a seies
of small hills, which I thought was unusual compared to what I had seen previausly.

"As the snall arms fire began, the initial raar was unbelievable. I was with two ar three
other guys (l catl no langer remember who they were) who found cover in a packet
between these smallhills ormounds. Raunds we re hitting all arou nd us and maftar rounds
were also hitting very clase, as if they had aur location marked. At times I would loak aver
the tap af these small hills. but I couldn't tell vhere any of our men were. We were able
lo see /VyA running across to aur left luckily they were not running at us. so we fired at
them. but couldtl't tell if we hit any or not Sltoftly thereafter we naved ta a new location
and continued firing at the enemy.

"While vr'e were an the graund. sameone came running by and said we (1't ptatoon) were
moving back to aur positions at the night lacatian I don't know how lang we stayed in this
pasitian, but the next thing I remember is that I and anafher guy were carrying (actually
dragging) a waunded but canscious guy back ta the perimeter. As we were doing this. I
called aut to another guy to help us, but he kept running. I dan't renenber where we
picked up the waunded guy, but I think he t\/as probably alte af my squad. Before I
rea zed it, tue were at the night lacation and in a foxhale (l really have na idea haw lang
it taoA us ta get therc). lt seemed like there were so few af us who managed ta nake it
back. I don't remember when we were relieved, but we spent the night there with Alpha
and Cha rlie Campan ies."



PFC Ed Moody, a mernber of the podion of Bravo's Weapons P atoon in the field, reca ls,
"The morning of the 12t' began for me as I sat around talking with Nathan Henry. As
members af the Weapons Platoon, when we weren't in a firebase, we were just another
rifle plataan with the same duties. We had already eaten breakfast and had received our
daily briefing. At one paint I remember CPT Rushton asking me if I had any shaving cream
he could use (lte had run out), sa lloaned him nine. We were having same 'stand-do\un'
time while 3'o Platoon was naking its sv@ep. We weren't doing anything special, just our
ordinary rautine. Nathan and lwere talking and listening ta the company radio (Nathan
was the conmander's RTa), when we heard LT Nootz ca in that he had run inta some

PFC Parks: "Abaut five minutes lafer 2''" Plataon and the command graup became
engaged with the enemy. Saneaue must have called far fire because we fired all the
ammo we had, abaut 40 noftar raunds. Ance we were aut of ammo, SFC Hunter told us
we were going ta ga out and try to help t'he engaged platoons. We left everything except
for our perconal weapons and anmunitian. We depafted the perimeter like the ather
plataons ahead af us and went aut through the landittg zone. Ance we were cleat of the
perimeter, SFC Hunter put us on line and noved us aut to the vrcst. We hadn't gone far
when v,/e began to draw enemy fire. Dropping to the ground. we tried ta move fatward
using fire and movement. As the enemy fire increased, SFC Hunter realized that we were
not making any headway and ardered us back to the company defensive position and
patrol base. Using hand grenades as covering fire, we broke contact with the enemy and
began withdrawing. For some unknown reasan, lhe enemy farces allov'/ed us to withdrav(
back ta our preparcd positiotis. As soon as \A,e arrived al the patrol base, SFC Hunter
arganized us inta a defensive pasture and had us occupy the inner command bunkers in
a smaller perimeter."

PFCMoody: "l remenberthat, as we maved outofthe patrol base and in the direction
of the company, we walked up and down several small hills, when suddenly we were
climbing one that was bigger than the athers. Someone began yelling at the Weapans
Platoan to 'mave up, mave up!' I moved fan,lard quickly and some of the Weapans
Platoan was with me. As we got ta the top of the hill, all Hell brake laase. From this point
an, my memories are kind af mixed up. I remember a lot af guys were getting hit, some
new guys I didn't even know. Moftar raunds were dropping in all aver the place. bullets
were flying, and people were yelling. I remember someane screaming, 'Don t let ne die!'
You cauld see the NVA running all araund us.

"Time had na neaning. I have no idea hatu lang it toak for all of this ta happen. ane
minute I was alane and wounded (l had been hit by maftar shrapnel), the next I was with
four or five guys, one of whom had a radia. We were trying ta make contact with a
helicapter flying overhead. We wanted to have tltem call in some afti ery fire araund us
to help. As soon as we began papping smake to mark aur lacation, enemy maftar roulds
rained dowu on us. Then next thing I knew, there v/ere anly two of us (the rest were dead),
then just' me. ltAlas all alane.



I"l cauld still hear firing around me. but lcauldn'tsee anyane. By this time I had been hit
a secand time; shot in the arm. I laaked downhilloff to my left and saw twa arthree guys
running by, headed back the v/ay we had come. I could still hear some guys screaming
forhelp, begging anyone notto letthem die. There wasn't anything I cauld do, so I began
crawling off in the directian I thaught would take me back ta our patral base.

"l don't knov( haw lang it toak me, but eventually I made it back to where we had stafted.
It was pure luck; I didn't have a compass or anything. l remember a medic caming out to
help me into the perimeter. He wanted to give me a shot of morphine far my pain, but I tald
him no. I wanted to be able to fight if we had ta. He patched me up and that is about all
I remember until I was in the 18th Evac Hospital.

"l recall, while I was in the haspital, talking with the Lieutenant who had tried to fly in during
the batt'le ta replace CPT Rushtan after he had been killed. LT Case alsa .amF hv t'n <aa
me, and lthitik the battalion commander cane by as well."

PFC Parks: "Shoftly after returning ta the patrolbase, an OH-13 helicoplerflew aver and
drapped several cases of M-16 ammo to us. SFC Hunter then had a couple of guys go
araund to all the unoccupied bunkers and collect all the equipment they could find and
bring it back ta aur positions. This included Claymare mines, which we re-set, and amma
which we re-distributed. Other than a few helicapters, ane af t'he eerie things was the
marked absence af Air Force aircraft fram the battle. (lt wasn't until several years later that
I found out that the Air Force had grounded all their aircraft due ta weather.)

"l can remember treating a couple of the waunded. but cannot remember wha they were.
I do nat remember being fired an by the eneny ance we were back in the patrol base, or
if we were fired on, it was so poo y aimed that we never noticed. I had last my watch it:,
the engagement earlier, thus I had na idea how latlg we waited for relief to arrive. I saw
no ane fram any af the line platoans retLrn to the campany patral base. nor do I remember
Charlie Company shawing up. I do renember Alpha Company arriving and filling our
positians. The Alpha Campany medics checked aut our wounded. Ane af fhe medics
redressed ny wound by taping down the skin flap and splinting my left index finger then
he gave me same aspirin far my fever.

"Ance the relief forces werc in place, I was placed on an AP/LP team with CraMord and
anather man and pasitianed outside the western side of the perimeter. Late in the
afternoon Isuffered another baut of fever and chills. Just beforc sundown, lwas brought
back into the perimeter to the Alpha Company CP to see their medic. I was told that since
the last helicapter had depafted for the day, I would have ta wait until the next morning to
be sent back ta the battalion aid station. lspentthe rest af the nightinthe rain onthe LP
wrapped in ny pancho. I shook so bad during night that I thought I was goitlg to bite my
tangue off if I wasn't careful. The next morning I was evacuated to the brigade trains
where my wound was treated and sutured. Treatment for my malaria didn't begin until I
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finally rcached the 5r Convalescent Center in Cam Rahn Bay, after being passed through
the +t' Medical Detachment at Camp Enari."

Repofts come from three other Bravo Con]pany survivors: SP4 Alberto Lopez and PFC
Charles W lr,4oors, rif ernen from the 2"" P atoon, and PFC John Stroud, a companV medic.
An lvy Leaves repoder, SP4 Robert Bo!dreaux. tracked the battalion down lookjng for
story and published ihe fol owing story in ihe 30 July 1967 edition

SP4 Lopez started by tell ing the reporter how quiet the nrqht of the 1 1Lh had been and how
the morning of the 12th began bleak and overcast.  Thereportercal ledi tanomenofevents
tocome. Continuing, Lopezsaid: 'Our 3rd Plataon went an a sweep ta l ink up with Charlie
Conpany. They ran into heavy snall arns fire and were pinned down.

"Our campany commander called for the 2''" Platoon ta go aut and help the 3'" Platoon
break contact. Theytao cane underheavy small arms and sniper fire, butwere ableta
pull back far enaugh ta be jained by the remainder of the compauy. We then moved atl
line and prepared ta go after the 3' Platoon, whelt suddenly 'Charlie's' moftars began
falling all araund us.

"l have never seen anything like it in ny life. Everywhere we turned there were maftars
falling. Charlie seemed to be firitig oD us from all sides. Samehaw Moors and I fought aur
way back t 'o the patral base."

SP4 Lopez told the repoiler that as they fought their way out of the hail of enemy mortars
and bul ets, the two men stopped to aid their wounded buddies and helped them back to
their patro base. PFC Moots "There werc waunded everywhere, most af the guys were
getting hitfronthe shrapnel. I dan't knov\/ haw the tvla of us made itlike we did. lguess
samebody up there likes 6."

The reporter related how the two men fired magazine after magazine of ammunition at the
enemy as they moved from bush to bush. SP4 Lopezi "Charlie was getting ready ta
assault and we were firing as fast as we cauld. When we got back to the patrolbase, there
were already a lat af the guys back. A lat of them were waunded and the medics were
call ing in'dust offs.' There was a medicIPFC Stroud] who must have been some kind of
supennan. He was everyv'/here pullitlg the wounded into the perimeter, treating them and
warking ta keep them fram gaing into shock."

The repoder then switched to Charlie Company and their eflorts to reach Bravo. The
repofter relaied how Charlie Company, discarding lts gear ln an effort to speed to the
rescue of Bfavo Company, arrived at Bravo's patrol base a few hours later and relieved the
battle-weary men. PFc Moors: "Ihose guys don't knaw haw good they laoked. When
they came in I guess 'Charlie' figured we were too much for him, and never assaulted our
positian."
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Boudreaux's lnterview of PFC Stroud lthe medic SP4 Lopez talked about] began with some
background nformation leading up to the baitle on the 12'h. PFC Stroud began his story
by telling the repofter that when his platoon leader [Roger Howse] was hlt in the leg by an
enemy bulet  dur ing the in i t la l  phaseofthecontact ,herushedovertoaidhin, .  Off  to hjs
righi another man had been hit by f.rodar shrapnel. "lt all happened so fast, I didn't have
tine to think," said PFC Stroud. Dlsregarding the intense enemy fire, the "Doc" ran from
wounded so dier to wounded soldief, treatrng each man and moving the rnore severely
jnjured ones back to the company's patrol base to be evacuated. PFC Stroud recalled:
"Charlie had us surrounded and he kept drapping moftars wherever we turned."

Continu ng, the repodef related ihat PFC Stroud and the remaining members of Bravo
Company, whie Lrnder continual enemy fire, struggled to return to their patrol base.
Boudreaux wrote how, as the battle taged around PFC Stroud, he steadfast y tended
Bravo's wounded soldlers. ltwasn'tuntil C h arlie Compa nv arrived that the d usfoffs co uld
safejy begln to land and stad evacuating the wounded and bring PFC Stroud the
replacen enI medical sJopl'es Ll'a] l-e so oesperarely reeded. The //y Led\ es reoortel
concluded his interview by saying thai ii was only after the survivors of Bravo Company
were finaly evacuated back to the flre suppod base that PFC Stroud allowed himself to
re ax.

Colonel Birch: "...Atabout 1145 Brava Company came under heavy attack as it moved
to try ta relieve its trapped plataan. Around naan the Bravo Conpany cammander, CPT
BriaD W. Rushto,. was badly waunded. and the aftillery FA, 1LT Fred Bragg, assuned
temporary cammand, as 11e simultaneously tried to coardinate aftillery fire and the effafts
of an Air Force faward air cantroller wha had arived on the scene ta direct air strikes. The
situation in Bravo Company had disintegrated quickly.

"The battalian commander, LTC Wright, wha v,las attempting ta cantroltlte battle fron his
C&C helicopter over the scene, sent the battalion's 1.2 Moftar Platoon leader, 1LT David
Jennings, in an OH-13 abservation helicopter inta the battle to replace the wounded
company cammander. While attempting to land, the helicopter pilat was severely
wounded. 1LT Jennings samehaw managed to land the damaged helicopter at a nearby
Special Forces camp.

"Then to campound an already disastrous situation, it was leamed that the FA, the acting
companV commander, had also been waunded; the battaliotl camnander had to leave the
battle site as his helicopter was almost ready to run aut af fuel; and the for'\/ard air
controllet asked for a'check fire'on the afti ery in arder to have his suppafting aircraft
deliver their ordinance withaut endangering the pilats. ln a contraversial move, Brigade
totatly stopped the aftillety fire, but the FO was unable to fine tune the air strikes. Attempts
to matu the Bravo Company perimeter with smake grenades were met with a deluge of
enemy noftar and rocket rounds. ln an effaft to fufther canfuse the situatiotl, the NVA
soldiers also papped smoke grcnades. The 2'" Brigade Commander CAL Charles Sniffiti,
flew into the battle area and lifted the check fire on the aftillery."



LT Easterfy: "About this time, right at the edge af our perimeter where the helicopter
landing pad had been cut, I saw a Nofth Vietnamese stand up and loak at us over the edge
of the little drop-off that was there: it was prabably 35 yards from vhere I was. One af the
men on the perimeter alsa saw him, and grabbed his rifle and tried to shoot him, but
couldn't. The rifle's safety was an, and he didn't have a round in lhe chamber because of
safety regulatians. (Those were the standing orders at that time, but it was also the bg!
time we didn't keep a round in the chamber in Charlie Campany.)

"Ance we saw the one NVA, we knew we had NVA very close to our perimeter, and in fact
this man had probably been sent in as a decoy in an attempt to try and lure same of us into
chasing him so that we cauld be ambushed on that side af the perimeter. Because the
aftillery fire was falling so heavily to our south, they divefted an A1E Sky Raider over to our
locatian where he began dropping bomfu ta our west. We tried to cantral him as he
braught his bombs in closer and claser; yau cauld hear the shrapnel cutting the trees
overhead. Maurice Belknap, ane af the Weapons Platoon men, was standing behind a
bunkerwhen he suddenly looked like he had been hit by a truck. What happened was that
a piece of shrapnel from a bomb had hit him in the shoulder and literally picked him up and
fliDDed him over. We called in a dust-aff to evacuate the vr'ounded. ln factthis dust-off had
cane in ta pick up the two wounded men from 2"" Plataan, and in the excitement had left
one of their crewmen behind. When they came back to get him, PFC Sweska, ane of our
medics, was able to load Belknap and gef him out also.

"The firing ta aur sauth was by now sa heavy and intense that it was a continual roar. As
the aircraft wauld cane in to nake their bambing runs. they were so law you cauld hear
the NVA fire their rifles at the aircraft coming aver. The firing eventually died down at about
1440. We got an order to move out ta the south to see what we could da to aid Bravo
Company."
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PART IV: RESCUE

12 Julv '1967 (Wednesday)

LT Easterfy: "As soon as we could 'saddle up,' we moved out. It was about 141 5 before
we actually moved; ourdirection oftravelwas generally ta the south. We leftour packs and
traveled as lightlyJoaded as we could. You can tell just haw lightly-loaded we were; I
normally smoked three packs a day, but on this trip I took only one pack. The one thing we
didn't forget was plenty of ammunition: we figured we were walking straight into a fight.

"We traveled directly south far maybe 300 or 404 meters. Again it was the same formation
as before; Jimmy Johnson's 1"t Platoon in the lead, 2'd Platoon on the ight, 3'd Platoan on
the left, Weapons Platoon bringing up the rear, and the command group in the middle.
About 100 meters out, 1"' Platoon opened fire on something. I highlailed it up ta the front
af the column to see what it was and found ane dead NVA."

Easterly felated ihis same story as told to him in 1994 by SP4 lvlel Perttunen, one of the
survivors from Bravo company. Talkjng about Bravo Company's attenrpt to rescue their
cut-off 3'o Platoon, SP4 Perttunen said, "We went out in three files following the same
route the 3' Platoon had taken. Stupid! We crossed a little creek and walked up a hi .
When I got to the top, there was a rockpile there where I stopped. I could see a man
standing off in front of me; he had a brush hat on. Gomezsaidtome,'Mel,isthatoneof
our guys?' l ye ed out, 'Hey!' He turned sideways and l could see an AK an his back. I
dropped an M-79 round on him and Gomez opened upwith his M-16. Rightthen all Hell
broke loose. There were green tracers allaver the place, B-40s screaming in, and mortars
were dropping everywhere.

"l was pinned down tight behind the rocks. There was a machine gun team pinned down
with me. Their names were Willie Fullilove and Pernell Claud. They were the only black
machine gun team in the company. There was another guy with us wha was waunded in
the shoulder and he was hufting bad. Bullets and shrapnel were hitting the rocks all the
tine. (l kept gettitig rock fragments out af my face for years afteruard when I shaved.)

"LT Gary Rasser came running back past me and he came up on me so fast that I nearly
shot him. I couldn't see anything to shoot with ny M-79, so I had my .45 out. I almost shat
him with it. He didn't say anything; he and some other guys just headed down to the
bottom of the hil. I turned around to the machine gunners and said, 'Let s get out af herc;
those guys are pulling backl' They both just looked at me with big white eyes and didn't say
anything. lthink that if I had left, they would have shot me.

"l could see Rasser and the others dawn at the battom af the hill. so I turned ta the
machine gunners and said, 'l'm going down there to see what's going on, I' be right back.'
I pulled on the other guy's arm and he screamed, so I let go. l headed down ta the bottom
of the hill. Lieutenant Rasser and the rest stafted back toward out night lacation, and I
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went with them. I had the safety aff ny M-79 and it went off right by ny foot, but the
grenade didn't explode.

"l don't remember much about the trip back to the patrol base. When we got there, they put
me out on the bunker line ta watch. lkept asking, 'Where is Thompson?' but nobody knew.
After awhile he came staggering in with just his pants and boots on and a bloady bayonet
in his hand. Later another company stafted to come in, and when they saw me sitting on
the bunker, they just stopped. I loaked at them and got a beer out af my pack and drank
iti that's when I stafted to relax. The next marning I faund out that I was wounded. lt was
just a small waund where a rock fragment had been driven under the skin af my shoulder
in the back."

LT Easterly: "At about this time we received an order from LTC Wright to change our
direction af movement and swing toward the southeast and then to the east. We had only
gone about 75 or 80 meters in the new direction when I heard someone ye , 'Hey LT
Eastelly,getoverhere!'Whattheyhadfoundtotherightofthecalumnwerethreeblack
soldiers stretched out on the ground with no weapons around them. Their bodies were
lying in amangst a small pile of racks with a large quantity of expended machine gun brass
around them; lwould say between 200 and 300 rounds, maybe more. Allthree men had
been shot at close range in the head. I told our men to get their'dog tags' and move on.

"As we maved on, we came across an 81mm maftar tube that had apparently dropped by
Bravo Company. There was also a dead NVA there, and I had one of the men standing
there with me strip him of all his identification for intelligence purposes. By this time I was
close to the 1"' Platoon at the head of our column. I stayed where I was and let the
company command group catch up to me. We didn't know it, but at this time we were
about 30 meters to the nofth af where the main action with Bravo Company had taken
place that day. We were going down a hi headeci directly east. 1't Platoon had already
reached the tap of the next rise and was making a turn to the left on a new azimuth as I
jumped acrass a small creek about two feet wide. Laaking back at CPT Moore, I thought
fot a noment that he was getting ready to shoot me, as he was suddenly grabbing and
swinging his rifle toward me. Quicklyturning and looking where he wasfocused, lsawtwo
NVA running down a gully away from us. lt seemed like 1,000 to 2,040 rounds were
'popped aff at those two NVA in about 15 seconds. Nobody bothered to go after them
because we were scared of heading down into that draw to check for KlAs or WlAs and
getting ambushed.

"[At approximately 1 4451we arrived at the Bravo Company night position, which was very
flat and next to a large open area about 250 rnelers across. The Brava Company survivors
were sitting there in the rain, while one or two sniper raunds were being fired at them from
a tree line abaut 250 meters away on the far side of the helicopter landing pad. The word
was that Alpha Company was being airlifted into a location fairly close by ILZ Yankee,
vicinity YA 8351 171 and should be coming in soon to meet us. We moved our cammand
group into the center of the pasitian where the company command group from Bravo
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Company had been set up. I then went araund the perimeter and made sure it was
secure. Coming back ta the command group, lfound Gary Rasse4 an LT from Bravo
Company, sitting an a log with a submachine gun (CAR-15) across his legs. He loaked up
at me and said, 'Lew, I must have killed 15 of them myself.'

Easterly, quoting LT Rasser: "/ ryas fhe point platoon when we moved out to find Nootz's
platoon. We were heading down across a little creek and then up to the top af a hill. As
soon as we topped the hill, we started getting fire from allaround our position. We flopped
down on the ground and I was in the front. l lost three machine gunners. As soon as one
wauld take up the gun, he would be killed, and another ane would take his place. lwas
firing an M-16 as fast as I could; I burnt out the barrels on three of them myself.

"The fire was coming in from all directions. We could see to ourfront about 50-to-75 meters
where there was a little creek down therc with some bushes. The NVA were crossing just
like coveys of quail in little bunches of five or six. They would run across our front traveling
from left to our right. Sa I saw a bunch of them coming in and they stopped down behind
a little bush at this creek. I picked up a grenade and stood up just like on a grenade range,
and threw it. lt dropped right in the middle of them; I saw five of them blow up. I flapped
down on the graund, and when I did I heard bu ets just rip up the air over me and said to
mysel4 'Rass, if you try that again, you are going to get ki ed.' Well, about that time five
more of them got in that same position, and like a damn fool, I stood up and got all five of
them with another grenade.

"By this time, everything had gone to Hell. One of my men loaked over at me and said,
'Lieutenant, I think it's about time we were leaving.' I looked around and there were about
seven of us left out af 15 | stalIed with. I said, 'l think you're right.' So we faded back to the
right and headed back the way we came and were running pretty fast. As we were
coming, ane ofthe men with metripped. lreached backwith my handto gethim andwhen
I did he was hit seven times in the chest with machine aun fire: I could see the rounds
hitting him.

"As we continued to move, we could see that there were three lines of NVA ahead of us.
We stalled shooting and blasted our way through what appeared to be all of them. I had
my rifle right down in front of me just like they teach you in trcining for marching fire. This
ane guy stood up right in front af me. He was so close to me when he stoad up out of the
waist-high grass, that he couldn't bing dawn the weapon he was holding at high potl. I
shot him and went on.

"We temporarily lost Byron Thompson, another one af our men. The last time I saw
Thompson, an NVA had stood up in frant of him also with his rifle. Because they were so
close to each other and both had their weapons at high pot7, Thompson couldn't get his
rifle down to shoot him. lnstead he just reached out and took this NVA'9 neck in both
hands, crushed it, and drapped the NVA to the ground. Thompson finally showed up about
1 5 minutes after I had gotten back to the perlmeter. He had a campass in one hand and
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a knife in the other. All he was wearing was his boots and pants. He had no idea how he
had made it back to our location.'

LT Easterfy: 'Rasser was evacuated that night. He was coughing up blood from the
concussion of the grenades that had gone off around him and bruised his stomach. He was
initially recommended for the Medal of Honor, but wound up getting the Distinguished
Se,.yice Cross and served the remainder af his tour as a general's aide.

"We of caurse were very nervaus and tried to make the position as secrre aspossl,b/e, buf
it was made rather difficult as this was the monsoon season. The bunkers were filled with
water to within six inches of the fops as fhis was a very flat location. Most of the troops
simply spread aut and lay down behind the bunkers and took whatever cover they could
find. Everything was relatively quiet for about 15-to-20 minutes as I was talking with
Rasser and getting his story, untilthe battalion commanderflew in on his helicapter. Alpha
Campany arrived at our pasition fram the south at about the same time [approxjmately
15151. They were to secure half the perimeter and we were to secure the ather half. We
were still getting fired at by an occasional sniper, but no one paid much attention.

"Abaut 1530, CPT Maore came back from talking with the battalion cammander and said,
'We are going out to get Brcvo Campany.' So we saddled up and moved back out the way
we had came in: back to the west. Jimmy Johnson's 1"' Platoon had point. Chuck
Harman's platoon was on the left and Tom Sea/es s 2'd was an the ight. Bab Nuth's
Weapons Platoon brought up the rear. We had been walking for abaut 10 or 15 minutes
when suddenly somebody to ny right in the 1"' Platoon yelled somet'hing. Well, I was the
campanyexecJ so lran averto see what was going on. As I came upon what was causing
the excitement, I saw a pancho on the ground with two feet sticking out from under it. They
were bare feet and I cauld see green pants araund the ankles. Three af our troops were
very cautiously edging up with their M-16s painted at the poncho. About the time l got
almost within 10 feet of the end with the feet sticking ouL something moved under the
poncho. My first thaught was 'grenade!' Apparently that was exactly what was in the
minds af the three troapers; they opened up with their M-16s on full automatic and each
afthem emptied a z1-round magazine into the poncho. My nextthought was, 'My God,
what if that was an American?' Somebody very cautiously reached down and pulled the
poncho aff. lt turned out to be an NVA."

LT Tom Seales, the 2nd Platoon leader, also witnessed this eyenl "One af my guys on the
rightflankyelledout,' l 'vegotaGoakoverhere.'Ithoughtthathemeantthathecouldsee
ane. So I yelled back, 'Shoot the son of a bitch!' Much to my surprise he aimed his M'16
at his feet and fired a burst. I ran aver to his position, and when I arrived, l saw a foot, no
boot and green fatigues sticking out from under an air mattress. My first thought was, 'Ah
my God, we've shot a Gl,' since we had faund American soldiers with their boots off and
hands tied with their boot laces. I was utterly relieved when we removed the air mattress
andfound an Oriental. Apparently this soldier was practicing v/hat he was taught. lf

Page -34-



wounded, and the NVAhadfew medics, the individualwas instructed to lie down and caver
up to prevent shock. lf someone found him, he would be cared for."

Lf Easterly i " We proceeded due west and moved on far maybe another 20 or 30 minutes
[it was now approximately 1615]. We came down a lang slape and crassed the same
creek that I mentioned eaflier, the one where we fired on the Nofth Vietnamese soldiers,
anly this time we were about 50 yards fuiher to the sauth. As we came down the slope
and stafted up the next hill, I suddenly saw mostly American bodies laying all over; on
racks and wrapped around trees. There was a large rockpile just to the right of aur line af
march, and I saw some people in there. About that time Jimmy Johnsan tapped the far
ridge; ltald him to keep going and set up a perimeter. During all this time the company
cammander was on the radio to battalion trying to figure out how to get all the bodies aut
inmediately. I went over to the rocks and found the campany commander, his radio-
telephone operator, and the company's forward aftillery obseNer together in a pile, all
dead, and in another pile about five feet away were twa more dead Gl's. Continuing up
the hi just a little fufther I found a survivar by the name of Glenn Stanley lying against a
tree. Quickly walking over to him, I squatted dawn and asked, 'What happened, san?
Would you like a cigarette?' He looked at me and said'Thanks, Lieutenant.'

"As I gave him one and lit it, he began telling me the following story:'l was an M-79 gunner
and when the fight stafted, me and my buddy were together. That's him over there,' he
said as he pointed at another dead GI nearby. 'There were faur waves af them and they
kept coming. We sat down and stafted shooting our M-79's as lang as we cauld see them
coming in. See fhose rocks oyer there?' he said, pointing sautll. 'l gat some as they came
aver thase racks over there; I popped some grenades on them there and killed a whole
bunch, but pretty soon we were out of ammo. So we sat down back-to-back, him leaning
against me, got out aur 45's and started shaoting. When they came over the fop of the
racks there [he painted at some rocks the size of automabiles about 15 to 20 feet in front
af himl, I shot them with my .45, and after awhile lfelt my buddy behind me get hit, and
abaut then they got me too.' I looked down where he was indicating and could see a hale
in his left leg. He said, 'lt hutl like hell and I grabbed my leg, and as I went down they got
ne here too' pointing at his neck. I looked at the left side of his neck and there was
anather hale. Then he said, 'i guess / passed out. When I came to, there was a Nofth
Vietnamese soldier standing over me and he had my .45 in his hands. I saw him stafting
to pull the trigger and heard something; that was the last thing I remember.'

"l loaked at his head and right down the middle of his scalp was a crease fron the bullet.
The only thing I cauld figurc out is that sonebody had ye ed just as the Nofth Vietnamese
puled the tigger, or maybe he wasn't familiarwith the .45; maybe it looked like to hin that
he had killed this guy.

"Stanley was just across the creek at the base af the hill. As I cantinued maving up the hi ,
more bodies were discavered. Apparently they had been captured alive after the battle,



as their hands were tied behind their backs with either communications wire or boat laces.
All had been executed with a single shot ta the forehead.

'l headed westward taward Jimmy Johnson's paftion of the perimeter to see if he had it
secured yet, and came acrass the 'ald man,'who told me chopperc were in-bound and that
he had some people busy cutting down trees to get a landing pad cleared. As I topped the
hill, there were two more dead Gl's lying face dawn on the ground, and between them was
an open Bible. I'll remember that for a long time toa. Next to the Bible was a small silver-
colored ball abaut the size of a ping-pong ball. lt was an unexploded 40mm grenade that
had hit a tree so close that it hadn't detonated.

"Eventually we got all the bodies gathered together and picked up. We loaded 32 dead
Americans on helicopters that afternaan for transpoft back to the battalion's fire suppotl
base. We didn't have bady bags, so we just caried the bodies in ponchos and laid them
aut in fr'r'o rows on either side of the landing pad. I remember one of the men from the
cammand group carrying a body and throwing up allthe way ta the pad, and then going
back to help carry another body.

"Later a helicapter pilat told me that he was the pilot on the helicopter that' came in to ferry
the bodies back to the FSB. His copilot was on his flrsf mlsslon. The pilot said he looked
araund, and the new man was just sitting there looking at the two rows of bodies laid out
an the ground slowlycoming up at them thraugh the cockpitcanopy asthey landed. lttook
six ar seven trips to get all the bodies out."

The final tally of KlAs that day included 25 soldiers from Bravo Company, three from
Headquarters Company (the medics), and the three from B@vo Baltery,4142A ftil lery (the
FO team). Nothing this devastating had happened to a company since the battalion had
arrived in-country 12 monihs earlier. (See Appendix D.)

Others who witnessed the return of Bravo Company's KIA's included the Recon Platoon,
who had arrived back in the fire support base earlier in the day. As Alpha Company was
pulled off of the perimeter and airlifted out, the Recon Platoon assumed responsibility for
the fire support base's perimeter security. Util izing the equipment left behind by Alpha
Company, recon took its lirnited resources and spread them thinly around the perimeier.

Then with the arrival of every aircraft flying in from the base camp, a few rnore men were
added to the perimeter defense. Unfodunately this included many who had never been
to the field before and even a few who had been kicked oui of the field. Beiween ihe
cooks, KP's, clerks, "latrine orderlies," sick, walking wounded, guys coming and going on
R&R, and anyone else who could be found, the bunkers slowly fil led up.

SSG Hill: ?f fhls po int ! had been moved up to the position af platoon sergeant (SFC John
Shaffer had already DEROS'd), and had positioned myself near the chopper pad so that
nobody arriving could escape my attention. I had my squad leaders with me and as men
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would jump out of the arriving aircraft, I met then, made sure they had a weapon and
ammunition and gave them to a squad leader. The squad leader in turn would then take
them araund the perimeter line to a bunker, brief them and then return to my location ta
await the next arrival. Our goal was ta get at least two men in each position. Being next
to the helipad, we also got ta watch every aircraft that anived with Bravo's KIA'S.

"One pafticular helicopter landed and the crew chief began throwing the bodies out on the
ground as if they were just bags of trash. Something snapped inside me when I saw that.
I stood up with my rifle, walked up the side of the aircraft, jabbed the barrel of my rifle into
the side ofthe crew chief and yelled in his face that if he threw one more afthose men out,
I would shaat him. I probably wouldn't have, but I wanted him to believe I would. I told him
that I wanted him to very carefully lay each one ofthose men dawn on the ground with the
dignity and respect they deserved. I guess the look on my face convinced him. Hedidn't
say anything; he just did it. When he was dane, I told him that I wauld be watching far him
the next time he came in. Abaut this time a couple of my squad leaders who had been
watching me came up, grabbed me by the arms, and pulled me away. l think they were
afraid lwas really gaing to shoot him. They led me back to our bunker, where liust sat
dawn and bawled."

There was a small group of Bravo Company men who were not directly involved in the fig ht
that day. They were the members of the Weapons Platoon who had been left behind at the
FSB to man the Bl mm mortars that Bravo ComDanv had not taken to ihe field.

One of these mortar crewmen was PFC Kevin Watson. who recalls his memories and
feelings for that fateful day, "i was assig, ed to Brava Company Weapons Platoon and had
been in the field for a long time. We only canied one 81 in the field, sa I was back with the
battalion Moftar Platoon at the fire base. The battalion Moiar Plataan was made up of
guys fram all the companies. We could concentrate our fires better fram the fire base.

"l cauld hear the fight on the radio. We never could get a grid for a fire mission. Youcould
hear firing on the radio. We finally heard an NVA talking on the radio and then it went
oeao.

"They stafted bringing the bodies in on Hueys after awhile. We just stacked them up. A
Chinook came in, and we started loading the bodies on the helicopter. These were my
friends. I laaked over at the bunker line and there was a replacement taking pictures af the
badies. I went over and told him, 'Put up the God-damned camera and came help me load
the bodies.' He said, 'l'm an guard duty.' lguess I flipped out a little. I pulled out my .45
and told him, 'Those are my friends. Get down there and help me load the bodies.'

"We didn't have body bags, so we placed the badies on the floor near the front bulkhead,
two wide. Laying them on their backs, we interlocked their legs to block and brace them
so they wauldn't roll around on the floor of the aircraft while it was in flight. The ball mat
flooring was covered with human liquids, making it very slippery. l had seen hundreds of



enemy dead with little effect, but seeing that many Americans was a life-changing event
lwill neverbe able to forget. lt felt like failure. lwas never really the same after that."

Another person in the fire support base who was closely associated with the recovery of
the wounded and dead that day was the battalion surgeon, CPT Melvin Deutsch.

CPT Deutsch: "Four medics were with Bravo Campany on July 12, 1967, and as you
know, three af them werc killed. Of the three, Tyrone Combs had been in Vietnam the
longest. Just before July 12!h, I had noticed a few bruises on his face, and when I
questioned him, he told me that he had been in a fight with another soldier in Bravo
Company. I offered to switch him to anather company, but he said that he wanted to stay
with Bravo. Flayd Noe was relatively new. He had joined the battalion only about three
to four weeks priar. Unfortunately, I can't remember Ronald E. Crain, the third medic who
was killed.

"l rememberJahn Stroud, the ane medic who sur'/ived, quite well. He was black and abaut
6'6" tall. lwas told that he acted admirably duing the fighting. Hawever, afterwards, he
was concerned about staying in the campany. I remember him saying that he was 'too tall'
to be in a combat unit. l'm not sure, but Ithink he did stay with the company.

"l knew Bian Rushton quite well. He seemed like a'rough'man who was quite gung-ho.
I have no idea as to his competency as a leader. I suspect the situatian in which he found
himself would have ended the same way regardless of who the company commander
might have been. I knew Fred Bragg also. I cared for the aftillery men as well as the
nembers of our battalion. Bragg was a Mormon, and it was quite intercsting to talk ta him
about his religion. At the tine he was killed, he had only two weeks left on his tout in
Vietnam.

"an July 12'n,Iwas atthe battalion fire support base. ltwas inthelate afternoon or early
evening when allthe dead were brought in, and I think there were some wounded, but I
can't remember for sure. lt was hard to recognize most af the men. I did see and
remember quite vividly the bodies of LT Bragg and CPT Rushton. Rushton's eyes were
open and he had a large seious wound on one af his legs. LT Bragg's hands were tied,
indicating that he was probably captured and then killed. I don't remember seeing the
medics' badies, although I'm sure that I was looking for them.

"When Alpha Company depafted the fire base, we were Ieft with the Recon Platoan and
everybody that they could scrape up from brigade and the base camp to man the
perimeter. Sometime during the afternoon, several news people came out to visit the
battalion. one of them said something to the effect that 'l know their commander. He is
going ta attack you here tanight.' And he said it with a smile! I guess we all thaught that
an atlack was imminent.

"l jokingly told several soldiers from the Recon Plataan that the strategy was, if we get



attacked tonight, the enemy would overrun the Recon Platoon, stream into the center af
the fire base, and then we wauld have them surrounded! I collected about 30 full rifle
magazines, thinking that I would be able to hold aff a regiment if necessary. As you know,
the attack on the battalion fire base never materialized. Actually, I was a bit disappainted.
Even with the cooks, clefus, stragglers, and shifuers, we were dug in and well-prepared.

"For several nights after the battle, long bursts of tracer bullets wauld be fired up into the
night sky from the battalion camp in case any of the missing men were still nearby, but lost,
the thought being that they might be able to guide themselves in on the bursts of tracers.
Af caurse none were out there. but we didn't know that at the time."

The next stop for some of the Bravo Company men, both living and dead, was the 2"d
Brigade Forward, a cornbination headquarters and forward resupply point located at "The
Oasis." Next to the landing strip, Graves Registration had set up a receiving point for the
dead being flown in from battle sites in the 2'd Brigade area of operations.

A short distance away, the 4th l\,4edical Battalion had established a clearing station for
wounded who were being evacuated, sod of a triage polnt before they were moved on in
the medical treatmeni process. On this particular day, one ofthe 4'n Med surgeons, CPT
Edward Williams, was on duiy and ireated many of Bravo Company's wounded as they
passed ihrough on their way to the rear. In an exchange of letters in 1995 with Lewis
Easterly regarding the battle of 12 July, he shared the following:

CPT Williams: "l saw Rasser when he first came in. We talked a lot about t'he action.
Rasser descrl,5ed fo me being suffaunded four times, jamming four M-16s and using two
machine guns. He described being terrified at the first contact, then emotiorless as NyA
would appear and disappear as he fired. I think I remember him saying his glasses were
shot aff (although the pictures I have af him did not have g/asses.) ard a hand grenade
ralled right by him and did not go off (naybe it did?). Also I remember he anly had five men
from his platoon who escaped with him. lt was generally repofted that he was a one-man
firing machine; of course to me that was hearsay. The next time I saw him was maybe a
week after the battle when he came back to see me with a stomach problen, but I think
I was unaware af a possible concussion injury at the time.

"lrememberCPT Rushton on the rcdio as we listened to the battle. His voice was hoarse
and I knew he was badly wounded. He seemed to still be in command. I remember
thinking that the conmander, whoever he was, was hit bad. He was one I found dead it1
Graves Registration along with the Wiliamses and Waguespack. I remember specifically
looking forthe commander and being aware of him when I faund him because ofthe radia
contact.

"l alsa remember the kid named lwilliam Glennl Sfan/ey, I think from Tennessee, who
suNived being shot in the head as he lay wounded. What happened was the bullet rode
his skull and did not penetrate it. He was conscious when he arrived at the Oasls a/so. "
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Photograph of PFC Glenn Stanley taken by Peter Arnett in a Pleiku hospital bed h^/o days after ihe
incdent. DEwjng of the path of bl let made by ihe CPT Wilams, the 4' '  [ ,4ed surgeon who treated
PFCstanleywhen hewasbro!ghtintothebatialonaid station intheOas s on the 12ir, approximate y
four hourc after he had been shot in the head. (The drawing was done from nTernory ln 1995.)

CPT Williams: "l don't remember Charles Judge, and I dan't know if all of the dead came
to Graves Registration at the Aasis. I remember being in a relatively small area tent
determining the cause of death the best I could. Gary Waguespack was shat in the head.
That's why I remembered hin. He had to be lying dead next to another soldiefs leg
because his arm was up.

"ln a letter to my wife I say that we cared for about half of the majar casualties on July 12.
Obviously the more serious casualties were over-flown to the 71"t Evac ar 18!h Surgical.
This ceftainly can mean that I did not see all of the dead either.

"A Chinook landed on the helipad af fhe Oasls. The bodies were D9! in body bags. I
remember this because looking in the open back of the Chinook after the bodies were
removed, lsawaresidual piece of human brain on the floor. That picture has been in my
mind ever since, not happy thoughts!

"My letter to my wife also says / was told one of Rasse/s men strangled an NVA and
stabbed another - that's all I can say - these sforles came fo me at the clearing station at
lhe Oasls."

Meanwhile, as soon as the dead and wounded had been evacuated, Charlie Cornpany had
to move quickly and l ink up with Alpha Company. Darknesswasrapidlyapproaching,and
nobody wanted to be out on this battle fleld in ihe dark.

LT Easterly: "we worked until dark. CPT Maore came up to me and said,'Lew, Bab Nuth
hasn't been here long. I want you to go up front with the point and take us back in to Alpha
Company.'

"Jerry Elphick, the XO of Alpha Campany, said that when they got the word that we were
coming back in, his company commander told him, 'Jerry, l need a good man to go aut
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there to make sure that'C' Company gets in all right.' So Jerry went out to the edge of the
'A' Company perimeter to wait on us, while we were out there samewhere in the dark trying
to find him.

"We both had these little blinking strobe lights that you cauld turn on for a cauple of
minutes. Whlle I was trying to shink to about a foot-and-a-half tall every time I held ny
light aver my head and turned it on, Jerry told me that he had been trying to hide behind
a tree abaut four inches in diameter every time he turned his light on. As we got claser to
each ather, we were talking on the radio constantly. Finaly this voice comes out of the
darkandsays,'lsthatyouCharlie?lmeanCharlieCompany?'ltwasJerrytalkingtome.

"When we were finaly allinside the Alpha Campany perimeter, Charlie Companytookover
responsibility far half, while the FOs from both companies split the work they do between
themselves. We had five batteries of aftillery firing in direct support of us all night around
the perimeter, as well as anything else that could reach us by firing indirect. I was told later
that over 2,900 rounds were fired that night, while over 840 had been fired during the day.

"The accommodations that night were rather sparse, as allaf us had leftour packs behind
at our previous night's location when we had stafted out to find Bravo Campany; nabody
had any equipment. Someone had faund a poncho and rigged it up so that it extended off
of the top of a bunker roaf. The command group, which consisted of the company RTO
Seb/is, 7SG Tompkins, CPT Moore, the battalian RTO, and me, was all huddled together
trying ta stay warm under this poncho up against the wall of the bunker.

"The company RTA had fallen asleep and his head had drapped foMard onto his chest.
The 1SG, sitting nextto the RTO, was leaning back on the bunker, when one ofthe aftillery
shells came in very close. A piece of shrapnel about as long as my little finger and very
thin came whistling through the dark and hit the 1SG right in the side of the head; he
squealed like a stuck pig. The only way lcan describe the sound when the piece of
shrapnel hit was that it sounded like a watermelon that had been dropped on the
pavement. I guess that if he hadn't been sitting where he was, he wouldn't have been hit.
We got the medics over there, and they bandaged him up. He stayed there with us all
night instead of being medivaced.

"llooked around later for something to sleep on. Since lwas the second-most senior man
in the campany (the commander being senio), I laid claim to a piece of cardbaard about
18 inches wide and about 3ieet long that had come wrapped around a c-ratian box.
There was a log on the ground in front of the poncho, so I crawled out to it, laid down on
my piece af cardboard with my rifle between my legs, propped my head on the log, tilted
my helmet over my face, and slept all night in the rain. I have always said that I was
probably better off that night than everybody else because I had that piece of cardboard;
the rest of the guys didn't have antlhing."

Back in the fire support base things had quieted down for ihe night. The big fear was that
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ihe enemy force that had hit Bravo and Charlie Companies in the morning was going to
come back that night and try and take out the FSB. Everyone was on 100% alert.

SSG Hill: '2s a parf of the Recan Platoon's command group, the platoan leader, hb RTO,
our medic, and I had taken up residence in Alpha Company's command bunker. They had
left us an SB-22 switchboard that was supposedly wired into strategic bunkers around the
perimeter, those bunkers having phones in them that would enable us to talk with our
squad leaders. ltwas a good idea, butthe switchboard didn'twork. We didn'tknow ifthe
bat't 'e es vete dead or what.

"Since well over half the troops on the perimeter were 'green,' I decided that I needed to
walk the perimeter and check on everyone. Mavingfrom bunkerto bunkerwas slowgoing
in the dark. I wasn't familiar with the locatian af all the bunkers, much less all the clutter
lying about on the ground. At each bunker lgot directions to the next.

"The fire suppoft base had been laid out on the side af a hill, downhill sloping to the nofth.
For the most paft, the perimeter was a circle, all except far the noftheast corner.
lJnbeknownst to me there was a shallow gully there that caused two bunkers to be set
back further than those left and right af the gully, maybe 20 feet or so. As I walked away
from the bunker to the right ofthe gully, I inadvertently stepped down into the gully and aut
in front of the next bunker. l had taken about two steps taward the next bunker when I
heard the click-click of a bolt chambering a raund. I knew instantly I had made a mistake,
and that I needed to break that person's chain of thought, and quickly.

"Before taking another step, I began yelling as Ioud as I could, calling him every fout name
I could think of, and teling him that if he pu ed that trigger and shot me, I was going to
came over there and kick his ass all the way araund the perimeter. I kept yelling at him as
I walked slowly up to the bunker. As soon as / gol ihere, I stopped yelling, tald him that it
was aK, and talked with him far a few minutes. He told me that he was a cook and that
he had been staing at stumps out in front of his position ever since it had gotten da*,
when all of a sudden one af them began to move, coming right at him. At first he said he
cauldn't figure aut who was yelling or why, but then it dawned on him. I told hin no
problen, just stay aleft and he would be all right. I continued around the rest of the
perimeter and had no mare problems. Nobody ever said a word to me about all the yelling
and cussing either."

Page -42-



PART V

RECOVERY



PART V. RECOVERY

13 Julv 1967 (Thursday)

LT Easterly: "The next marning 1SG Tompkins was evacuated. Soon thereafter we
depafted our night location. The best way to describe our day is to say that we just
wandered around all day in the woads. We walked from about 4900 ti about 1700, and
didn't see a single tree that hadn't been hit by arti eryfire. That nightwe arrived atan ald
fire base an a road and joined back up with'A'CompanY Someane at brigade sent a
platoon offourt'anks down to join us. Aswe had gatten some of our equipment back that
marning, we were able to make hooch$ that night. Between having our hooches and the
tanks, we felt pretty good. Thetanks spotted themselves on all four sides of the perimeter.
Jeny Elphick and lwerc setting up the perimeterwhen a tank drcve up and a hatch flipped
open. A guy looked out, saw Jerry, and asked, 'Hey Lieutenant, where do yau want me
to park this tank?' Jerry laaked back up at him and said, 'Yau see that hole right there
(pointing at his)?' 'lt's mine, park on top of it.' lfelt pretty much the same way.

14 Julv 1967 (Friday)

"On the morning of the 14tn, we (A and C Companies) were sent back to the B Company
battle site of the 12th of July to check out the area for NVA bodies and equipment. lt took
us abouttwo hours ta get there. When we arrived, ACompanytookthe lefthalf orwestern
side of the area, while we took the right or eastern half. I was designated as the record
keeper for aur company, and Jerry Elphick was in charge of our people doing the actual
countrng.

"The scene of a battle, even a small ane, is hard to describe on paper since the colors and
the smells are what make the lasting impressions in your mind. I remember some things
vividly. Iwas loaking araund and found CPT Bian Rushtan's helmet (he was the Bravo
Company commander who was ki ed on the 12'"). lnside the helmet was his
communications SOI (Standard Operating lnstructions), which by some chance had not
been found by the NVA.

"Around noon Tom Seales came aver where lwas standing and sat down to eat lunch. He
had a can of cold chicken noodle soup from a C-ration meal which he apened and began
to eat. Two of the men from his platoon were bending over an NvA body about six feet
away and seemed reluctant to turn it aver. So Tom handed me his saup, stoad up and
walked aver, flipped the body over, went through the pockets, and then returned to me,
took his soup back and continued to eat it. What impressed me the mast was the fact that
the body was covered with flies and maggots, and it didn't seem to bother Tom at all.
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From left-to-right, Charlie Company officersi
1 LT Lewis Eastedy, 1LT Bob Nuth, and CPT Donald Moore.
Taken on the 14ih of Ju y while re-searching the battle site.

"Rasser had told me about the NVA that he had ki ed with grenades as they tried to cross
the creek. I had naticed the spot on the 12'", but had not gone down ta it. lt was about 20
meters to the west of where we had found the bodies of some of the men of Rassels
plataon. There was a slight flat space at the top of the hill. This was where I had seen the
two dead men with the open Bible between them. I walked down the hill and sure enaugh
there was the bush, and as I walked up to it, l noticed that the bank of the creek had been
caved in. I jumped down in the creek and there were four or five paftially covered NVA
lying there. Rasser had been right, he got at least four or five with grenades as they tried
ta crass the creek.

"l rememberthat one of the other bodies we saw that day was a good deal taller than t'he
rest, and we always thought that it was a Chinese advisor. He had been shot up pretty bad
during the fight. One of his legs was blown almost in half and his ankle was lying in his lap.
He was located just east of the big rockpile where I had seen the first casualties on the
12'h. The force afthe explosion had wrapped his body around a small tree.

"The final body count that day was 56 NVA killed. I know, because lturned the caunt in
myself. In a history of the 4h Division written about that battle, the body count is listed as
146.',
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The final search this day failed to produce any more American bodies; thus the realization
that the battalion had seven MlAs, presumed captured, was numbing. lt was almost
impossible to believe that we had seven Red Warriors captured by the NVA. Combining
this number with ihe 25 KlAs from Bravo Company, the total number of losses was
staggering (see Appendix C). Based on ihe number of soldiers present for duty that
rnorning, half the company was either dead or missing. Compounding this even fudher
wasthe number ofwounded, onlyseven soldiers involved in the battlewere uninjured. For
all practical purposes, Bravo Company was no longer a functional unit.

lPostscdpt: On the 171h ofJuly, the battalion relocated the FSB to YA 929151. As Bravo
Company was stil l continuing to rebuild and train, it provided FSB security. Alpha
Company conducted a search-and-destroy misslon in the vicinity of YA 905098, whlle
Charlie Company did the same around the new FSB.I

The story of individual battles never ends on the baitlefields for many combatants and their
families, and this story is no exception. Approximately two months after ihis batile, the
battalion executive officer was given a letter dated 1 September 1967, and was asked by
the battalion commander to deal with it.

The letter was written by N/IAJ Kannady, an ROTC Instructor and Survivors Assistance
Officef at the University of Arkansas, on behalf of the widow of SP4 Jerry D. Lanier, 2""
Platoon, Bravo Company. According to l\,4AJ Kannady, l\4rs. Lanier had been told by her
husband, shortly before his death on the 12'h of July, that he had saved 5500 for an R&R
with her and had placed the money in the cornpany safe in the battalion base camp while
he was in the field. N/rs. Lanier was contacting the battalion and asking for someone's
assistance in recovering her late husband's money.

On the 1oth of Sepiember 1967, MAJ George Long, the battalion executive officer,
accompanied by five witnesses, opened and searched the Bravo Company safe looking
for SP4 Lanief s money, only to flnd that ii was missing, along with money belonging to two
other soldjers. Questioning of the company clerks revealed that they had no knowledge
as to the status of the missing mone,.

The protocol was for the division Gfaves Registration personnel to contact the companies
of soldiers they were processing for return to CONUS and to collect any and all personal
belongings of the deceased. They wou ld then inventory, box, and sh ip the perso nal effects
to the next of kin listed in the ind ivid ual's records. This was stand ard proced u re th roug hout
the division, and was, sadly, being done daily.

Thinking that ihis may have been done, IVIAJ Long instructed the battalion personnel officer
(the Sl ) to contact the division Graves Registration office and determine ifthey had, in fact,
received the $500 in question back in Julywhen they had processed Lanier's remains. A
quick telephone call revealed that Graves Registration had no record of feceiving S500 for
SP4 Lanier.
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An ensuing investigation by NiIAJ Long revealed a completely different answer to the
q uesiion of ihe missing money. LocatingaDDForm 1 076, the Recofd of Personal Effects,
for SP4 Lanier, MAJ Long determined that in fact the company had turned over to Graves
Registration two $25 savings bonds and cash totaling $620, but that someone had lined
through and initialed the cash amount on the form, indicating he had not received ihe
money. To corroborate this record, MAJ Long also took a statement from the Bravo
Company supply clerk that he had witnessed the Bravo Company supply sergeant and the
Graves Registraiion sergeant counting the money at the Graves Registration Unit at the
iime of turn-in. MAJ Long then contacted the commanding officer ofthe division Graves
Registration Unit and asked him to begin an olflcial inquiry into the status of the missing
money.

In a return letter to MAJ Kannady dated 5 November 1967, l\,4AJ Long apologized for the
lengthy delay in answering, outlined his discoveries and courses of action iaken, and
based on advice from the 4th Division Staff Judge Advocate's office, suggested that if the
money was not located and returned, that he, as Mrs. Lanier's Survivors Assistance
Officer, should file a claim against the government on Mrs. Lanier's behalf for the missing
money. MAJ Long weni on to say that he would obtain any necessary forms and cedlfy
them as true copies to help substantiate any claim made by lvlrs. Lanier. IVIAJ Long closed
the letter by asking that he be given until 20 November either to locate the money or to
forward ihe necessary forms to subsiantiate a claim.

As no other record of ihis situation can be found, it is assumed that through the combjned
efforts of IVIAJ Long and Mrs. Lanier's S u rvivors Assistance officer, shewas eventuallyable
to recover her late husband's missing money. What happened to the ind ivid ual who stole
the money is unknown.
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PART VI. POST-BATTLE REPORTS

30 Juiv 1967 (Sunday)

The following siories were taken from a 30 July 1967 edition o'l the lvy Leaves. Writer SP4
Robert Boudreaux indicated that the battalion was working near the South Vietnamese
village of Vung Dat Am. Evidently the reporter, in search of a story, tracked thebattalion
down, looking for one or more of the Bravo Company survivors. He found SP4 Alberto
Lopez and PFC Charles W. lvloors, riflemen from the 1'' platoon, and PFC John Stroud,
a company medrc.

SP4 Lopez began his story by telling the reporter how quiet the night of the 1 1th had been
and howthe morning ofthe 12" began bleak and overcast. The reporter called itan ornen
ofeventstocome. Continuing, Lopez said: "Aur third platoan went on a sweep to link up
with Charlie Company. They ran into heavy small arms fire and were pinned down.

"our campany commander called far the second platoon to go out and help the third
platoon break contact. They too came under heavy small arms and sniper fire, but were
able ta pull back far enough to be joined by the remainder of the company. We then
moved an line and prepared to go afterthe third platoon, when suddenly'Chaflie's' moftars
began falling all around us.

"l have never seen anything like it in ny life. Everywhere we turned there were moftars
falling. Chadie seemed to be firing on us from all sides. Somehow Moors and lll fought
aur way back to the patrol base."

Lopez told the reporter that as they fought theif way out of the hail of enemy mortars and
bullets, the two men stopped to aid their wounded buddies and helped them back to iheir
patfoJ base. PFC Moors: "There were waunded everywhere, most of the guys were
getting hit from the shrapnel. I don't know haw the two af us made it like we d/d. / guess
somebady up there likes us."

The reporter related how the two men fired magazine after magazine of ammunition at the
enemy as they moved ffom bush to bush. Lopez: "Chaflie was getting ready to assault
and we were firing as fast as we could. When we gat back ta the patrol base, there were
already a lot of the guys back. A lot of them were wounded and the medics were calling
in 'dust-offs.' There was a medic IPFC Stroudl fi/ho must have been some kind af
superman. He was everywhere pulling the waunded into the perimeter, treating them and
warking to keep them frcm going into shock."

The repofter then switched to Charlie Company and their efforts to reach Bravo. The
reporter related how Charlie Company, discarding its gear in an effort to speed to the
rescue of Bravo Company, arrived at Bravo's pairol base a few hours later and re ieved the
battle-weary men. PFC Moors: "Those guys don't know how gaod they looked. When



they came in I guess 'Charlie' figured we were too much far him, and never assaulted our
position."

Boudreaux's interview of PFC Stroud [the medic SP4 Lopez talked about] began with some
backgfound information leading up to the battle on the 12th. PFC Stroud began his story
by telling the reporter that when his platoon leader lRoger Howse] was hit in the leg by an
enemy bulletduring the initial phase of the contact, he rushed over to aid him. Offtohis
right another man had been hit by mortar shrapnel. "lt all happened so fast, I didn't have
time ta think." Disregarding the intense enemy fire, the "Doc" ran from wounded soldier to
wounded soldier treating each man and moving the more severely injured ones back to the
company's pairol base to be evacuated. PFC Stroud: 'Charlie had us surrounded and he
kept dropping moftars wherever we turned."

Continuing, the repoder related how PFC Stroud and the remaining members of Bravo
Company, while under continual enemy fire, struggled to reiurn to their patrol base.
Boudreaux wrote how, as the battle raged around PFC Stroud, he steadfastly tended
Bravo's wounded soldiers.  l twasn' tunt i lChar l ieCompanyarr ivedthatthedust-of fscoud
safely begin to land and start evacuating the wounded and bring PFC Stroud the
replacemeni medical supplies that he so desperaiely needed. The lvy Leaves rcpotlel
concluded his interview by saying that it was only after the survivors of Bravo Company
were finally evacuated back to the FSB ihat PFC Stroud allowed himself to relax.
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,1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY
CHAIN OF COMMAND

8-14 July '1967

Baitalion Commander
Battalion Executive Officer
Battalion S- 1
Battalion S-2 (11 July)
Battal ion S-2 (12 July)
Battalion S-3
Battalion Assistant S-3
Battalion S-3 Air
Batialion S-4
R2tf , l i^n Srrrda^n

Rrt t r l i^n ( :hrnl . in

Battalion Sergeant lvlajor
HHC Commander
Recon Platoon Leader
4.2 l\,4ortar Platoon Leader
B Battery 4142 Atlillery
Air Force Liaison Officer

Alpha Company Commander
Execuiive Officer
First Platoon Leader
Second Platoon Leader
Third Platoon Leader
Weapons Platoon Leader

Bravo Cornpany Commander
Executive Officer
Fifst Platoon Leader
Second Platoon Leadef
Third Platoon Leader
Weapons Platoon Leader

Charlie Company Commander
Executive Officer
First PJatoon Leader
Second Platoon Leader
Third Platoon Leadef
Weapons Platoon Leader

Lieutenant Colonel Corey Wrjght
Major George Long
Captain Louis Sylvester
Captain l\,4ichael Downs
Captain Joseph Witkowski
l\,4ajor Lawrence Gardnef
Not Available
Not Available
Capiain Robert Sheldon
Captain l\,4elvin Deutsch
Not Available
Noi Available
Captain Perry White
Lieutenani Edwin WilJiams
Lieutenant David Jennings
Not AvailabJe
Not Available

Captain Thomas Borlund
Not Available
Not Available
Not Available
Not Available
Not Available

Captain Brian Rushton
Not Available
Lieutenant Roger Howse
Lieutenant Gary Rasser
Lieutenant Gaylord Nootz
SFC Leman Hunier

Captain Donald l\,4oore
Lieutenant Lewis Easterly
Lieutenant Jimmy Johnson
Lieutenant Thomas Seales
Lieutenant Charles Harmon
Lieutenant Robert Nuth
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Copy No. of Copies
HQ, 1" Battalion,
YA 889136
081200 July 67
XBT

12Lh Infantry

FRAG O 2-67

REF: N/ap 1:50,000 SHEET 6536 l l l

1,  SITUATION:
a. Enemy Forces: Current INTSUM.
b. FriendlY Forces: Current SITREP
c. Attachments/Detachments: NoChange

2. MISSION: Bn conducts S&D 100700 ihrough 140700 in the south PLEI DJRAO
LUCK RIDGE, reestablishes screen in zone 140700 Jul

3. EXECUTION:

a. Concept: Three-phase operation oftwo mutually supporting companies to S&D
along designated routes and exploitation of aerial artil lery strikes - reestablish screen in

zone.

(1) Maneuver:
PHASE l: co A returns by rts, assumes R/S at FSB co c moves' occupies

psn AXE NLT 091500 Jul concurrent with Co B move to occupy psn SPEAR NLT 091500
JUry." 

PHASE ll: Co B & C conducis S&D 100700 through 140700 Jul occupying
psn's Z-R and 1-4 respectively with Co B exploiting aerial artil lery strike zone '1 10700 July

and Co C spt's from PSn 1 thru 3.
PHASE lll: co B moves to psn Y, establish screen in zone 140700 to 170700

Jul. co C DreDared for extraction in LZ 140900, conducts supported CA into LZ MIKE,
occupies psn B, establishes screen in zone 141500 to 170700 July

(2) Fires: Prioriy to SPEAR in PHASE I and llto include defensive targets in psn's
Z-R, to Co C in PHASE lll to include prep of LZ MIKE Priority io unit in contact

(3) Air: Tactical air priority to S PEAR, then io u nit in contact Aerial artil lery-siike
area ta;get NLT 100500. Upon cancellation' cmbt proof requested stride SPEAR and AXE
vicinity psn's Z,X,T, and 2.

b.  CoA
(1) One 30 man platoon, 30 minute alert, aerial C/A.
(2) Daily platoon patrols, emphasis to south' dayinight
(3) Coniinue improvement of FSB defense
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c. CoB
(1) N4utually supporting platoons S&D from Co
(2) Detail search of aerial artil lery strike area.
(3) 52 debriefs strike results in psn T.

d.  CoC
(1) Support Co B maneuver by fire, maneuver, blocks south flanks
(2) Coofdinate all fires with Co B.
(3) Responsible fof, reports and prepared LZ while moving, and in psn '1 to 3
(4) Prepares for aerial C/A - Details instructions 131500 in psn 4, Phase Il

e. Recon Platoon
(1) Upon detachment, return to FSB, OCA Co A
(2) Prepares for 30 minute alert Aerial C/A
(3) Prepares to screen battalion in Phase ll l.

f. Composite Modar Platoon: No Change

8/4142 Atlillery'. No Change.

3/B/4 Engineers: No Change.

Coordinating Instructions.
(1) SoP Reporting
(2) EEI

a. Fresh NVA/VC psn, platoon of larger.
b. Sightings - Headgear
c. Tree sniper psn.

I .

h.

(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)

(7)
(8)
(e)

Three k!lometer aerial safety line, 100001 to 100600 July
Defcon must be coordinated between Co B & C to facilitate Co B' yet

complimeni Co C requirements.
Frequent navigational checks, smoke streamers and air'
Strlke analysis:
a. Photos of crater damage to bunkers.
b. Tree blow-down.
c. Dispersion.
d. lndicatlons of dead orwounded.
e. Secondaryexplosions.
f. Other s!gnificant destructions
LRRP insertions in North, 14-15 July
Co B to assume mission on 17 July, Co A to screen
PoW evacuation irnmediately after ffiendly serious wounded
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4. ADI\,IIN ISTRATION AND LOGISTIC

a. General - Plan for immediate resupply, 10-13 July

b. l\,4ater'al Services.
(1) Co B requests LRRP Rations,4 meals
(2) ASR - No Change, No limit when in contact.
(3) Emergency Class V resupply available at FSB
(4) Priority resupply:

a.  Class V
b. Water
c. Rations

(5) 81 mm mortar: 10 rounds il luminaiion, minimum 30 rounds HE

c. lvedical - SOP.

5, COI\,IMAND AND SIGNAL

a. Signal
1. current Sol, SSI in effect.
2. Emergency signal, red/yellow smoke.
3. Night mark psn, 8 1mm illumination, maximum elevation, chl, 1 25 second

iime.

b.  Command
1, FSB
2. Aerial c&C when in contact or aerial c/A
3. With reserve when committed or linked-up jn objective area

Acknowledge:

ANNEX: wright
A - Operational Overlay LTC

Distribution
Special

OFFICIAL

Gardner S3
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TIME LINE FOR 12
(Excerpts frorn the battalon

JULY 1967
dai y staff journal)

Charl e Company reports to battalion the departure of its 2"" Platoon from
L-le con pa'ry patro base on a pe in erer sweep ro tr're south.

Charlle Company reports to battalion their 2"" Platoon has made contact
with 12 NVA, kil ing three of them. Bravo Company is then alerted b,
battalion to check out ts immediate afea due to the close proxirnity of the
enemy force, and to establish radio contact with Charlie Company's 2"'
P atoon in older to secLre Ih is 'orce

An OP from Charlje Cornpany fepofts observing 30 NVA moving to the
northwest.

Bravo Company repofts to baital on that its 1"' Platoon
on a sweep east and then south of its company patro
feporis observing enemy movement south of the patrol

base. The platoon
base

2"" Platoon Charlie Company repofts NVA to their nofth then they are
sighted by the enemy. 2'o Platoon directs mortar and adil lery fire agajnst
the enemy forces.

3" P atoon Bravo Company, which ls west of the company
d rected to establish comrnunications with 2"" Platoon C
swing north and attempt to ink up with them.

patfo base, is
Cornpany and

reporis enemy movement around their
fires are placed continually around the
are surrounded and cannot move.

2"" Platoon Chaf l ie Company
position. Aftilery and mortar
platoon. A shoft time aterthey

2'" P atoon Charlie Company reports enemy forces between them and the
3'" Plaioon of Bravo CornpanV.

Ap p rox
1015

Alpha Company is glven a warning orderto be prepared to be airl i fted to LZ
Yankee, vicinity YA 835'117. upon arrival of alrcrafl at ihe FSB
Simultaneously, battalion requests support to man the FSB perlmeter and
orders the Recon Platoon to return to the FSB to provide C&C for FSB
secunty.

The C&C heLicopter
h.t t la e, f6 . : rn/ lnd

Sergeant l\,4ajor.

arflves at FSB and is immediately
th-- battallon commander, arti l lery

airborne over the
LNO, and ihe 53



Approx
1056

3'" Platoon Bravo Corr]pany reports that an enemy force is moving across
theirfrontto the noftheast. They engage the force, ki l ing tur'o.

1100 Charlie Company reports that their 2"d Platoon and the 3'd Platoon of Bravo
Company have an enemy force between therr in a cross-f re.

1108 Bravo Cornpany fepofts thai ener.ty movement is
and souihwest of the company pairol base, and
f i roa rra hain.  , , t i  iTad

observed to their south
that arti l  ery and mortar

1125 Charlie Company feporis one WIA from Bravo's 3" Platoon. This report is
quick y fo lowed by a second report ihat the 3'd Platoon is being assaulted
by a large enemy force from the wesi and southwest.

1140 2"" P atoon Charlie Company reports
L' ee dise ent d reci o^s ,,rf i e 3 -

receiving mortar and sma I arms fire

they are receiving enemy fire from
Platoon Bravo Company reports

1145 Bravo Company comes under heavy attack as t moves to try to
trapped 3'" Platoon. Order of march is l" Platoon, 2"" Platoon.
group and the Weapons Platoon. Aftll lery fires that 3'" Plaioon
cal l ingtotheirsouth are i f ted sothatthecornpanycan move in.
Platoons go on-line to assault the objective.

relieve its
com n't and
had been
1'r  and 2"d

1204
The Recon Platoon arrives at the FSB.

FAC (Cidef 25) cheaks into the AO.

1240 The Bravo Company Con]rnander js badly wounded. and the arti l lery FO
takes temporary command of the con'rpany.

1230 Charlje Company iinks up wiih its 2"" Platoon and pulls back into their patrol
base

1330 Char ie Company reports enemy fires on Bravo Company have ceasedl no
radio contact wlth Bravo CornDanv.

1404 The fir ing dies down and Charie Company ls ordered out io find Bravo
Company

Charlie Cornpany departs theif perimeter en route to Bravo Companys
nioht location and Dattol base.

Approx
1445

Charlie Company arrlves ai Bravo Company's night locai on.

Approx
1515

A pha Company arrives at Char ie Company's location.



1530 Charl ie Company depads Bravo's
Company personnel ,  whi le Alpha
security.

nighi location to seafch for more Bravo
Company remains behind to provide

Approx
1615

Charlie Conrpany discovers a nurnber of Bravo Company KIA and SP4
Glenn Stanley, who is wounded. The recovery process has begun

Dark Charlie Company terminaies its search and reiurns to Alpha's location.

Note: As soon as medivac aircraft can get into Bravo Company's LZ, evacuaiion of ihe
wounded is begun Once Charlie Company discovers the majority of Bravo's KlAs. and
can cut an LZ, those remains afe picked up and also taken back to ihe FSB for processing.
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APPENDIX D

BRAVO COMPANY
PERSONNEL ROSTER



Present For Duty W Attachments
Bravo Company, '1sr Battal ion, 121h Infantry Regiment

12 July 1967

-  KILLED lN ACTION (31)-

Bravo Companv (25)

SP4 Pernell R. C aud - 2"" platoon
SP4 Gary T. Co eman
PFC Roberi E. Echo s - 3'" platoon
PFC Gerald L. Fox - 2"" p atoon
PFC Will ie K. Full iove - 2"' plaloon
PFC Eddie C. G bson
SP4 Stephen J Groth
PFC John A. Har an - 3'" platoon RTO
PFC Wandle L Hickman - 3'" platoon
PFC David l\L Horn - Wpns platoon
SGT Jerry L Hughes - 3'" platoon
SGT Rockwell G. Jam son
SP4 Charles M. Judge Jr. - 2"' p atoon
SP4 Jerry D. Lanier - 2"" platoon
PFC Nlilford G. McKee
PFC Joseph L Ml er
SGT Owen R. t\4ontgomery - 3'" p atoorl
2LT Gaylord E Nootz - 3" p atoon
PFC Salvatore F Po izzi
CPT Brian W. Rushton - HQ platoon
PFC Troy L. Sexton - Wpns p atoon
PFa P^har,  A qr.rn^a tro n!r t^.n

PFC Gary L WagLrespack
PFC Foyd C W iams- Wpns platoon
qa:T l \7T^.6c \A/ i l i rmc -  ? ' r  n l r t^^.

Headquarters & Headquarters Companv Medics (3)

SP5 Tyrone Combs
SP4RonadE Crain
PFC Floyd R. Noe

Bravo Batterv. 4/42 Arti l lerv (105 towed) (3)

1LT Fred G Bragg Jr.
CPL Leroy H Charboneau
SGT Janres M. Haider
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- suRVlvoRS (38)-

Bravo companv

Headouarters P atoon (1)

PFC Nathan B. Henry 'WlA (POW4

1"'Platoon (5)

2LT Roger E. Howse WIA (platoon leader)
SP4 Henoc Gomez - WIA
SP4 lvevin D Peitunen WIA (deceased)
SGT Alan Th el
PFC Roy D Janres - WIA

2"" P atoon (8)

'1LT Gary Rasser (platoon leader)
SSG Harry C Tingler - WIA
SGT Byron Thompson - WIA
PFC Charles W. l\/ loors WIA
PFC Thomas A Garty - WIA
SP4 Alberto Lopez-Rodriquez - WlA
So4 -a 

. les c Sc- ele -  W A (DOW-MIA. deceased'
PFC G enn Stanley WIA

3'" P atoon (4)

SP4 [,4art jn S Frank - WIA (PoW deceased)
SGT Cordine Mctv4urray - WIA (POW)
PFC Stanley A. Newell - WIA (POW)
PFC R chard R Penicone WIA (POW

Weapons P atoon (9)

SFC Len]an Hunter
SGT Robert Chin
SP4 Edward J Hagedy l l  WIA
PFC L oyd Hahn
SP4 Frank Lackey WIA
SP4 Robert L. Mackey - WIA
SP4 James L Mcl\,4i l l ion - WIA
PFC Edward l\,4oody - WIA
SP4 Robed L. Pafks - WIA

unknown Platoon (5)

PFC Cud L Ahlden - WIA
SP4 Alvy J Alexander - WlA D2



PFC Lynn D Lotze - WIA
PFC John J. I \ ,4oran - WIA
PFC James L. Van Bendegom - WIA MIA deceased

Headquarters & Headquarters Companv Medics (2)

PFC Ronald C. W ams WIA
PFC John Stroud

Bravo Companv. 4h Enqineers (4)

SSG Johnathan W Davenport - WA
PFC James E Gatson - WA
SP4 James E. Hov s - WIA
SP4 Donald G. Thomas - WIA

- TOTALS .

Bravo Con'rpany
Headquaderc and Headquarters Company
Bravo Battery 4/42 Arti ery
Bfavo Company 4'" Engineers

Total

57
5
3

Plus there ls a Vet io be determined number of Bravo Company personnelwho wefe either in
the FSB (weapons p atoon) or back in the base camp (headquarters) and not in the fie d
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APPENDIX E

POW REPORTS



Battalion, 12th Infantry Regiment, 4'n Infantry Division
"Red Warriors"

YA837125, Pleiku Province, Republic of Vietnam
Operation Francis Marion

12 Julv 1967

ComPiled and Edited

noo"?Yn. nirr

It was only after ihe final tally of those found on the battlefleld was completed, that it was
determined by battalion that seven soldiers from Bravo Company were missing and
oresumed caDtured. Those seven soldiers were: SP4 l\,4artin S Frank, PFc Nathan B
Henry, SGT Cordine l\,4clvlurray, PFC StanleyA. Newell, PFC Richard R Perricone, SP4
James F. Schiele, and PFC James L. Van Bendegom.

In the posfcaptivity debriefings it was determined ihat all seven Red Warrior POWs had
been held in prison camps along the Vietnam/Cambodia border for several months aftef
their capture. Each h as h is own survival story. Sadly, two men, SP4 Sch jele and PFC Van
Bendegom, did not survive, and their remains have never been recovered

SP4 JAMES F, SCHIELE

.1 .'

SP4 James Schiele, a member of 2nd platoon, was last seen by his platoon leader as Bravo
Companywas forced io wi thdraw, leaving him behind. Hehadbeenhitanumberoft imes
by automatic weapons fire in the legs and chest, and was thought to be dead PFC
Perricone stated in his debriefing upon retufning to the U.S. that the enemy carnp
commander of Carnp 102 told him that Schiele had died of his wounds received in the 12
July fight. However, since ihefe was no positive proof of deaih, the U S Army placed
Schiete in the Missing in Action caiegory. In December 1990, a U S field team reported
the results of their re;ent trip into the Centfal Highlands of South Vietnam During their
visit. thev interviewed a doctorwho saw severalAmerican POWs during 1967 The doctof
was aware that American soldiefs had died athis hospital and were buried neafby One
of these repoTts was tentatively correlated to Schiele (Case # 1112). Other information
concerning Schiele traced his movements from ihe afea of his capture, to his turnover to
the 66ih Regimeni, and later to B-3 Front Headquarters



NVA FIELD HOSPITAL V211
IN CAMBODIA

I I l'/l'L',L i 
.} a .r I

lli$f">.- /
n'\rygdPl

The upper red circle denotes the probable location of the NVA field hospital V21 1 where
several of the Bravo Company POWs were treaied for iheir wounds, and purportedly
where SP4 James Schiele and PFC James Van Bendegom died about two weeks after
entering the hospiial. The V21 t hospital and ihe B-3 Front POW camp were a complex
of buildings in several separate locations, all within close proximity of each other in
Cambodia. The camp's graveyard, where Schiele and Van Bendegom were supposedly
buried, was associated with the hospiial. The hospital itself was located just inside the
tree-line on the north side of the Tonle San River, while ihe Stoeng Ta Pok tributary
bordered the east side of the hospital complex. In December 1990, a Joint Task Force for
FullAccounting (JTFFA) interviewed severalwitnesses regarding the status of Schiele and
Van Bendegom, and the location of the field hospital and its graveyard ln February 1995'
a joint team reported thai it was able to find the probable location of the V21 t hospital, but
as of the writing of this document, no further information regarding JTFFA search resulis
of the V211 hospital area has been made public. Source: Task Force Omega Inc.
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oi rc,1 oi1 .  oe;h. ,G

PFC JAMES L. VAN BENDEGOM **-*.

PFC James Van Bendegom was also wounded in the same engagement' treated by one

of his own medics, Ieft b;hind, and then captured by the North Vietnamese He was last

ieen ative by other Americans captured in the same batile about one week after his

""otur" 
ui" 6ottrnistfield hospital in carnbodia, not far fforn his capture locaiion One

"i[n" 
iuL"""o enr"ricans was later told by the North vietnamese commanding otficer of

ni" curooJi"n pri"on camp that pFc van Bendegom had died in their fietd hospital of the

*o,,no" f,u n"o L""ived on the 12th of July Van Bendegom was categorized as a Prisoner

ot War, anO tnen assigned case # 0762 and declared "dead/body not recovered" in May
't gZ3. ttis death was also tentatively correlated to the same docior's repori ihat correlated

Schiele's case.

SSG NATHAN B. HENRY

TheeditorofP,o' 'v ,Publ icat ianspub| ishedaShort interViewgivenbySSGNathanHenry
i" isfi.1hi" iti.rview was posted on 'pownetwork 

org> web site and is the source of the

intoimation used to create the narrative about SSG Henry' ln 1997 Paul Judge (bfother

;;h;;; i;;;;i;;Je contact wltn Henry, boih bv maiL and l9l?plo",: 
and conducted

" 
J"rt i"i"ti"*' in an attempt to find moie information about h js brother' For ease of

reading, boih interviews have been combined

At the time of his capture Henry was a PFC, but because of Department ofthe Army policy'

n" *"" pto."t.O *hile in captivity. In his first interview Henry indicated that he was a RTO

ii"ll"-tJL"pn"nu 
"perator) 

at his'time of capture ln his second interview Henry revealed

ii '"t n" hud O"un un RTO in the headquarters platoon and was wounded in the back when

the radio (PRC-25) he was carrying was hit by a rifle bullet

Henrv did not have any information about the 3'd platoon that was pinned down but was

.lj" i"i*"1 
"l '.n" 

information after Bravo Company went to 3'd platoon s rescue and was

""uor i ] t intr , "Sameambush,HestatedthatboththecompanycommanderandtheFo*"iE tirr"o eativ in tne fighting and from that time on, the situation degraded Into confusion

Neither Henry or ihe othef RTO were able to get anyone on thelr raolos

When Henry was captured, he only remembers seeing dead soldiers around him He

didnlt see the other pOWs from Bravo Company until after they were grouped together

l.ritG Uoro"r. His captors spoke relatively good English At the time of his capture'

i"nry *as puzrt"a why he and the others weretaken prisoners' as thrs was something the

f.lVA'nuO not Oon" beiore During his captivity, the only other POWS (besides his small

g;;;pj;h"ii;t";*were pilots Aicording to t-he 1oz7 interview, Henry considers himself

to be lucky to have been taken prlsoner'

The one survivor of whom Henry was aware was Stanley lt seems that after the wal'

siunl"y 
"ont""t"O 

Henry's family and told them of how he had been shot by the NVA' left
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for dead; and crawled off inio the jungle where he was later found Like ihe oiher POW
farnilies, Henry's family never knew he was alive until he was released on the sth of March
1973. Henry currenily resides in Tennessee.

SGT CORDINE McMURRAY

The story and interview about SGT Cordine l\4cl\,4urray was published in The Detroit News
on the 3bth of April 2000. Mcl\,4urray was 60 years old at the time of his inierview At the
time of his captufe, he was the Platoon Sergeant of ihe 3'o platoon of Bravo company'
lvlcl\lurray related to the reporier how he and his four fellow prisoners were tied together
by a rope and literally h ung o n to one another for su rvival lvlcl\'4urray said: "During the tnp
narth to North Vietnam, we were crossing a bamboo bridge and one of the guys slipped
We held hin up." Below them was a deep fiver filled with big rocks- "You could see the

iepth of the river and also the rocks below. Either you would have fallen in the iver and

ai'iinea, or nit the racks and died lf he had fatlen, we all would have fallen in and

i.*n.a." When asked by the reporter about the others captured with him' Mcl\4urray

riepliea:,rwo or them died within two days of our initial capture.,, lvlcl\4uray continued his

"iiry "no 
ret.mO"red. "l stitlthink aboutthe day some Air Force p.lanesflew over us while

wewere l:eing transpofted by the Notth Vietnamese soldiers andiust haping those planes

didn't flre on us." The reporter concluded the interview with comrnents about the end of

the war and how l\y'cMufray had accepted it all. In a followup story on ihe 8r'of l\ '4ay 2000'

l\y'cl\.4urray told anoiher person thal "Sonetimes yau try to get away from it, but you know
yo, 

"un'i 
- it'" who you are. t got shot up and I still have shrapnel in ny leg lt brings it

'back. I got shot in tlhe shoulder and face and I got a hand grenade in my right leg " Aftel

his releise in the Sprjng of 1973, McNilurray stayed in the Army and made it a career' He
retired as a Sergeant Nilajor.

PFC RICHARD R, PERRICONE

PFC Richard R. Perricone's story came from three sources; the book We Came Home' an

interview in a local newspaper, The Daily News' and an interview with Paul Judge' the
brother of one of the Bravo company men killed on the 1 2th of J u ly' l 96T lnsteadoftrying
to son out the comments made by the two reporters, Judge, and Perricone, I have taken
the text from all three sources and combined thenr into a single story, as ali the facts came

from Perricone anpvay. The one thing that is impodant to know, but doesn't fit into

Perricone's story, i; thai his family had not known that he had been captured uniilthe day

of his release. His family had believed all that time that he was dead and an MIA

PFC Perricone was assigned to the 3'd plaioon of Bravo Company On the '12th of July

f 6o], nl" pf"toon, ,ndert-he command of2LT Gaylord Nootz, was ambushed and overrun

eiior io reiving their company patrol base that morning' Perricone remembered that some

ofthe men i r i the 18-man platoon (out of the 30 author ized) had complained to the

company commander about the shortage of people if they^walked into trouble that day

It wasn'ijust this particular day ihat concerned the men of 3'd platoon, they had been
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terrified during this whole mission about the shortage of personnel Theyknewtheydidn't
have enough people to put up much of a defense

The ambush was very intense and short; maybe no more than 15 minutes The NVA were

so close that 3'd platoon could hear them talking to each othef in the elephant grass around

them. Perficone was assigned a radio (PRC-25) to carry' Dufing the battle he got on the

radio and called for help. He said ihat he could not get anyone to answer him He was

abletocontactagroupof jet f ightersthatwereloadedwithnapalm,butthepi lotstoldhim
thev could not help because they had been told to "hold." Perricone begged for help, but

couldn't get anyone to answer. He finally took the radio off and threw jt away

Cordine Mcl\,4urray was Perricone's platoon sergeant Perricone remembers that during

thebatt |eMcMurrayye| |edathimtoWatchoutforanNVAbehindat|eeSturr ]pthatwas
between them. When Perricone tried to shoot the NVA' he missed and wounded

H,4cV unay ln tne tace and ear. lt was not a serious wound but l\ '4clvlurray gave him a hard

iirl ioo,lt t *nir" they were PoWs. The NVA behjnd ihe stump threw a hand grenade

"ip"iri"""". 
wn"" it exploded, it knocked him unconscious' but other than some minor

cuts. it didn't do any serious damage

cominqi toonthebatt |ef ie|d 'Perr iconeawoketof indaNorlhVietnameseso|diergoing
tni"rgi hL po"t"t.. The NVA thought he was dead, so he lay stil l, pretending to be After

"""rc"ning 
nit, tt ey cut off his boots Thinking the NVA were not watching him' Perricone

moved, b-utthe NVAsawthe movement, rushed back and jumped on him Hetriedtograb
a knife irom one of the NVA, but they quickly tied him up with commo wire; h js hands were

tied so tight that the circulation was cut off. Perricone hadtowatch asthe NVA searched
the otheiAmerican bodies around him. lf ihey found someone alive, Perricone said that

the NVA executed him with a shot to the head. Checking himself over' he found that he

had sustained shrapnel wounds to one of his arms, and had been shot in one leg His

"rptui", 
ufong with seven other soldiers' began an ordeal that for him was to last 2 064

days.

Afterthe battle was over, an Army helicopterflew into the battle area The NVA stopped

wirat tney wefe doing and shoved Perricone to the ground. As the helicopter passed

directly over Perricone, the NVA opened fire on it and drove it off

Perficone was moved quickly across the Cambodian border by his captors whefehewas

turned ovef to the headquaders ofthe 66th NVA Regiment, who moved him to the B-3 Front

headquarters. There he received sonre treatment for hls wounds His first stop was a

i"""iJ 
""ro "o"riz0 

miles inside Cambodia' where he spent the next four months He

hei h,^ro other Amer'can POWs from another unit there

The huts in the camp were constructed of small trees cut and iaid together' each about

three inches apart. The roof coverings were made of large-leaves The beds were

constructed of strips of bamboo tied together with smallvines There were stocks ihat ran
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lthe whole length of the bed that were made ffom the trunks of tur'o trees, each about five
inches in diameter. At night the prisoners had to put their legs in the stocks.

The prisoner's daily rouiine generally consisted of getting up at 0530, and eating thejr first
meal at 0700, which usually consisted two-to-three cups of rice and the tops of sweet
potato plants. Then ihey would just lay around all day. At 1600 they wefe given their
second and last meal ofthe day, and then betur'een 1730 and '1800, locked up again for
the night. Bathing was restricted to about once every seven to 10 days, depending which
guard was on duty.

In the first days Perricone didn't know what they were going to do to him. Hewasworried
about torture, that they'd pull his fingernails out or something worse They didn't do that'
theyjust beat him so badly, they bfoke his nose. He and the other prisoners were kept in
a thatched hut, their feet in the stocks ai night They were forbidden to talk io each other'
so they devised a meihod of communicating by singing, which for some reason the guards
permitted. Because their prison camp was so close to the border, Perricone and ihe othefs
in his hut made a decision that ihey should try to escape

In their planning they decided that if they could escape and head south, they would
probably be rescued. Because Perriconewasthe healthiesi, itwasdecided hewould be
ihe one to jump the guard. Waiting untilthe dumbestguard was on duty (they called him
"Elvis" because of his long sideburns), Perricone jumped him and took him out wjth a rock
The three prisoners ihen ran as fast as they could in the direction they thought was south.
Because of their poor health, the group couldn't stay together' Shortly they heard some
shots and ihen they were captured again, all except for one guy. As soon as they were
back in their prison camp, they were beaten severely with sticks. A few days lateraViet
Cong (VC) guerril la came into the camp with a sack dripping blood. The other prisoners
thought they were going to be shown the escapee's head. Instead, theVCtooka bloody
shirt out of ihe sack. The shirt had the missing prisoner's name on it and about 20 bullet
holesini t .  TheVC told the pr isoners ihatwas al l  ihaiwas lef t  of their f r iend.

The prisoners were held in their jungle camp until Thanksgiving Day 1969, when they
began a three-week trek io North Vietnam. Alongtheway Perricone remembers passing
truckloads of soldiers and supplies moving south to fight the Americans. At one point
during their long walk to North Vietnam, they met two other captive American soldiers. At
some point along the trail north, two captives (unclear which ones) became ill, were taken
off into the jungle, executed, and their bodies were left behind Upon afrival at their
destination in Hanoi, ihey were interned in ihe Hoa Lo Prison, which eventually became
known as the "Hanoi Hilton." Perricone was kept locked in a cement room with other
prisoners, mosi ofwhom were pilots. Those prisoners who "misbehaved" were placed in
solitary. The prisoners were told that ihey were never going home; that ihey would be tried
as war criminals after the war. They were shown movies of antiwar protesters in the
States, which hurt the prisoners to see. Eventhough Pefricone was confined to a locked
cement room in a North Vietnamese prison, it was stil l better than where he had corne

E6



from. The sanitary conditions were greatly improved' and he heard news of what was

going on back in the States.

The more recent prisoners were able to tell the others aboui the short skirts girls were

*""ring 
"Oout 

'ff6ter power," free love, and new cars They were even allowed to llsten

to nmeiican music. the North Vietnamese would play Connie Francis records' but always

""ltlJ 
n"i fr"n"i. connie The prisoners ate pumpkins and cabbage' a nd wefe sometimes

evengivenbread. The nu mber one topic of prisoner discussion was food Theywouldtalk

about"how great it would be to go out for pancakes' or to have a big steak

Perricone remembers the December 1972 bornbing of Hanoi very vividly His room had

no windows, but he did have a srnallventilation opening in the ceiljng it was through this

smati ooeninq ne was able to see flashes of bright light and hear sirens He could also heaf

"urf""J-io-ii i 
rl"riles being launched next to the prison compound. The 1973 carpet

botbinga ,"t" u"ry close to the prison lndivid ual bombing ru ns seemed to lasi th ree or

i*r'tin-;""l tn" ptLoners were ierrified of being killed in these raids after all the iime of

being sick and being held in captivity

Some prisoners cracked under the pressure, strain, and hardship of being confined so

lono. Perricone does notconoemn thosewho comp!iedwiththe Nofih Vietnanrese; they

*"i" rffo*"J to *r'te home and were even given a few privileges. During captivity in the

north, some POWS just gave up and died The NVA were constantly asking the POWS
;'io*'tiny inno""ni pejpte oio you kill?" and telling them that they were going to be put

on trial as 'war crim inals,'; of that "they were never going home " a nd 'Nixon was spend Ing

all their money on the war'" Perricone tells others that the Norih Vietnamese were a

"irrnq" 
p"opl". Trying to explain what a waffle iron was, or thai the American population

coutU"nave two ejgs-for breakfast every morning if they wanted to was beyond the

comprehension of Perricone s captors

He endured until that day in l\,4arch '1973 when the North Vietnamese released him'

senJinq him home with a plasiic bag containing candy and tolletries' ncluding a metal

"orb 
ti"O" f.t t""vcled, shot-down U S planes Perricone stil l has the gray and maroon

striped pajamas he worn as prisoner'

Uponhisarr ivalatc|arkAiIForceBaseinthePhi l ippines.twoofPerr icone,s|ong-he|d
Ji""aa 

""r" 
tru", he had a steak dinner and he was given a bar of soap and a long, hot

shower. His homecoming was very emotional Family' friends' and thousands of well-

wisner tineO the streets to welcome him home But like so many people who suffered

ii"menOou" hardships during the war' Perricone endured nightmares for at least the fifst

ini"" u""* ft"t". Lventuat-ty his life regalned some sense- of normality Today Richard
p",r;"tne is married, has a family and lives 'n New York City
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= SSG MARTIN S. FRANK

Thesource ofthe information aboutSSG Marlin S Frank came from the "pownetwork ofg"
on the internet, which cited the book We Came Home' published by P O W. Publlcations
in 1977. ln the short narrative SSG Frank provided a few deiails about his background
priorto his capture. He began his pefsonal story with his capture and said,"My first twa
'and 

half years were spent in the jungle prisan camp in South Vietnam We walked to Nafth
Vietnam'. At one time t was down to 95 pounds, and at the time of my release I was back
uD to 1 30 Dounds." Perricone said th at l\4arty Frank was also wou nded ' and ihat they used
to tease him about that while they were POWS; he had been shot in the buitock

SSG STANLEY A. NEWELL

The first source of the information about SSG Stanley A Newell came from the

"oownetwork.orq ' on the iniefnet, which cited the book We Came Home' published by

d o-w. prnti"uion. in 1977. The author staied that ssc Newell was first classified as

missinq in act ion (MlA).  l twasntunt i laJapanesephotographerproducedapictureofthree
pOW.in"i nl" famLly was able to identify him. The author continued his description of

SSGNewel l 'shomecominganddescr ibedhisreact iontoseeinghisfami lyandfr iends
again. The narrative closed with the facts that Newell retired ffom the Army as a Major' had

bicome a teacher, and resides in Alabama Like the other enlisted POWS' SP4 Newell
was promoted during captivity. At the time of his release' he was a Staff Sergeant

The second source of informaiion is a U S Air Force Oral History Interview # K239 0512-
1778 taken 16 December 1987. The following is an excerpt from that source:

"12 July 1967. I won't forget that one: that's for sure We had been on operation Paul

Revere [actuaTly Francis Marion], Ithinkthatwasit Our unit was on a search-and-destray
nission'That'S-justtaokingforbadguys'Wehadbeenuprightnearthecambadianbarder
at the base inine Chu Pong Mountains as yau pass through the la Drang Valley You

iight have heard the code iame for that. They ca ed it the Ball Park-iust as flat as this

b;le. While we had been up there, we had gatten some word that some of the bad guys-a

big force, the 96!h or g4h B Regimentlaclually the 66thl, something like this, now how much

tith there is in alt that, shit-house rumors there-were moving in on us There might be

some validity to that because they stafted pulling us back, moving us back towards the

firebase. The second morning that we had been moving' one of the sister companies, I

tiiii it *us cnartie Compani, but I'm not sure, had some contact early in the morning l

tni,int< it was 1O or 12 enemy'soldiers that had prabed their line You know' they come up

earlv in the morninqs or at night and fire Chariie Company sent some people out to chase

ti"k iniin *iuttv *e shoutJn t have done anyway we shouldn't have done that The two
'"iiiunv 

ioirinaers were on the phone together, on the harn, .and .they sent aur platoon

iit.'iirL, to 
".t 

rp 
" 

blocking forcei charlie companywas moving themthisway' and we

were gaing to put up a blocking force
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"We'd been out 30 or 45 minutes, and we got a call that said the platoon that Charlie

CamDanv had sent out was in heavy contact and had casualties and for us to move aver

to niio. we saia ot<av. We took off , and I guess we walked a click or two maybe lt doesn't

tui" lono t" walk a ; ck or t\uo in the ta brang Valley because it's just real flat Well' we

i", ,itni, iioil. aid we coutd see the firing and stuff like thts, so / guess we just kind of

ietaxe,d a tiftie bit. we walked into an ambush, just big time, and we got pinned down. Now

ioil'ie qot one 
"tenent 

of each company within 6ao or 7oo meters of each other' and we
'are taliing to the company, telling them that this isn't so good out here so they move out

t;;;1, ;". t found this-out later because the company commandefs RTo was also

cap u'red. Just as soon as they teft the perimeter from where we had,set up the night

before, they walked into an ambush Naw you've gatthe classic example ofiust separate

anddivide'ordivideandCanquer.A|lthisdicln,tmeanmuchtomethenbecauseldidn't
tniX a'ort it, just later. / guess fhree or four hours later I gat captured We iust got
-oie,rrur. 

tt *ui kind of tik"-Guneral Custer' where in the Hell did all those guys come

from?"
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FOUR OF BRAVO COMPANY'S POWS

Photo coudesy of Nathan Henry. Photograph taken by an u n identified Japa nese journa list
tfaveling with the North Vietnamese sometime late July of early August 1967 while the
POWS were "on the trail." Depicted from left-to-right are Maftin Frank, Nathan Henry,
Richard Perricone, and Stanley Newell. A point of interest in the photograph is the two
guards to the left of thePOWS. The front one of the hir'o is holding several strandsofrope
or cord that are attached to the POWs, while the second guard is aimlng an AK-47 at them
The POW on the right, Stanley l\,4artin, has his left arm in a sling
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APPENDIX F

BATTLE CASUALTY
RECORDS



HEADQUARTERS
AND

HEADQUARTERS
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name; Combs
First Name: Tyrone
l\.4iddle Name: None
Home of Record (official): Dayton
State (official): ohio
Date of Birth: Tuesday, 30 october 1945
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\ilarital Status: Single

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Specialist Fifth Class
Serial Number: 52653709
Cornponent: Seleciive Service
P2v Gr2. le F-5

Vifi"w O""up"t onul Specialty Code: 91 B40 (N/ledical NCO)
Awards: Unknown
Unii: leadquarters & Headquarters Company (Attached to Bravo Company)

- Action -

StartofTour: Thursday, '17 November 1966
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Tjme of Loss: 21
Casualty Type: (A1) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualiy)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: PIeiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 056



4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, I2TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

-  Personal-

Last Name: Crain
First Name: Ronald
Middle Name: Edward
Home of Record (official): Jonesboro
State (official): Arkansas
Date of Birth; Saturday, 30 March 1946
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- l\,4llitary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Specialist Fourth class
Serial Number; 187 10789
Component: Regular

l\,4ilitary Occupational Specialty Code: 9t 820 iMedical NCO)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Headquarters & Headquarters Company (Attached to Bravo Company)

- Action -

Start of Tour: SaturdaY, 10 June 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aqe At Time of Loss: 21
Cisualty Type: (A3) Hosiile, Dled While Missing
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 057

F2



4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Noe
First Name: Floyd
Middle Name: Russell
Home of Record (official): Huntington
State (official): Indiana
Date of Birth:Wednesday' 29 October 1947
Sex: l\4ale
Race: Caucasian
l\,4arital Status: Single

- N,4ilitary -

Branch: ArmY
Rank: Privaie First CIass
Serial Number: 16820966
ComPonent: Regular
PaY Grade: E-3
Military Occupational Specialty Code: 91820 (N/ledical NCO)
Awards: Unknown
Unii: Headquarters & Headquarters Conrpany (Attached to Bravo Company)

- Action -

Start of Tour: Wednesday, 14 June 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 19
Casualty TYPe: (A1) Hostile, Died
Reason: Multiple Fragmentation Wounds (Ground casualiy)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
OPeration: F'ancis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 062

F3



BRAVO COMPANY
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALW RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Claud
First Name: Pernell
Middle Name: Russell
Home of Record (official): Newport News
State (otficial): Virginia
Date of Birth: Tuesday, 15 April '1947

Sex: l\,4aie
Race: Negro
Marital Siatus: Single

- N,4ilitary -

Branch:ArmY
Rank: SPecialist Fourth Class
Serial Number: 52685687
ComPonent: Selective Service
Pay Grade: E-4
N,4 jl itary Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1820 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unii: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Thursday, 1O November '1966

Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Casualty Type: (A3) Hostile' Died While Missing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
OPeration: Francis l\i larion
Location: YA 850131

- The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 056
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4TI'I INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALry RECORD

-  Personal-

Last Name: Coleman
First Name: Gary
lvliddle Name: Terrence
Home of Record (official): Alameda
State (official): California
Date of Birth: lvlonday, 23 October 1944
Sex: l\,4ale
Race: Caucasian
l\,4arital Status: Married

- N,4ilitary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First CIass
Serial Number: 56826172
Component: Selective Service
Pav Grade: E-3
Mi l i tary Occupat ionar Spec.al ty Code: 11810 { ln{antrymar)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Tuesday, I MaY 1967
Daie of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aqe At Time of Loss: 22
Cisualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While l\ '4issing
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850 131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 056
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Echols
First Name: Robert
Middle Name: Edwin
Home of Record (official): Bowman
Staie (official): Georgia
Date of Bitlh: Thursday, 19 February 1948
Sex: N,4ale
Race: Caucasian
Marltal Status: Single

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First class
Sef ial Number: 53448882
Component: Selective Service
Pav Grade: E-3
Military Occupational Specialty code: 11B10 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Friday' 24 February 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 19
Casualty TYPe: (A1) Hostile' Died
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
OPeratio"l: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 057
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- Personal -

Last Name: Fox
First Name: Gerald
Middle Name: Lawrence
Home of Record (official): New York
State (official): New York
Date of Birth: Thursday, 20 February 1947
Sex: l\,4ale
Race: Caucasian
lvlarital Status: Single

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First class
Sef ia l  Number:  51612724
Component: Selective Seruice
Pay Grade: E-3
Military Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1 810 (lnfantrynran)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Sunday, 26 February 1967
Date of Casualiy: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Casualty Type: (Al) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, Sn'rall Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis N/arion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 058

4TB INFANTRY DIVISION
lST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Fulli love
First Name: Willie
l\,4iddle Name: Ketchery
Home of Record (official): Chicago
Staie (official): l l l inois
Date of Birth: Thursday' 1 August 1940
Sex: l\.4ale
Race: Negro
l\,4arital Status: Married

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 54808401
Component: Selective Service
Pav Grade: E-3
Military Occupational Specialty code: 11810 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Stari of Touf: Monday, 13 l\y'arch 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 26
Cisualty Type: (A3) Hostile' Died While l\ '4issing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Gfound Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
OPeralion: Francis l\ '4ario'l
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 058
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
lST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Gibson
First Name: Eddie
Middle Name: Carl
Home of Record (official): Cleves
State (ofiicial): Ohio
Date of Birth: Thursdav, 1 April 1948
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- lvlilitary -

Bfanch: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 519421 14
Component: Selective Service
P.v G.. . lo tr-3

M l i tary Occupat ional  Specal tyCode: 11810 ( lnfantryrnan)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Monday, 13 March 1 967
Date of Casualiy: Wednesday' 12 Juty 1967
Age Ai Time of Loss; 19
Casualty Type: (A 1) Hosiile' Died
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 058
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-  Personal-

Last Name: Groth
First Name: StePhen
l\,4iddle Narne: James
Home of Record (official): Enderlin
State (offlcial): North Dakota
Date of Birth: Ftiday ' 12 January 1945
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\.4arital Status: Single

- Military -

Branch: ArmY
Rank: SPecialist Fourth Class
Serial Number: 27 157601
ComPonent; Regular
Pay Grade: E-4
lVilltary Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1820 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo CornPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Tuesday' 10 January 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday' 12 July 1967
Age Ai Tirne of Loss: 22
Cisualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While Nilissing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
OPeration: Francis Marion
Locat ion:  YA 850131
The Wa!l: Panel 23E - Row 058

4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Harlan
First Name: John
Middle Name: Alvin
Home of Record (official): Johnson City
State (official): Tennessee
Date of Birth: Thursdav, 17 Aptil1947
Sex: lvlale
Race: Caucasian
lvlarital Status: lvlarried

- N,4ilitary -

Branch: ArmY
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 53448286
Component: Selective Service
Pav Grade: E-3
Military Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1B10 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unjt: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Sunday, 12 lvlarch 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aoe Ai Time of Loss: 20
Cisualtv Tvpe: (A3) Host le Died While Missirg
Reasor.  Gun, Smal l  Alms Fi 'e (Ground Casuarty)
Country: Souih Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Ffancis lvlarion
Locat ion:  YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 061
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TI'I INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Hickman
First Name: Wandle
Middle Name: Lewis
Home of Record (orficial): Columbus
State (official): Ohio
Date of Bifth: Tuesday, 10 June 1941
Sex: l\,4ale
Race: Negro
l\,4arital Status: Married

- Military -

Branch: ArmY
Rank: Private First Class
Serial  Number:  51644036
ComPonent: Selective Service
Pay Grade: E-3
Military Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1810 (lnfantryman)
Awafds: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Siart of Tour: Monday, 13 March 1967
Date of Casualty; Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 26
Cisualty Type: (A3) Hostile' Died While N'4jssing
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
OPeraiion: Francis l\ '4arion
Location; YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 059
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Horn
First Name: David
l\l iddle Name: l\4ichael
Home of Record (official): Dayton
State (official): Ohio
Date of Birth: SundaY, 3 August 1947
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\,4arital Status: Single

- l\4iliiary -

Branch:Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 51798261
Component: Selective Service
Pav Grade; E-3
Mi ' i tary Occupat ioral  Spec'al ty Code: 11C10 { l rd rect  Fire l l fantryr"anl
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo Company, Weapons Platoon

- Action -

Stad of Tour; FridaY, 7 April 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: '19
Casualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While Missing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Locaiion: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 059
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

-  Personal-

Last Name: Hughes
First Name: Jerry
Middle Name: Lynn
Home of Record (official): Center
State (official): Texas
Date of Birth: Wednesday, 17 July 1946
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\4arital Status: Single

- Military -

Branch: ArmY
Rank: Sergeant
Serial Number: 54379803
Component: Selective Service
PaY Grade: E-5
l\,4ilitary occupational Specialty Code: 1 1D40 (Scout)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Touf: Sunday' 20 Noven, ber 1966
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Casualty TYPe: (A1) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: Souih Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Opefation: Frarcis Mar'on
Locat ion:YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 059



4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

-  Personal-

Last Name: Jamison
Flrst Name: Rockwell
Middle Name: Grant
Home of Record (official): Los Angeles
State (official): California
Date of Blrth: Wednesday, I MaY 1945
Sex: l\,4ale
Race: Caucasian
l\,4arital Status: l\,4arried

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Sergeant
Serial Number: 56400982
Component: Selective Service
Dau Gri . la F-5

lvli l itary Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1B40 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo Company

- Action -

Siart of Tour: Thursday, 16 February 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 22
Casualty Type: (A1) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis l\,4arion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 060
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12II INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY REPORT

- Personal -

Last Name: Judge Jr.
First Name: Charles
Middle Name: Mark
Home of Record (official): Shori Hills
State (official): New Jersey
Date of Birth: Monday, 30 September 1946
Sex Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Specialist Fourth Class
Serial Number: 12770448
Component: Regular
Pay Grade: E-4
Military Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1B20 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Combat lnfantry Badge, Bronze Star for Valor, and the Purple Heart
Unit; Bravo company, 3d Platoon, 1$ Squad

- Action -

Start of Tour: Tuesday, 29 November 1966
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 JulY 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Casualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While Missing
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 060
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION. 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Lanier
First Name: Jerry
l\4iddle Name: Don
Home of Record (official): Siloam Springs
State (official): Arkansas
Date of Bifth: Tuesday, I April 1946
Sexi lvlale
Race: Caucasian
lvlarital Staius: l\.4arried

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Specialist Fourih Class
Serial Number: 54382959
Component: Selective Service
Pay Grade: E-4
l\4ilitary Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1820 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo Company

- Action -

Start of Tour: l\,4onday, 12 December 1966
Date of Casualty; Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 21
Casualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While N4issing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis lvlarion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 060
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4-rH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Persona\ -

Last Name: l\,4cKee
First Name: l\ililford
l\,4iddle Name: Gerald
Home of Record (official): Sloans Valley
State (official): Kentucky
Date of Birth: Tuesday' 16 June 1942
Sex: Male
Race: caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- Action -

Stari of Tour: Monda|' 13 March 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday' 12 July 1567
Age At Time of Loss: 25
CasualtY TYPe: (A 1) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fire (Ground casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
OPeration: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850'131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 062

- Mili iary -

Bfanch: Afmy
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 5194215s
Component: Selective Service

Military Occupational Spec.alty Code: 11810 {lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bfavo ComPanY
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

-  Personal-

Last Name: Millef
First Name: Joseph
Middle Name: Loran
Home of Record (official): Hopkinsville
State (official): Kentucky
Date of Birth: Ftiday,25 APrll1947
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\,4arital Status: Single

- MiLitary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 53906763
Component: Selective Service
Pay Grade: E-3
Military Occupaiional Specialty Code: 11B10 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Saturday, 25 February 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Crsualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While Missing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: PIeiku
Operation: Francis l\,4arion
Locat ion:  YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 061
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4TN INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: McKee
First Name: l\ililford
lMiddle Name: Gerald
Home of Record (official): Sloans Valley
State (oficial): KentuckY
Date of Birth: Tuesday' 16 June 1942
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\ilarital Status: Singte

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 51942159
Componeni: Selective Service
Pav Grade: E-3
M:l1tary occupat ional  Special iy code: r1B10 { l l fantrymar)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: lVlonday, 1 3 March 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aqe At Time of Loss: 25
Casualtv Tvpe: (A 1 ) Hostile, Died
Reason. GLn, Smal l  Alms F' fe lGround Casual ty l
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 85013'1
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 062
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal-

Last Name: Miller
First Name: JosePh
l\il iddle Name: Loran
Home of Record (official): Hopkinsville
State (offlcial): Kentucky
Date of Birth: Friday, 25 APril 1947
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- N,4iliiary -

Branch: ArmY
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 53906763
Component: Selective Servic-'
PaV Grade: E-3
itl it it"ry-o""upution"l Specialty code: 1'1 B1 0 (lnfantryman)

Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Saturday, 25 February 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aoe At Time of Loss: 20
C""iu"ttv ryp", (43) Hostile Died While N'4issing
Reason: Gun, Smal l  Arms Fire (Ground Casual ty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation; Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 061
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ATH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: l\,4ontgomery
First Name: Owen
Middle Nam,.: Raymond
Home of Record (official): Lost Creek
State (official): Kentucky
Date of Birih: Thursday, 20 MaY 1943
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- Military -

Branch:ArmY
Rank: Sergeant
Serial Number: 15639401
Component: Regular
Pav Grade: E-5
Military Occupational Speciahy Code: 11B4H (lnfantrynan)

Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY, 3'" Platoon

- Action -

Start of Tour: Thursday, 22 June 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aqe At Time of Loss: 24
Cisualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While N/lissing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualiy)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis lvlarion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 059
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY REPORT

-  Personal-

Last Name: Nootz
First Name: Gaylord
Middle Name: Eugene
Home of Record (official): Rialto
State (official): California
Date of Birlh: Tuesday, '14 November 1944
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- N/li l itary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Second Lieutenant
Serial Number: O5334700
Component: Reserve
Pay Grade: O-1
l\,4ilitary Occupational Speclalty Code: 1542 (lnfantry Officer)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY, 3'" Platoon

- Action -

Start of Tour: Friday, 2 June 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aqe At Time of Loss: 22
Cisualty type: (A3) Hostile, Died While Missing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Countryi South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 88'13
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 062
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

-  Personal-

Last Name: Polizzi
First Name: Salvatofe
l\,4iddle Name: Frank
Home of Record (official): Wantagh
State (official): New York
Date of Birth: Friday,27 June 1947
Sex: lvlale
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- Nlil itary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 527 50577
Component: Selective Service
Pay Grade: E-3
Military Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1 810 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo ComPanY

- Action -

Stari of Tour: Thursday, 22 June 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, '12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Casualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While N'4issing
Reason: Gun, Small Arrns Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vieinam
Provlnce: Pleiku
Operatlon: Francis l\,4arion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 062
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

GASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Rushton
First Name: Brian
Middle Name: Wayne
Home of Record (official): Memphis
State (official): Tennessee
Date of Birth: Wednesday, 2 April 1941
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Married

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Captain
Serial Number: 05322444
Component: Reserve

Pay Grade: O-3
Military Occupational Specialty Code: 1542 (lnfantry Officer)
Awards: Silver Star
Unit: Bravo Company, Headquarters Platoon

- Action -

Start of Tour: Thursday, I June 1967
Date of Casualiy: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 26
Casualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While Missing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 063

lrrl
r i ,7
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- Personal -

Last Name: Sexton
First Name: Troy
Middle Name; Laverne
Home of Record (official): Seattle
State (official): Washington
Date of Bifth: Tuesday, 4 February 1947
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\,4arital Status: Single

- N,4illtary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Nurnber: 56957 255
Component: Selective Service
Pav Grade: E-3
M ritary Occupational Specia ty Code: 1 1 C 1 0 { lndi'ecl Fire l 'rfantry-lan)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo Company, Weapons Platoon

- Action -

Start of Tour: FridaY, l4April 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aqe At Time of Loss: 20
Cisualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While N'4jssing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Pfovince: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Locat ion:YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 064

4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
lST BATTALION, 12TI] INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal-

Last Name: Strange
Firsi Name: Robert
Middle Name: Allen
Home of Record (official): Nofthville
State (official): Michigan
Date of Birth: Friday, 15 November 1946
Sex: l\,4ale
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- N.4jlitary -

Branch: Afmy
Rank: Private First class
Serial Number: 54950595
Component: Selective Service

Military Occupational Speclalty Code: 1 1B10 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo company

- Action -

Start of Tour: Monday, 28 November 1966
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1S67
Age At Time of Loss; 20
Casualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While Missing
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 064
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
lST BATTALION, 12TH TNFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Pefsonal -

Last Name: Sexton
Flrsi Name: TroY
Middle Name; Laverne
Home of Record (ofiicial): Seattle
State (official): Washington
Date of Bidh: Tuesday, 4 February 1947
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\,4arital Status: Single

- N,4ilitary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private Firsi Class
Serial Number: 56957255
Component: Seleciive Service
Pav Grade: E-3
Military Occupational Specialiy Code: 11C10 (lndirect Fire Infantryrnan)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo Company, Weapons Platoon

- Action -

Start ofTour: FridaY, 14 APril 1967
Date of casualty; Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Aqe At Time of Loss: 20
Cisualty Type: (A3) Host!le, Died While N/lissing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 85013'1
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 064
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12T8 INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

-  Personal-

Last Name: Strange
First Name: Robert
lvliddle Name: Allen
Home of Record (official): Norihville
State (official): N.'lichigan
Date of Birth: Friday, 15 November 1946
Sex: l\,4ale
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 54950595
Component; Selective Service
Pay Grade: E-3
l\,4ilitary Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1 B10 (lnfantrynran)
Awards: Unknown
Unii: Bravo Company

- Action -

Start of Tour: Monday, 28 November 1966
Daie of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Casualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While N.4issing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis l\,4arion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 064

F25



- Personal -

Last Name: WaguesPack
First Name: Gary
Middle Name: Louis
Home of Record (official): New Orleans
State (offlcial): Louisiana
Daie of Birth: Thursday, 13 February 1947
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
l\.4afital Status: Single

- N/il itary -

Bfancn: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 54606882
ComPonent: Selective Servjce
Pay Grade: E-3
l\,4 jl itary Occupational Specialty Code: 1 1810 (lnfantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bfavo ComPanY

- Action -

Start of Tour: Tuesday' I MaY '1967
Date of Casualiy: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Casualty TYPe: (A1) Hostile' Died
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
OPeratior: Franc s lvlarion
Location: YA 850'131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 065

4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

-  Personal-

Lasi Name; Williams
First Name: Floyd
lvliddle Name: Charles
Home of Recofd (official): Hornbeck
State (official): Louisiana
Date of Birth: Saturday,29 July 1944
Sex: Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Siatus: Single

- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: Private First Class
Serial Number: 54379531
Component: Selective Service
Pay crade: E-3
l\4ilitary Occupational Specialty Code: 1 '1C10 (lndirect Fire Infantryman)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo Company, Weapons Platoon

- Action -

Start of Tour: Tuesday, 13 Decembef 1966
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 22
Casualty Type: (A1) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850 131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 066
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
1ST BATTALION, 12TH INFANTRY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Narne: Williams
First Name: l\.4oses
Middle Name: None
Home of Record (official): Columbus
State (official): Georgia
Date of Birth: Friday, 10 January 1941
Sex: Male
Race: Negro
Marital Status: lvlarried

- N.4iljtary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Sergeant
Serial Number: 14718863
Component: Regular
P.v ( ]hda F-5

lvli l itary OccJpational Spec:alty Code 1 n 840 {ln'arIryTan)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo Company

- Action -

Stad ofTouf:  l \ .4ondaY' 12 June'1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 26
Casualty TYPe: (Al) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Locat ion:  YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 066
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BRAVO BATTERY



4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
4TH BATTALION, 42ND ARTILLERY REGIMENT

CASUALry REPORT

- Personal -

Last Name: Bragg Jr.
First Name: Fred
Middle Name: Garland
Home of Record (official): Etna
state (official): ohio
Date of Birth: Frtday, 24 AP(ll 1942
Sex Male
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Single
- Military -

Branch: Army
Rank: First Lieutenant
Serial Number: O5419338
Component Reserve
Pay Grade: O-2
Military Occupational Specialty Code: 1193 (Field Artil lery Unit Commander)
Awards: Distinguished Service Cross
Unit: Bravo Battery, 4/42 Artillery, Attached to Bravo Company, t h2lnfantry

- Action -

Start of Tour: Saturday, 23 JulY 1966
Daie of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 25
Casualty Type: (A1) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Marion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 055
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
4TH BATTALION, 42ND ARTILLERY REGIMENT

CASUALTY RECORD

- Personal -

Last Name: Charboneau
First Name: LeRoy
Middle Name: Har land
Home of Record (official): Cheboygan
State (official): Michigan
Date of Birth: Friday, 14 March 1947
Sex: lMale
Race: Caucasian
l\,4arital Status: Single

- lvlilitary -

Branch: Army
Rank: Corporal
Serial Number: 55895329
Component: Selective Service
Posthumous Promotion As Indicated
Pay Grade: E-3
Military occupational Specialty Code: 13410 (Artil lery)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo BaItery,4/42 At1.tllery, Attached to Bravo Company, t h2lnfanlry

- Action -

Stad of Tour: Saturday, 22 APril 1967
Date of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 20
Casualty Type: (Al) Hostile, Died
Reason: Gun, SmallArms Fjre (Ground Casualty)
Country; South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation: Francis Nlarion
Locat ion:  YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 056
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4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
4TH BATTALION, 42ND ARTILLERY REGIMENT

CASUALTY REPORT

- Personal -

Last Name: Haider
First Name: James
Middle Name: Michael
Home of Record (official): St Paul
State (official): lvlinnesota
Date of Birth: Thursday, I MaY 1946
Sex: l\,4ale
Race: Caucasian
Marital Status: Married

- Action -

Staft of Tour: Tuesday, 20 December '1966
Daie of Casualty: Wednesday, 12 July 1967
Age At Time of Loss: 21
casualty Type: (A3) Hostile, Died While Nlissing
Reason: Gun, Small Arms Fire (Ground Casualty)
Country: South Vietnam
Province: Pleiku
Operation Francis l\,4arion
Location: YA 850131
The Wall: Panel 23E - Row 059

- N,4ilitary -

Branch:Army
Rank: Sergeant
Serial Nurnber: 55848957
Component: Selective Service
Posihumous Promotion As Indicated
Pay Grade: E-4
l\i1il itary Occupational Specialty Code: 1 3A20 (Artil lery)
Awards: Unknown
Unit: Bravo Battery, 4/42 Artil lery, Attached to Bfavo Company' 1112lnfantry
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APPENDIX G

AWARDS



HEADQUARTERS
UNITED STATES ARMY VIETNAM

APO San Francisco 96262

GENERAL ORDERS
NUMBER 4664

14 September 1967

AWARD OF THE DISTINGUISHED SERVICE CROSS

1. TC 32a. The following AWARD is announced posthumously:

BRAGG. FRED GARLAND, JR., FIRST LIEUTENANT, Artil lery, United States Armv
Battery B, 4h BN, 42"d Arty, 4h Inf Div, APO 96262

Awarded: Distinguished Service Cross
Date action: 12 JulY 1567
Theater: RePublic of Vietnam
Reason:

For extraordinary heroism in connection with military operations involving conflict with an
armed hostile foice in the Republic of Vietnam, while serving with Battery B' 4s Batialion,
42"d Artil lery, 4b Infantry Division. First Lieutenant Bragg distinguished himself by
exceptionally valorous actions on 12 July 1967 while serving as artill-ery foMard observer
with an infa;try company on a seareh and destroy mission near the Cambodian border in
the Central Highlands. When his companywas surrounded and the company commandef
was killed, Li;utenant Bragg immediately took command and directed extremely deadly
artil lery fire on ihe insurgent forces. He bravely moved among his men giving

encouiagement and regrouping them into a more secure defense although he was fully
exposed to intense mortarand automatic weapons flre. Seriously wounded, he continued
to direct air sirikes on the advancing enemy until a mortar round destroyed his only
remaining radio. Staying in ihe open, he poured round after round of deadly fire into the
advancin-g enemy foice. He gave his life while bravely leading his men in the face of
oveMhelming odds. First Lieutenant Bragg's extraordinary heroism and devotion to duty,
at the cost of his life, were in keeping with the highest traditions of the military service and
reflect great credit upon himself, his unit, and the United States Army.

Auihority: by direction ofthe President under provisions of Executive Order 11046,
24 August 1962.

FOR THE COMMANDER



HFADQUARTERS
UNITED STATES ARMY VIETNAM

APO San Francisco 96262

GENERAL ORDERS
NUMBER 5534

31 October 1967

AWARD OF THE DISTINGUISHED SERVICE CROSS

1. TC 320. The following AWARD is announced:

MSSER, GARY V., SECOND LIEUTENANT, lnfantry, United States Armv
Co B, 1d BN. 12' Inf. 46 Inf Div, APO 96262

Awarded: Distinguished Service Cross
Date action: 12 July 1967
Theater: Republic of Vietnam
Reason:

For extraordinary heroism in connection with military operations involving conflict with an
armed hostile force in the Republic of Vietnam, while serving with Company B, 1"r
Battalion, 12b Infantry, 4s Infantry Division. Second Lieutenant Rasser distinguished
himself by exceptional valorous actions on 12 July 1967 while serving as a platoon Ieader
of an infantry company on a reinforcing mission deep in hostile territory. While moving
through dense jungle to relieve a beleaguered friendly unit, his company was savagely
attacked by an estimated North Vietnamese regiment. Completely disregarding his own
safeiy, Lieutenant Rasser exposed himself to withering hostile fire to deploy his platoon
and provide security for the rest of the company. The enemy directed a hail of mortar,
rocket and recoilless rifle flre against his position kill ing the company commander and
inflecting numerous casualties on his men, but he immediately took command and moved
into the open to direct air and artillery strikes on the furious hostile onslaught Fighting
fiercely, he directed deadly rifle fire on the advancing enemy until he ran out of
ammunition. Grabbing the weapon of a fallen comrade, he dashed among his men to rally
them against the determined Viet Cong. As the hostile soldiers moved closer, he secured
a grenade launcher and fired deadly rounds into the enemy concentrations, heedless of
the bullets and shrapnelflying all around him. The attackers mncentratsd theirfire on him
as he moved to a machine gun, but he inflec;ted numerous casualties with extremely
accurate bursts. Unable to stop the oveMhelming assault, he led his men in a fierce
charge through the enemy lines to a safer Position Moving into a iight perimeter, his
inspiied men fought furiously to defeat the numerically superior force. His fearless
leadership in the face of grave danger contributed greatly to the destruction ofthe enemy
Second lieutenant Rasseds extraordinary heroism and devotion to duty were in keeping
with ihe highest traditions of the military service and reflect great credii upon himself, his
unii, and the United States Army.

Authority: by direction ofthe President under provisions of Executive Order 11046,
24 August 1962.
FOR THE COMMANDER G2



HEADQUARTERS
UNITED STATES ARlvtY VIETNAM

APO San Francisco 96262

GENERAL ORDERS
NUMBER 5594

1 November 1967

AWARD OF THE DISTINGUISHED SERVICE CROSS

1. TC 320. The following AWARD is announced:

THOMPSON. BYRON W., SPECIALIST FOUR E.4, UNitEd StAtCS ATMY
Co B, 1"'BN. 12blnf ,46Inf Div, APO 96262

Awarded: Distinguished Service Cross
Date action: 12 JulY 1 7
Theater: Republic ot Vietnam
Reason:

For extraordinary heroism in connection with military operations involving conflict with an
armed hostile f;rce in the Republic of Vietnam, while serving with Company B, 1"
Battalion, 12b Infantry, 4s Intaniry Division. Specialist Four Thompson distinguished
himself by exceptionally valorous actions on 12 July 1967 while serving as point man of
the lead platoon of an infaniry company on a rcinforcing mission deep in hostile territory.
While moving ihrough dense jungle toward a beleaguered friendly unit, his company was
savagety attacked by an estimated North Vietnamese regiment firing rockets, mortars and
recoiiless rifles. Completely ignoring his own safety, Specialist Thompson volunteered to
provide rear security for a withdrawal despite bullets and shrapnel striking all around him
He was wounded while fighting through the first line ofthe enemy, but refused medical aid
and inflecied heavy casualties on the attackers with deadly rifle fire He was seriously
wounded and thrown to the ground by an exploding hand grenade while piercing the last
enemy positions, but he continued to exPose himself to the hostile weaPons to cover his
comrades. Three enemy soldiers rushed him when he ran out of ammunition soon
afteMards, but he unhesitantly stood his ground in the fac€ of the savage charge and
killed two of the attackers with his knife and the third in a furious hand-to-hand battle
Before reaching safety, he killed thirty North Vietnamese soldierswith deadly rifle fire and
close-in fighting. His feartess actions, though he was seriously wounded and under
intense fire, contributed greatly to the successful withdrawal of his company in the heat of
battle againsi the numerically superior enemy force. Specialist Four Thompson's
extraordinary heroism and devotion to duty were in keeping with the highest traditions of

military service and reflect great credit uPon himself, his unit, and the United States Army
Authority: by direction ofthe President under provisions ot Executive Order 11046'

24 August 1962.

FOR THE COMMANDER



HEADQUARTERS
4TH INFANTRY DIVISION
APO San Francisco 96262

GENERAL ORDERS 10 November 1967
NUMBER 3839

AWARD OF THE BRONZE STAR MEDAL FOR HEROISI\i]

1. TC 320. The following AWARD is announced;

SEALES. THOI\4AS G. JR. SECOND LIEUTENANT, Infantry, united States Armv
co c, 1't Bn, 12ft Inf,46 lnf Div, APo 96262

Awarded: Bronze Star Medal with "y Device
Date Action: 12 July 1967
Theater: Republic of Vietnam
Reason:

For heroism in connection with military operations against a hostile force in the Republic
of Vietnam Second Lieutenant Seales distinguished himself while serving as a platoon
leader wiih Company C, 1't Battalion, 12s Infantry. On 12 July 1967, Company C was
conducting a search and destroy operation nearihe la Pron Riverwhen contactwas made
with a large force of North Vietnamese regulars. Lieutenant Seales quickly deployed his
men and directed their fires on the advancing enemy. Consiantly exposing himself to the
hoslile fire, he moved from posiiion to position redistributing ammunition and encouraging
his men. As the intensity of ihe battle increased, Lieutenant Seales chose to withdraw his
platoon to the more easily defended company perimeter. Leading his men through two
hundred meters of mortar and automatic fire, he bravely waited outside the perimeter until
he personally accounted for each individual. Lieutenant Seales' decisive actions and
courageous leadership resulted in his platoon sustaining a minimum of casualiies while
accounting for a large number of enemy dead. His actions are in keeping with the highest
traditions of the military service and reflect great credit upon himself, his unit and ihe
United States Army.

Authoriiy: By ihe direction of the President under the provisions of Executive O rder
11046, 24 August 1962.

FOR THE COMMANDER

G4



HEADOUARTERS
4T1I INFANTRY DIVISION
APO San Francisco 96262

GENERAL ORDERS
NUMBER 4105

25 November 1967

AWARD OF THE BRONZE STAR MEDAL FOR HEROISM

1. TC 320. The following AWARD is announc€d:

PARKS, ROBERT L, SPECIALIST FIVE E-5, UNitEd StAtES ATMY
co B, 1"t Bn, 12s lnf, 4h Inf Div, APo 96262

Awarded: Bronze Star Medal with'\f Device
Date Action: 12 July 1967
Theater: Republic of Vietnam
Reason:

For heroism in connection with military operations against an armed hostile force in the
Republic ot Vietnam. Specialist Parks distinguishad himself while serving as a member of
the Weapons Platoon with Company B, 1d Battalion, 12b Infantry. On 12 July 1967,
Company B was conducting a search and destroy mission just north of the la Drang River
in Quan Le Thanh are of Pleiku province. As they proceeded from their patrol base to
reinforce an adjacent company, theycame under heavy attack by an estimated regimental-
sized force of North Vietnamese regulars. During ihe initial contact numerous casualties
were inflected and needed immediate medical attention. With complete disregard for his
own safety, Specialist Parks left the security of the base camp and made his way ihrough
the intense fire to the engaged company. Displaying courage and determination, he
moved from position to position administering medical aid to his wounded comrades Stil l
subjecting himself to the enemy automatic weapons and mortar fife, he successfully
execuied the aerial evacuation of the casualties. Throughout the battle Specialist Parks'
outstanding courage, professionalism, and devotion to duty are in keeping with the highest
traditions of the military service and reflect great credit upon himself, his unit, and the
United Stales Army.

FOR THE COMI\4ANDER

G5



HEADQUARTERS
4TH INFANTRY DIVISION

APO San Francisco 96262

GENERAL ORDERS
NUMBER 2709

26 August 1967

AWARD OF THE BRONZE STAR MEDAL FOR HEROISM

1. fC 32o. The following AWARD is announced posthumously:

JUDGE. CHARLES G. JR, SPECIALIST FOUR E.4, UNitEd StAtES ATMY
Co B, 1d Bn, 126lnf.4h Inf Div, APO 96262

Awarded: Bronze Star Medal with "\F Device
Date Aciion: 12 July 1 7
Theater: Republic of Vietnam
Reason:

For heroism in connection with military operations against an armed hostile force in the
Republic of Vietnam. On 12July 1967 Specialist FourJudge distinguished himself while
serving as a rifleman in Company B, 1d Battalion' 12b lnfantry' He joined the unit in
December 1966 and soon proved to be a soldier who could be depended upon lo do a
superior job without supervision. He maintained his cheerful but resolute attitude in the
face of constant hardship and danger, and participated willingly in every mission his unit
undertook. His effective performance in battle was a source of pride to his whole squad.
On 12 July 1967 Specialist Four Judge's platoon was sent to assist another unit in the
area of Duc Co. lt became engaged wiih a North Vietnamese Army force estimated at
battalion size and was cut off from the company With the odds against ihem' they
repelted enerny assaults from all sides for hours He fought courageously until he was
mortally wounded. Specialist Four Judge's heroism and devotion to duty are in keeping
with the highest traditions of ihe military service and reflect great credit on himself, his unit
and the Uniied States Army.

Auihoriiy: By the direction ofthe President under the provisions of Executive Order
11046, 24 August 1962.

FOR THE COMMANDER

G6



HEADQUARTERS
4TH INFANTRY DIVISION

APO San Francisco 96262

GENERAL ORDERS
NUMBER 2190

AWARD OF THE PURPLE HEART

1. TC 320. The following AWARDS are announced:

24 July 1967

Awarded: Purple Heart
Date Aciion: 12 July 1967
Theater: Republic of Vietnam
Reason: For wounds received in connection with military operations against a hostile
force.
Authority: By direction of ihe President under the provisions of AR 672-5-1 and TJSARPAC
Msg 16300 dtd 17 August 1965.

Davenport, Johnathan W., RA15496739, SSG E6, Co B,4b Engr Bn,4rh Inf Div, APO
96262

Thompson, Byron W., US56419800, SP4 E4, Co B, 1e Bn' 12s lnf'.4b Inf Div, APO 96262
Alexander, Aluy J., us52642470, SP4 E4, Co B, ld Bn, 121',lnf, 4tn Inf Div. APo 96262
Looez-Rodriquez, Alberto, US 50183186, SP4 E4, Co B, 1e Bn, 12h Inf, 4h Inf Div, APO

96262
McMillion, James L., US 54802051, SP4 E4, Co B, 1$ Bn, 12h Inf, 4rh lnf Div, APO 96262
Hovis. James E.. US53440719, SP4 E4, Co B,4b Engr Bn,4b Inf Div, APO 96262
Mackey, Robert 1., U554497o77, SP4 E4, Co B, 1d Bn' 12h Inf, 4d' Inf Div, APO 96262
Lackey, Frank, uS53433796, SP4 E4, Co B, 1d Bn, 12b lnf, 4h lnf Div, APO 96262
Parks. Robert L., RAl6856596, SP4 E4, Co B, 1"t Bn, 12t'Inf,4h Inf Div, APO 96262
comez, Henoc, US54374150, SP4 E4, Co B, 1$ Bn, 126 Inf,4b Inf Div APO 96262
Hagerty, Edward J. ll l, RA14918275, SP4 E4, Co B, 1o Bn, 12b Inf, 4' Inf Div, APO 96262
sh;tto;, Freddie 1., us53445874, PFC E3, Co C, 1$ Bn, 126 Ini, 4th lnf Div, APO 96262
Dube, Robert R., us54955997, PFC E3, Co C, 1d Bn, 12h lnf, 4" Inf Div, APO 96262
Moors, Charles W., US51967380, PFC E3, Co B, 1d Bn, 12h Inf, 4d'lnf Div, APO 96262
lMoran, John J., US$927951, PFC E3, Co B, 1"t Bn, 12r" Inf, 4s lnf Div, APO 96262
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1SG.. . . . . . . . . . . .

GLOSSARY

AO
Arc Light
ASAP

Distinguished Service Cross. ...
Dust Off

Fire Support

Banjo .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Base Area 7
BDE.. . . . . . . . . . .

02.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

BN . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
c co.. . . .
C-Rat ions.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
c&c.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Chinook.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

First Sergeant (E-8) pay grade and rank
Alpha Company
A7.62mm assault rifle used by the NVA
Area of Operation
B-52 Bombing lvlission
As Soon As Possible
Bravo company
The NVA headquarters for cen'iral South
Vietnam
Code name for ihe daily status report
An NVA staging area in Cambodia
Brigade
Battalion
charlie Company
Combat or field fations
Command and Control
CH-41 troop/cargo transport helicopter
lvl-1 I anti-personnel mlne
company or comrnanding officer
colonel (0-6) pay grade and rank (Full
Bird)
Command Post
captain (O-3) pay grade and rank
Daily Situation Repori (Banjo)
DC, Delta Charlie or Defensive Concen-
trations of mortar and/or adillery fire
Second highest award for heroism
Medical Evacuarion by UH-1 He icoole'
Forlvard Air Contfoller
A location where indirect fire resources
are consolidated for massed fire
Indirect fire forward observer (mortar and
artil lery)
An abbreviated operations order
Fife Support Base
Harassing and Interdiction (type of
adillery fire)
UH-1 Helicopter
Killed ln Action
1000 meters or 5/8 of a mile

FO

FRAG Order. . . . .
FSB
H&l

H,1



L ster ing Post. . . . . . . .

Recon Platoon.. . . . . . .

Reconnaissance and Su rveillance Lire

RPG

RTO

s3.

Screening l \ l iss ion. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Search-and-Destroy N,4ission . . . . . . . .

A three-man team
^ar im61ar 

t^ l ie ian

darkness or limited
early warnrng
Listening Post
Lieutenant, First (O-2) or
pay grade and rank
Lieutenant Colonel (O-5)

Second (O-1)

pay graoe anq

Landing Zone
A 40mm grenade launcher
[,4ajor (O-4) pay grade and rank
l\,4edical Evacuation, usuaLly an emergency
Nodh Vietnamese Army
A three ran tea'n placeo oulside 1l^e
peafleter dL-.ng daylght to observe to
provide early warning
Observaiion Helicopter (l jght)

Slang title for the commander offlcel
Observation Post
A 4'h Division field operation
A specific operation ordef
Private First Class (E-3) pay grade and
ra nk
Anti-malaria pills taken every morning
Platoon (approximately 30 men)
A platoon designed to conduci
reconnaissance work
An arbitrary control l ine marked on a
map
Rocket Propelled Grenade (B-40 and
RPG-7)
Radio/Telephone Opefator for the PRC-
25 'adio
Plans and Opefations
To put one's personal f ie ld equipment on
and prepare to move out or depart
A field maneuver designed to be used
by a small unit to cover a large area for
ihe purpose of detecting enemY
infiltration
A field mission designed to traP an
enemy force and destroy it
Sergeant (E-5) pay grade and fank

placed outside the
during periods of
visibility to provide

LP
LT

LTC
rank

NVA.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . .

I\,4AJ

Observation Post.....

oH-13
old
OP

Man.. . . . . . . . . . . .

OperationFrancis Marion.. . . . . .
OPORD
PFC.. . . . .

Pi l ls. . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
P LT . . . . . .

SGT

H2



Sortie.

SOD
SSG

ouuuE Lrvl

Sweep.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  .

TOC

XO

Communications Standard Operating
lnstructions

A word used to describe one or more
aircraft who's mission it was to fetutn one
or more times for the same task
Start Point and/of the act of departure
Specialist Fourth Class (E-4) pay grade
and ranK
Squad (about 7 -  10 men)
Staff Sergeant (E-6) pay grade and rank
A specific tjme in the morning when all
personnel are requifed to be awake and
prepared for an attack
A battery powered high-intensity flashing
signal light for emergencies
A type of patrol conducted to deierrnine if
a specified area is free of enemy forces
Tacticar Operalion Certer (The Palace)
Wounded in Action
Executive Officer (second in comrnand)

SP
SP4

H3
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INDEX

Ahlden, Cuft, Pfivate First Class D2
Alexander, Alvy, Speclalist Fourth C ass - D2, G7
Argabright, Dave - J2
Arnett, Peter 40
Arnold. Dick -J2

B

Beckrnan John, Pf ivate First  Class -  13,  J1
Be knap. l\4aurce Private Flrst Class - 29
Birch Harold,  L ieutenant Colonel  -  t i ,28,  J l  J2
Borlund Thomas, Captain Al
Boudreaux, Robert - i i, 27 28 47-48
Bragg. Fred, Firs i  L ieutenant 28,38, Dl  F29, G1

c

Case. Me vin, First Lieutenant 26
Charboneau Leroy,  Corporal  -  D1, F30
Chin. Robert, Sergeant - 6
Claud Pernell, Pr vate First Class - 31 , D1 , F4
Coffelt. Richard - J2
Coleman, Gary, Specialist Fourth Class - 41 F5
Combs, Tyrone, Speciallst Fourth C ass 38 D1, F'1
Crain,  Ronald,  Pr ivate First  Class -  38 Dl  F2
Crau,4ord Private First Class - 26

D

Daniels,  James i t ,2,7 ,  10,  14,30
Davenpod, Johnathan, Staff Sergeant - D3, G7
Deuisch, I\,4elvin, Captain - i i , 3B-39. A1 J1
Di kes,  Harry Special is i  Foufth Class -  i ,  J1
Downs, l\,4ichael Captain - A1
Dube Robert, Private First Ciass - G7

Easter ly,  Lewls,  First  L ieutenant i ,3-6,  B,  1 '1,  13,  1522,29,31-36,39-41,43-44,A.1,
J' ]

Echols, Robert, Private Flfst Class Dl, Fo
)1



Elphjck. Jerry Second Lleutenant - 40-41, 43
England, Sergeant -  21

F

Fox. Gerald. Private First Class - D1, F7
Frank, Mart in,  Special lst  Fourth Class -  D3, E'1 EB, E10
Francis,  Connie -  E7
Ful l  love. Wi l l ie.  Pr ivate First  C ass -  31,  Dl  F8

Gardner, Lawrence, [,4ajor - 15, A1 , 83
Garty, Thomas Private Fifst Class - D2, G7
Gatson, James, Private First Class - D3
G bson, Eddie,  Pr ivate F rst  Class -  D1, Fg
Gomez, Henoc, Special ist  Foufth Class 31, D2, G7
croth,  Stephen, Special jst  Four l l r  Class -  D1, F10

l-l

Hagerty Edward, Specia ist Foudh Class D2, G7
Haider.  James, Sergeant -  D'1,  F31
Hahn. Lloyd Speclalist Fourth C ass - D2
Halverson, Larry, Specia ist Foufth Class - 6, 15
Harlan, John, Pr ivate Flrst  Class -  D1, F'11
Harmon, Char les,  Second I  eutenant -  21,  34. A1
Henry,  Nathan, Specia ist  Fourth Class -  25,  D3, E1 ,  E3 E4. E10
Hickman, Wandle,  Pr ivate First  Class -  D1. F12
Hill Roger Stafi Sergeant - i i , 5-6, B-9, 1 9, 36'37, 42. J1
Horn, David,  Pr ivate First  Class -  D1 F13
Hovis,  James, Specialst  Fourth Class D3, G7
Howse, Roger Second Lleutenant -  t i ,9,  12,23-24,28, 41. D2, J1
Hughes, Jerry,  Sergeant -  D1, F14
Hunter. Leman, Sefgeani First Class - 6, 23, 25-26, A1 D2

James, Roy Private First Class 23, D2
Jamison, Rockwel Sergeant D1, F15
Jennings, David.  First  L ieutenant -  28,  A1
Johnson Jjmmy, Second Lleutenant -  21,31 34-36.41
Jordan Wi l ie Specia ist Fourth Class - 22
. ludge, Chaf les,  Specia ist  Foufth Class -  i i ,40,  D1, E3-E4. F16. G6
Judge Paul  -  i i .  E3, J1

t2



K

Kannady, N,4ajor - 45 46

L

Lackey, Frank, Specialist Fourth Class - D2, G7
Laing, Charles, Private First Class - i i, J1
Lanier, Jerry. Specia ist Foufth Class - 45 46, D1, F17
Long, George, l\,4ajof '45-46 A.1
Lopez Rodriquez, Albefto, Specialist Foudh Class - 27-24. 47, D2, G7
|  

^r?a 
lvnn Pr i \ , - r6 Fir<t  n t<e n2

M

N4accarrig e, George - J 1
l\ lackey, Robert, Speclalist Fourth Class - D2 G7
McKee, N,4 lford Private Fifst Class D1, FlB
N,4cMi l l ion,  James. Speaia ist  Fourth Class -  6,  D2, G7
l\,4clvurray. Cofdine, Sergeant - D3, El E4-E5
l\,4ll ler, Joseph, Private First Class D1 F19
l\,4ontgomery, Owen, Sergeant - Dl, F20
l\,4oody, Edward, Private First Class - | 25-26. D2, J1
lv loo'e.  Dorald Caprar '3 17.21-22 32 3^ 

^0-41.  ̂a 
A1

lvloors Charles, Prlvate Flrst C ass - 27, 47-48, D2. G7
lvloran, John Private First Class - D2, G7

N

Newel l ,  Stanley Pr ivate Flrst  C ass D3, E1, EB-E10
Noe, Floyd, Pr lvate First  Class -  38,  D1, F3
Nootz,  Gayord,  Second Lieutenant-  17,21,25,33, A1, D1, E4, F21
Nuth,  Robert .  Second Lleutenant 34,44.44, A1

P

Parks,  Robeft ,  Pf ivate First  Class -  i i  6.  B-9,  11 12, 15, 18,22-23.25-27, D2, G5 G7,
J1

Perticone, Richard, Private Firci Class - D3, E1, E4-E8 E10
Pert tunen, Melvin Specia ist  Foufth Class -  31-32,D2,G7
Polizzi, Salvatore, Private First Class - D1, F22

t3



Rasser, Gary. First Lieutenant - i i , 23, 31 , 33-34, 39-40, 44, 4,1. D2, G2
Rushton. Br ian,  Captain -  25-26, 28, 38 39, 43, 41, D1 ,  F23
Ryder, General - 3

S

Schiele,  James, Specia ist  Foufth Class -  D3, F1-E3
Schnelder. George N4ajor - J1
Seales,  Tom. Second Lieutenant -  i l ,  5,  B,  17-1 B, 21-22, 34-35, 43, A1 ,  G4
Sebils, Specia ist Fourih Class 41
Sel ls,  Lud, Second Lieutenant 2 '1
Sexton, Troy, Private Fifst Class D 1, F24
Shaffer, John Sergeant First Class - 36
Sheldon, Rober l ,  Captain A1
Shelton, Freddie. Private First C ass - G7
Snif f in.  Chares,  Colonel  -  28
Stanley,  G efn,  Pr ivate First  Class -  i i ,  35,  39-40 C2, D2, E3
Strange, Rober i ,  Pr ivate First  Class -  D1, F25
Stroud, John, Pr ivate First  Class '  27-28,38. 47-48, D2
Sweska Private Firsl Class - 29
Sylvester Louls, Captain - Al

T

Thiel ,  Alan, Ser-geani  i ,  24,  D2, J2
Thomas, Donald,  Special ist  Foudh Class -  D3, G3, G7
Thompson, Byron Sergeant - 33, D2
Tindla.  Hr.n/  qt : f f  qF,^a:ni  

-  n?

Tompkins,  First  Sergeant -  17,  41, 43

Van Bendegom, James, Specia ist  Fourth C ass -  D3, E1-E3, J2

Waguespack, Gary, Private Fifst C ass - 39-40, D 1 , F26
Watson, Kevin, Private First Class - i] l ,31-38, J2
Whlte, Perry, Captain - A1
Wil iams, Edw n, First ieutenant - 5-6, I 41
WilLiams, Edward, Captaln - i i , 39-40, J2
Will iams, Floyd, Private First Class - 39, D1, F27
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Wil iams, N4oses, Sergeant 39, D1, F28
Will ianrs, Ronald, Private First CLass - D2
Witkowski, Joseph. Captain - ,A1
Wright,  Corey,  L ieutenant Colonel  -  i l ,  11 15, 21,28,32, A1, 83, J2
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